Syracuse University SURFACE

Dissertations - ALL

SURFACE

5-14-2017

Improving distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors through plasmon enhancement, entrapped cultivation and controlled motion

Bendy Estime Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/etd

Part of the Engineering Commons

Recommended Citation

Estime, Bendy, "Improving distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors through plasmon enhancement, entrapped cultivation and controlled motion" (2017). *Dissertations - ALL*. 740. https://surface.syr.edu/etd/740

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the SURFACE at SURFACE. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations - ALL by an authorized administrator of SURFACE. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Abstract

Microalgae represent a promising source of renewable biomass for the production of biofuels and valuable chemicals. However, the development of high throughput microalgal cultivation methods and energy efficient biomass harvesting technology is necessary to improve the economic viability of large scale microalgal biomass production.

The issue of poor distribution and absorption of light is one of the hurdle that can be addressed to improve the productivity in microalgal cultivation systems. As it happens, microalgal photosynthetic activities have shown great dependence on the irradiance to which the microalgal cells are exposed. Quantitatively, microalgal growth increases with increasing light intensity until a saturation level beyond which the microalgal photosynthetic machinery can be subject to photodamage. Qualitatively, most microalgal species have exhibited a propensity for wavelengths in the blue and red regions of the visible electromagnetic spectrum whereas other wavelengths can induce photoinhibition. Further, a change in the incident light can lead to photoacclimation where the microalgal species activate the preferential synthesis of certain compounds or completely alter their metabolic activity.

Despite such importance of light for microalgal growth and biomass production, only a small fraction of microalgal cells receives an optimal irradiance in current microalgal cultivation systems (open and enclosed ponds). The remaining microalgal cells are found either in the over illuminated zones (e.g. top surface of open culture) of the cultivation systems where they are exposed to photoinhibition or in the poorly illuminated zones where their growth is limited. In this dissertation, this issue is addressed by developing a multi-fold approach to improve the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors.

First, a plasmonic film light filter technology is developed. By virtue of enhancing the irradiation of blue and red lights using silver nanospheres and gold nanorods, this technology can enhance microalgal biomass production by up to 50% and increase photosynthetic pigments production by up to 78%. A short light path capable Tris-Acetate-Phosphate-Pluronic (TAPP) microalgal cultivation and harvesting system is also developed. Adding to the interesting light manipulation features, this energy efficient microalgal cultivation and harvesting system that exploits the thermoreversible sol-gel transition properties of the copolymer pluronic can increase the harvesting rate of microalgal biomass via gravimetric sedimentation by a factor of ten. Further, the adhesion properties of microalgal cells on the surface of photobioreactors are studied as a way to control the impacts of biofouling on light penetration and light absorption in microalgal cultivation systems. Furthermore, the rheological properties of microalga *C*. *reinhardtii* broths are studied and the interesting properties of such complex fluids are used as tools to control the periodical motion of microalgal cells from dark sections to well illuminated sections of typical photobioreactors for enhanced microalgal growth.

Improving distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors through plasmon enhancement, entrapped cultivation and controlled motion

By

Bendy Estime

B.S. State University of Haiti, Port-au-Prince, Haiti, 2010

M.S. Syracuse University, Syracuse, USA, 2013

DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

in Chemical Engineering

Syracuse University

May 2017

Copyright 2017 Bendy Estime

All rights reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to thank my dissertation advisor Professor Radhakrishna Sureshkumar, for his guidance and support as well as his patience to let me grow as a young researcher. I thank him for his brilliant insights that have greatly propelled my scientific curiosity over the past five years. I would like to also thank my co-advisor Professor Dacheng Ren for his guidance and for opening his lab facilities for us. I greatly appreciate the constructive suggestions from my committee members, Dr. Benjamin Akih-Kumgeh, Dr. Jesse Q Bond, Dr. Lawrence Tavlarides, Dr. Ian Dean Hosein, Dr. Dacheng Ren and Dr. Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. I thank them for their time and their valuable supports.

I sincerely appreciate the outstanding support from the SU-UEH exchange program coordinators: Professor Paula Johnson, Professor Linda Carty and Professor Jean Jonassaint who have been my mentors since in Haiti and during my six years at Syracuse University. I am deeply grateful for their dedication to the SU-UEH exchange program from its inception. I would like to also thank the Associate Dean of the Engineering School, Professor Can Isik, for his support of this program. Many thanks to all the administrators at Syracuse University, including former chancellor Nancy Cantor, who made the SU-UEH exchange program possible and supported its six-year existence.

My sincere appreciations to my present and past fellow group members, Dr. Tao Cong, Dr. Abhinanden Sambasivam, Dr. Yutian Yang, Dr. Jenny Amey, Dr. Subas Dhakal, Dr. Satvik Wani, Mardochee Reveil, Yating Liu, Kelechi Okafor and Meenakshi Chaudary for their support and company.

v

My deep appreciations to my SU-UEH fellows, Mc Cleve P. G. Joseph, Jean Michel Lacour, Alphonse Antenor, Christophia Jospitre, Ketler Plasimond, Obste Therasme, Leonard Jr Vernet, Wolf Peter Jean Philippe, Diona Antoine, Jackin Alix Bien-Aime, Stanley Moise and Patricia Exy.

Many thanks to all the members of the Adventist Christian Fellowship and the advisors Dr. Kofi Appiah Okyere, Jane Appiah Okyere and Patricia Birago for the spiritual support and friendship.

I would like to acknowledge the great support from the current and past staff of the Biomedical and Chemical Engineering department: Dawn Long, Sabina Redington, Kristin Lingo, Lynore De La Rosa, Barbara Walton, Jason Markle and Amelia Rae Forbes.

I would like to acknowledge financial supports through the SU-UEH exchange program, the Ronald E. McNair fellowship, the Nunan travel grant, the GSO travel grant and the BMCE departmental support.

DEDICATION

I dedicate this dissertation to my daughter to be born Briyendy Corrine, my wife Wondy-Neecodeliny and her family, my siblings Emerson, Tania, Roosevelt and Glaelle Francesca and to all my relatives and friends.

IN MEMORIAM

Franckel Estime, Dinah Estime, Marie Ynorese Aristide & Adina Jerome.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 MICROALGAE FOR SUSTAINABLE BIOREFINERY	2
1.2 PRODUCTION AND PROCESSING OF MICROALGAL BIOMASS	5
1.3 CHALLENGES WITH MICROALGAL BIOMASS PRODUCTION AND MICROALGA	L
BIOREFINING	9
1.4 EFFECTS OF LIGHT ON MICROALGAL BIOMASS PRODUCTION	15
1.5 MOTIVATION AND OBJECTIVES	17
1.5.1 Development of plasmonic light filters for enhanced microalgal growt composition	h and biomass 18
1.5.2 Development of a short light path energy efficient microalgal cultivati	on and
harvesting system	
1.5.3 Controlling light delivery through manipulation of cells attachment or	<i>i</i> the surface of
photobioreactors	
1.5.4 Rheological characterization and flow manipulation to improve light	absorption in
<i>microalgal photobloreactors</i>	
1.0 REFERENCES	20
CHAPTER 2 DEVELOPMENT OF PLASMONIC LIGHT FILTERS FOR	ENHANCED
MICROALGAL GROWTH AND BIOMASS COMPOSITION	
2.1 INTRODUCTION	
2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	35
2.2.1 Synthesis of silver nanospheres	
2.2.2 Synthesis of gold nanorods	
2.2.3 Preparation of plasmonic films consisting of silver nanoparticles	
2.2.4 Preparation of plasmonic films containing gold nanorods	
2.2.5 Microalgal strain and culture conditions	
2.2.6 Lipid analyses	
2.2.7 Carbohydrate determination	
2.2.8 Microalgal pigment determination	
2.2.9 Statistical analyses	
2.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	44
2.3.1 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on mic	croalgal
biomass production	
2.3.2 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on lipit	d production 46
2.3.3 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on car	bohydrate
production	

2.3.4 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalga	l
pigment accumulation	
2.3.5 Effects of plasmonic film filters with different backscattering wavelengths on	
microalgal growth and biomass composition	53
2.4 Conclusions	57
2.5 References	60
CHAPTER 3 DEVELOPMENT OF A SHORT LIGHT PATH ENERGY EFFICI MICROALGAL CULTIVATION AND HARVESTING SYSTEM USING THERMOREVERSIBLE SOL-GEL TRANSITION	ENT 65
3.1 INTRODUCTION	68
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	72
3.2.1 TAPP medium preparation and culture conditions	72
3.2.2 Rheometry	73
3.2.3 Characterization of microalgal biomass production and harvesting	73
3.2.4 Statistical analyses	76
3.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	77
3.3.1 Rheological characterization of the TAPP medium	77
3.3.2 Microalgal biomass production in the TAPP medium	
3.3.3 Influence of microalgal proliferation on the thermorheological behavior of the	e TAPP
medium	
3.3.4 Harvesting and recultivation of microalgae using thermoreversible sol-gel	
transition	
3.4 CONCLUSIONS	90
3.5 REFERENCES	92
CHAPTER 4 CONTROLLING LIGHT DELIVERY THROUGH MANIPULATIC MICROALGAL CELLS ATTACHMENT ON THE SURFACE OF PHOTOBIOREACTORS	ON OF 97
4.1 INTRODUCTION	99
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
4.2.1 Microalgal strains and culture conditions	
4.2.2 Preparation of PDMS surfaces with microtopographic features	
4.2.3 Microalgal adhesion analysis	
4.3 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
4.3.1 Effects of valley width on microalgal adhesion density on valleys of patterns	
4.3.2 Effects of protruding square size on microalgal adhesion on the top surface of	of the
protruding squares	111
4.3.3 Construction of an adhesion enhancement factor chart	113
4.4 CONCLUSIONS	116
4.5 References	117

CHAPTER 5 RHEOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION AND FLOW	
MANIPULATION TO IMPROVE LIGHT ABSORPTION IN MICROALGAL PHOTOBIOREACTORS	121
5.1. INTRODUCTION	
5.2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	
5.2.1. Microalgal culture and sample preparation	126
5.2.2. Rheometry and data analysis	127
5.3. Results and discussion	129
5.3.1. Rheological characterization of microalgal slurries	129
5.3.2. Application of the rheological properties for flow manipulation and light al	osorption
optimization in photobioreactors	
5.4. Conclusions	137
5.5. References	138
CHAPTER 6 SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK	K142
6.1 DEVELOPMENT OF PLASMONIC FILM LIGHT FILTERS FOR ENHANCED MICROALGA	L
GROWTH AND BIOMASS COMPOSITION	143
6.2 DEVELOPMENT OF A SHORT LIGHT PATH ENERGY EFFICIENT MICROALGAL CULTI	VATION
AND HARVESTING SYSTEM	144
6.3 CONTROLLING LIGHT DELIVERY THROUGH MANIPULATION OF CELLS ATTACHME	NT ON
THE SURFACE OF PHOTOBIOREACTORS	145
6.4 RHEOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION AND FLOW MANIPULATION TO IMPROVE LIG	HT
ABSORPTION IN MICROALGAL PHOTOBIOREACTORS	147
6.5 RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK	147
6.6 References	151
APPENDICES	
APPENDIX I PROTOCOL FOR TAP MEDIUM PREPARATION	154
APPENDIX II PROTOCOL FOR PREPARATION OF PLASMONIC FILM FILTERS	157
APPENDIX III RHEOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF MICROALGA C. REINHARDTII	
SUSPENSIONS	159
CURRICULUM VITAE	

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 4.1. Adhesion properties of microalga C. reinhardtii. Microalgal adhesion enhancement

 factor of patterns with different combination of valley widths and protruding square sizes.

Table 5.1. Rheological characterization of microalgal broths. Power law fitting parameters

for microalgal broths at different biomass concentrations.

LIST OF FIGURES

- Figure 1.1: Illustration of microalgal biorefining potential. Varieties of biofuels and specialty chemicals can be obtained from microalgae, using mainly carbon dioxide from flue gas and wastewater as feedstocks.
- Figure 1.2: Illustration of microalgal biorefining processes. Microalgae are first cultured in open or enclosed systems. Then, the microalgal biomass is harvested. This is often followed by the extraction of the valuable compounds and further chemical processing to obtain the target specialty chemicals.
- Figure 1.3: Illustration of current challenges in microalgal biomass production and biomass processing. The most critical issues include the low productivity and the high energy consumption in each step.
- **Figure 2.1: Plasmonic film consisting of silver nanospheres.** Photograph of a plasmonic film after being peeled off from petri-dish (A) and absorbance spectrum of the plasmonic film consisting of spherical silver nanoparticles (B).
- **Figure 2.2: Plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods.** Photograph of a plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods after being peeled off from petri-dish (A) and absorbance spectrum of the plasmonic film (B).
- **Figure 2.3: Plasmonic film consisting of silver nanospheres and gold nanorods.** Photograph of a plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres after being peeled off from petri-dish (A) and absorbance spectrum of the plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres (B).

- **Figure 2.4: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal biomass production.** Optical density at 675 nm (OD₆₇₅) at different culture times (A) and microalgal biomass production after ten days of cultivation period (B). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
- **Figure 2.5: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal lipid production.** Total lipid concentration (mg/l) (A), lipid in dry algal biomass (B) and fatty acid methyl esters distribution (C). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
- **Figure 2.6: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal carbohydrate production**. Carbohydrate concentration (g/l) (A) and weight percent of carbohydrate in dry microalgal biomass (B). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
- Figure 2.7: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal photosynthetic pigment accumulation. Pigment concentration (mg/l) (A) and pigment content in microalgal biomass (mg/g) (B). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
- Figure 2.8: Effects of plasmonic films consisting of gold nanorods on microalgal growth and biomass composition. Microalgal growth curve (A), pigment concentration (g/l) (B) and pigment contents in dry microalgal biomass (mg/g) (C). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
- Figure 2.9: Effects of plasmonic films consisting of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres on microalgal growth and biomass composition. Microalgal growth curve (A), pigment

concentration (g/l) (B) and pigment contents in dry microalgal biomass (mg/g) (C). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

Figure 3.1: Schematic of microalgal cultivation and harvesting process using

thermoreversible sol-gel transition. Microalgal cells are seeded in the TAPP medium in solution phase at 15°C. Then, the temperature is raised at 22°C for gelation of the medium and entrapped microalgal cultivation. After the cultivation period, the temperature is decreased to 15°C allowing microalgal clusters to gravimetrically settle at the bottom. The temperature is finally raised to 25°C and settled microalgal clusters are scraped off the TAPP surface.

- Figure 3.2: Thermorheological properties of the TAPP medium. (a) Storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature, (b) viscosity profile of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature, (c) storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature and (d) viscosity profile of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature.
- Figure 3.3: Microalgal biomass production in the TAPP medium. (a) Microalgal biomass generation (g 1⁻¹), (b) weight percentage of lipid and carbohydrate in microalgal biomass and (c) average diameter of microalgal cells growing in the well-mixed TAP control, the 18% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 22% TAPP. Bars represent means of 30 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
- Figure 3.4: Effects of microalgal proliferation on the thermorheological behavior of the TAPP medium. (a) Storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 22% pluronic

in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature, (**b**) viscosity profile of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature, (**c**) storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature, (**d**) viscosity profile of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature.

- Figure 3.5: Characterization of microalgal settling. (a) Percentage of microalgal biomass recovery through settling determined through results from optical density measurements at regular intervals. Data points represent means of 30 measurements and error bars are one S.D. (b) Image of microalgal cells in the well-mixed TAP medium and (c) image of microalgal cell clusters in the TAPP medium. Scale bars are 50 μm.
- Figure 4.1: Image of microalgae attached on patterned surfaces. (A) Adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μm length and 2 μm valley width, (B) adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μm length and 5 μm valley width, (C) adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μm length and 20 μm valley width and (D) adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μm length and 30 μm valley width.
- Figure 4.2: Preferential adhesion on valleys of patterned surfaces. (A) Protruding squares of 15 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm, 15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, (B) Protruding squares of 30 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm, 15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, (C) Protruding squares of 50 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm, 15 μm, 20 μm, 30

xv

 μ m, 40 μ m, 50 μ m and 100 μ m, (D) Protruding squares of 100 μ m length with valley distances of 2 μ m, 5 μ m, 10 μ m, 15 μ m, 20 μ m, 30 μ m, 40 μ m, 50 μ m and 100 μ m. Bars represent the average of 15 measurements and errors are one S.D.

- **Figure 4.3: Average adhesion density over the valleys of patterns based on the valley width**. Bars represent the average of 15 measurements for adhesion in the valleys at each valley distance (2 μm, 5 μm 10 μm, 15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm) and for a smooth surface. Errors bars are one S.D.
- **Figure 4.4: Average adhesion density over the top surface of protruding squares.** Bars represent the average of 15 measurements for adhesion on the top surface of protruding squares at each protruding square length (5 μm 10 μm, 15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm) and for a smooth surface. Errors bars are one S.D.
- Figure 5.1: Rheological characterization of microalgal broths. Viscosity profiles of microalgal suspensions as a function of shear rate at low biomass concentrations (A) and at high biomass concentrations (B).
- Figure 5.2: Application of the rheological properties of microalgal broths for flow manipulation. Light-darkness cycle time *tc* determined at different biomass concentrations using the flow properties (A) and the power consumption with an axial velocity of 0.5 m. s⁻¹ at different microalgal concentrations (B).

Chapter I

Introduction

1.1 Microalgae for sustainable biorefinery

The use of renewable energy has been reported since before the Christian Era with the use of vertical axis windmills to grind grain in Persia or the use of wind energy propelled boats in ancient Egypt ¹. However, the adverse impacts of fossil fuels energy on the environment and on human health and the raising awareness for global warming have specifically impelled the development of clean and renewable energy production systems over the past decades ^{2,3}. The list of alternative energy systems to replace fossil fuels is long and includes solar photovoltaics, wind energy, hydroelectricity, tidal energy, biofuels etc. ⁴ Nonetheless each of these alternatives fails to meet the increasing energy demands and some suggest that significantly reducing fossil fuels consumption will require the combination of different of the listed sustainable energy alternatives ⁵.

In search of alternatives to fossil fuels, interests have risen for microalgal biomass. Microalgae comprise of the wide range of microorganisms including cyanobacteria that contain chlorophyll a and a thallus not differentiated into roots, stem and leaves ⁶. Like crude petroleum, microalgal biomass has the potential to generate not only different kinds of fuels but also a wide range of commodity products. Hence the expression microalgal biorefinery to reference this similarity between the traditional petroleum based refinery ⁷. Through thermal and biochemical conversions, microalgal feedstocks have been processed to generate biodiesel, bioethanol, biohydrogen and other types of biofuels ⁸. There has also been a great interest to exploit microalgae as feedstock for the production of expensive and highly valuable pharmaceutical ingredients. For instance, chlorophyll and carotenoid pigments from microalgae have found several applications in food and pharmaceutical industries as food additives, cosmetic agents and antioxidants for medical purposes ^{9,10}. In addition, most microalgal species are rich in proteins

and therefore have great nutraceutical potential ¹¹. Algal extract rich in proteins, carbohydrates and free amino-acids have also been characterized as a suitable replacement for yeast extract used to feed microorganisms ¹².

Adding to the large range of products that can be obtained from microalgae, other attributes motivate the investment in microalgal biomass production. Contrary to other biofuels feedstocks such as corn or sugarcane, microalgae do not require as much human labors to grow and can adapt to harsh environmental conditions ¹³. Moreover, microalgal biomass has a far higher lipid content and use much less land than the competing feedstocks ¹⁴. More interestingly, microalgal biomass production does not have high raw materials demands. Sometimes the nutrients demand is simplified to only flue gas feed and wastewater ¹⁵. Technologies that simultaneously offer effective wastewater treatment and significant microalgal biomass generation have known great advances over the last decade ¹⁶. The use of flue gas as carbon source for microalgal biomass production has also been proven to be a valuable option ¹⁷. All this means that cultivation of microalgae can serve a dual purpose: environmental remediation and valuable biomass production. Therefore, the development of microalgal biomass production technology is of great interest.



Figure 1.3: Illustration of microalgal biorefining potential. Varieties of biofuels and specialty chemicals can be obtained from microalgae, using mainly carbon dioxide from flue gas and wastewater as raw materials.

1.2 Production and processing of microalgal biomass

Despite all the benefits mentioned above, commercial utilization of microalgae for the listed purposes is still hardly financially feasible ^{18,19}. There is indeed a great need to improve the productivity in microalgal cultivation systems in order to make large scale biomass production a viable enterprise. Before discussing the current challenges with the production and processing of microalgal biomass, it is necessary to elucidate the processes involved in a typical microalgal biorefinery.

In nature, microalgal growth relies mainly on the conversion of the solar energy into chemical energy through photosynthesis. Chemically speaking, photosynthesis can be described as a light energy driven reaction where carbohydrates and oxygen are produced using carbon dioxide and water (Equation 1) ⁶. Suitable light, carbon dioxide and water are the principal requirement for microalgal photosynthetic activity although other micronutrients will deem necessary for effective microalgal growth and proliferation. Therefore, any attempt to use microalgae as feedstocks for biofuels or specialty chemicals production first requires the ability to satisfy these primary conditions for effective microalgal biomass generation.

$$6CO_2 + 6H_2O \xrightarrow{light} C_6H_{12}O_6 + 6O_2 \tag{1}$$

Human-made structures for microalgal biomass production are often classified into open pond cultivation systems and closed ponds cultivation systems often referred to as photobioreactors ²⁰. In the handbook of microalgal culture by Richmond, photobioreactors are defined as "culture systems for phototrophs in which a great portion of the light does not impinge directly on the culture surface, but has to pass through the transparent reactor's walls to reach the cultivated cells" ⁶. Photobioreactors are often classified based on their shape, their constituting materials or their mode of operation. The design or adoption of a specific microalgal cultivation system is often motivated by the ability to maximize light-energy conversion, enhance nutrient availability or to optimize the environmental conditions to ensure high productivity in a costeffective manner.

After generating the necessary microalgal biomass, several downstream processing steps are necessary to obtain, at a certain level of purity, the fine chemicals (lipids, proteins etc.) needed ²¹. Usually, the microalgal biomass is first separated from the culture medium through a harvesting process. Common harvesting techniques include centrifugation, sedimentation, filtration, flocculation etc. These harvesting techniques are also divided into subcategories based on their specificity ²². In most cases, the harvested microalgal biomass still contains a consistent water concentration that additional dewatering and drying are required to avoid spoiling and denaturation. Microalgal biomass drying techniques comprise mainly of sun-drying, spray-drying, drum-drying, freeze-drying, etc. ²³

Further, due to the nature of the cell wall of most microalgal strains, the disruption of the cell wall is usually necessary prior the extraction of the targeted compounds. Current cell wall disruption methods include ultra-sonication, bead-milling, homogenization, osmotic stress, freezing etc. ²⁴ The specific extraction of the compound will then require redulition of the biomass and often the use of several organic solvents to follow the standards bioseparation procedures. The last step of obtaining the lipids or proteins needed often consists of another extraction method that may involve chromatography, adsorption, ultrafiltration electrophoresis and many others ²⁵.

These steps described above illustrate the general path to obtain useful chemicals through microalgal biomass production and biorefining (figure 1.2). However, some of these steps may be omitted or combined due to emerging technologies or due to the intended application for the biomass. For instance, production of bio-oil through thermochemical conversion of microalgal biomass does not require cell wall disruption or solvent extraction. On the other hand, the obtention of certain other useful compounds from the microalgal biomass usually requires other additional steps such as chemical reactions. For example, fatty acids methyl esters constituting biodiesel are obtained through transesterification of microalgal lipids. Transesterification is the reaction where a short alcohol (methanol) chain is used to cleave the glycerol group off a triglyceride (lipid) molecule resulting in three molecules of fatty acid methyl esters and one molecule of glycerol (equation 2) ²⁶. Adding to the transesterification reaction, other steps to purify the biodiesel are also needed.

$$Triglyceride + 3R'OH \leftrightarrow 3R'COOR + Glyrecol$$
(2)

In summary, the production and processing of microalgal biomass involve a lot of steps and procedures and the optimization of microalgal biomass production requires thorough consideration and significant improvement of each step.



Figure 1.4: Illustration of microalgal biorefining processes. Microalgae are first cultured in open or enclosed systems. Then, the microalgal biomass is harvested. This is often followed by the extraction of the valuable compounds and further chemical processing to obtain the target specialty chemicals.

1.3 Challenges with microalgal biomass production and microalgal biorefining

The previous section should give an idea about the unit operations that would be needed for large scale microalgal biomass production and microalgal biorefining. In this section, some of the technical issues that hinder cost effective microalgal biomass production and microalgal biorefining at different level and the recent technology improvement are briefly discussed (figure 1.3).

First and foremost, in order to produce microalgal biofuels at a reasonable price compared to the cost of petroleum fuels, there is a need to maximize the productivity in microalgal biomass production systems. To address this issue, two simultaneous approaches have been explored: the identification or engineering of microalgal strains with high growth rate and high lipid content and the optimization of the bioprocess parameters.

Concerning the first approach, there has been active research to identify microalgal species that possess the potential for high throughput and cost effective production of lipids for biofuels or the production of a different compound for other applications. Further, extensive research has been carried out to improve the ability to manipulate the biochemical factory of microalgae through genetic engineering, transcription factor engineering and biochemical engineering ^{7,27}. Genetic engineering approaches aim mainly at understanding the metabolic pathways of specific compounds (e.g. lipid) for channeling of metabolites to biosynthesis by overexpressing key enzymes in recombinant microalgal strains. Transcription factor engineering targets the enhancement of production of a particular metabolite by means of overexpressing the transcription factors regulating the metabolic pathways involved in the accumulation of the target metabolites. Biochemical engineering strategies involve investigating physiological conditions

such as high salinity and nutrient deprivation stresses to induce accumulation of carbohydrate, lipid or other valuable compounds ⁷.

As for the optimization of the bioprocess parameters, there is a long list of parameters that need further improvement for an effective control of microalgal cultivation conditions and a significant reduction of the associating capital and production costs ¹⁸. An entire section of this chapter will be devoted to discuss the critical problem of light distribution. Adding to this one, there is a wide range of problems including temperature fluctuations, control of PH and medium composition, carbon dioxide dissolution and distribution, limiting mass transfer and effective mixing that are deemed worthy of exploration.

Although successful microalgal cultivation has been reported as feasible over a wide temperature range (5-35°C), the cultivation temperature is not without effects on the microalgal growth and the biochemical composition ²⁸. A number of studies have focused on the effects of temperature on microalgal growth rates and the production of lipids, carbohydrates, proteins and photosynthetic pigments ^{29,30}. However, maintaining an optimal and uniform temperature has been a design challenge, more severe for outdoor culture exposed to solar radiation and ambient conditions ³¹.

The medium composition and the PH affect the biomass productivity in many ways. This is mainly due to the fact that the metabolic pathways of photosynthetic microorganisms depend not only on light and carbon but also on trace quantities of various of inorganic elements ³². For instance, iron and copper are known to serve as catalysts for many metabolic pathways. While the deficiencies in these elements paralyze or cause alteration of certain metabolic activities, an excess in the concentration of these trace elements can lead to growth medium contamination ³³.

Moreover, nitrogen limitation in microalgal culture has been seen to enhance lipid accumulation and decrease growth and the reverse effects have been seen when the conditions are reversed ³⁴. Further, phosphorus limitation is known to increase oxygen production in microalgal culture. The presence of oxygen can lead to the worst impacts on microalgal culture by oxidizing several nutrients and enzymes forming oxygenic byproducts that suppress microalgal growth ^{35,36}. The biggest obstacle is that there are some poorly understood but verified interconnections and/or diverging effects between the concentrations of these elements (Nitrogen, phosphorus, etc.) in microalgal culture. Any imbalance affects the PH which in turn affects the composition of the medium and the metabolic activities. Therefore, finding and maintaining the appropriate concentration of nutrients is a hurdle for commercial microalgal cultivation that necessitates thorough research.

Another difficulty encountered in large scale microalgal cultivation is the need to maintain a sufficient and uniform carbon distribution throughout the cultivation system. The low solubility of carbon dioxide in water makes continuous pumping of carbon dioxide inevitable in most microalgal cultivation systems. This increases significantly the operating cost for microalgal biomass production ³⁷. Moreover, although inorganic carbon is necessary for microalgal photosynthesis, a high concentration of inorganic carbon can alter the metabolic pathways or lead to contamination of the culture medium due to change in PH ^{38,39}. For these reasons, a lot of studies have focused on predicting and optimizing the temporal and spatial inorganic carbon profiles in microalgal culture ⁴⁰.

A deep understanding of nutritional requirements for microalgal growth will facilitate the preparation and implementation of appropriate growth medium, light and temperature conditions for optimal growth of different microalgal species. However, in order to ensure a homogenous

distribution of nutrients and to eliminate or mitigate the effects of temperature and light gradients, proper mixing is required. The importance of mixing in microalgal culture has been largely documented with a variety of experimental results. Low and inadequate mixing has shown to lead to a decrease in the mass transfer rate of necessary nutrients ⁴¹. On the other hand, excessive mixing rate has proven to cause shear-induced damage of microalgal cells ^{42,43}. There are currently different commercially available systems for mixing of microalgal culture ⁴⁴. Nonetheless, due to the time dependent complex fluids nature of microalgal culture, thorough studies on the flow properties are still necessary ⁴⁵.

Beside the challenges with microalgal cultivation, the harvesting of microalgal biomass has also been a hurdle that greatly impacts the commercial production of microalgal biomass. The nature of the problems varies depending on the harvesting method in use and a brief summary of the major ones are presented in the next paragraphs.

Sedimentation is one of the simplest and less expensive microalgal harvesting technique where the suspended microalgae are separated from the growth medium through gravitational settling. One of the drawback of harvesting through sedimentation is the land area requirement for the settling ponds ⁴⁶. The biggest impracticality is the fact that the settling process, depending on the microalgal cell size and density, can be extremely slow and merely feasible ⁴⁷.

Filtration is another microalgal harvesting method using semi-permeable filters to allow the selective passage of water and nutrients and the retention of microalgal cells. There are currently a lot of filtration technologies using dead-end filtration, tangential flow filtration, rotary vacuum etc. ⁴⁸ The most reported issues with filtration are the low efficiency with small microalgal cells and the high rate of fouling and clogging ^{48,49,50}.

Harvesting by flocculation entails the addition of polymers in the microalgal broth to aggregate the cells into readily settled clusters. This technique has been extensively investigated with the use of different flocculating agents acting either on the PH of the medium, the cell wall surface charges, the bridging mechanism etc. ^{51,52} The major drawbacks of this useful technique are the fact that efficacy can vary significantly based on the characteristics of the broth or the microorganisms and also the concerns for toxicity from the chemicals use as flocculants ⁵³.

Centrifugation is a well-known harvesting method where the settling rate of microalgal cells is drastically increased due to enhanced gravitational force. Although harvesting through centrifugation can be rapid and efficient, this process is highly energy intensive and increase the capital and processing costs of microalgal biomass production. Moreover, the high gravitational force sometimes entrains some valuable materials and causes shear-induced damages to microalgal cells ⁵³.

There are other emerging methods being tested for microalgal harvesting. There are also many other issues related to microalgal cultivation and harvesting. Not to mention the challenges with microalgal cell wall disruption and the extraction processes and chemical reactions necessary to obtain the commodity products. This section, far from presenting an extensive list of the challenges related to microalgal biomass production and processing, serves as a useful foundation for the flow of ideas throughout this dissertation.



Figure 1.3: Illustration of current challenges in microalgal biomass production and

biomass processing. The most critical issues include the low productivity and the high energy consumption in each step.

1.4 Effects of light on microalgal biomass production

Light is a crucial parameter for phototrophic production of microalgae. The impacts of light on microalgal photosynthetic activity depend both on the quantity and the quality of the irradiance. Quantitatively, the intensity of light has been classified into three regimes of irradiance to categorize the effects on microalgal biomass production: light limitation, light saturation and light inhibition. Within the light limitation range, microalgal growth rate increases with increase in light intensity, even though the extent of the effect of changes in the light intensity varies from species to species ⁵⁴. At saturating light intensities, the rate of photon capture exceeds the rate of linear photosynthetic electron transfer. As a consequence, a large fraction of the captured light energy is dissipated as heat or fluorescence b non-photochemical quenching. These dissipative energy losses result to inefficiency in the conversion of light into chemical energy through photosynthesis ⁵⁵. Lastly, very high irradiances in the light inhibition

The quality of light is also important to microalgal growth because microalgal photosynthetic activity is often wavelength specific. For example, cyanobacteria have been known to exhibit a large propensity for light in the blue and the red regions of the electromagnetic spectrum whereas other wavelengths of the electromagnetic spectrum have been reported for increasing the risk for photoinhibition ⁵⁷.

The quantity and quality of irradiance do not only impact the microalgal growth but also the composition of the resulting biomass. In fact, two expressions are often used to refer to the effects of irradiance on microalgal biomass production: Photoacclimation and chromatic acclimation. The former, more general, refers to phenotypical changes that occur in response to

changes in both the intensity and quality of light. The latter, more specific, are often used to refer to preferential synthesis of light-harvesting pigments or changes within the photosystems to accommodate to changes in incident light quality (wavelength) ⁵⁸.

It has been reported that photoacclimation can affect the synthesis of major chemicals that are useful for microalgal biorefinery. For instance, the work by Napolitano confirmed that triglyceride production can be increased through light enhancement ⁵⁹. Further, in many cases, light enhancement has resulted in alteration of fatty acid synthesis by inducing the production of mono-unsaturated fatty acids and concomitantly disfavoring the formation of poly-unsaturated fatty acids ⁶⁰. It has been also proven that the generation of the precursors for the synthesis of carbohydrates like glucose and starch can be stimulated by irradiance. Nonetheless, research is being undertaken with the goal of understanding the photochemical mechanisms that explain the correlation between the irradiance and the accumulation of carbohydrates. Lastly, syntheses of photoactive pigments such as chlorophylls and carotenoids have shown great dependence on the irradiance. Many reported experiments have proven that production of such pigments can be easily increased or decreased through manipulation of the quality and/or the intensity of the incident light ⁷.

Although the quantity and the quality of light have such importance in microalgal biomass production, light management in microalgal cultivation systems has been a challenge for large scale biomass production. As it happens, only a small fraction of microalgal cells receives an optimal irradiance in current microalgal cultivation systems (open and enclosed ponds). The remaining microalgal cells are found either in the over illuminated zones (e.g. at top surface of open culture) where they are exposed to photo-inhibition or in the poorly illuminated zones where their growth is limited. The recent review by Ooms *et. al.* describes some recent emerging

engineering strategies to optimize the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal cultivation systems ⁶¹. These include the screening of suitable locations with weather patterns and sunlight favorable for the installations and operations of photobioreactors. Some other efforts focus on the development of artificial light systems to meet the irradiance requirements of microalgal culture such as LED lightening and flashing light systems. Recently, a few studies have confirmed successful conversion of undesired incident photosynthetic wavelengths to more benign and desired wavelengths for microalgal photosynthetic activities. Lastly, the emerging field of plasmon enhancement of light along with other new ideas including the development of short light path systems and controlled motion strategy will be discussed throughout this dissertation to help address the issue of poor distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors.

1.5 Motivation and objectives

The issue of poor distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors can only be addressed by taking into account the other challenges pertinent to the cultivation and harvesting of microalgae. This is important because any strategy to improve the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal culture should be assessed in terms of the beneficial impacts on microalgal biomass production but also on how it affects other crucial parameters inherent to large scale microalgal biorefining as well as how it affects the production cost. With this challenge in mind, a multi-fold approach to improve the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors is presented in this dissertation. This consists of exploiting the plasmonic properties of metallic nanoparticles for light enhancement, using surface micropatterning to better control the impacts of biofilm and biofouling on light delivery, developing short light path cultivation systems for efficient light absorption and using flow

manipulation to control the exposure of microalgal cells to ideal light zones and to create an optimal light/darkness balance.

1.5.1 Development of plasmonic light filters for enhanced microalgal growth and biomass composition

Plasmon resonance is an optical phenomenon arising from the collective oscillation of conduction band electrons in a metal under the irradiation of light ⁶². This phenomenon occurs in the visible region of the electromagnetic spectrum for nanoparticles made of noble metals like gold, copper and silver. Its applications to bio-detection, optical sensing and solar photovoltaics have shown great potential ⁵⁷. The wavelength specificity of the microalgal photosynthetic activity motivated the use of plasmonic nanoparticles to enhance the irradiation of blue and red lights desired by photoactive pigments and to minimize the irradiation at other wavelengths that may cause photoinhibition in microalgal culture. In chapter two of this dissertation, we present our efforts and the major results on developing a plasmonic film technology to be used as light filter in microalgal photobioreactors and investigating the impacts of such plasmon enhancement on microalgal growth and biomass composition ⁶³.

1.5.2 Development of a short light path energy efficient microalgal cultivation and harvesting system

Short light path microalgal cultivation systems are largely advantageous compared to traditional cultivation of microalgae in relatively deep open ponds. This is because it allows a more efficient control of light delivery, mitigates the effects of shading and also because it can minimize the need for constant energy intensive mixing. In chapter 3, we present a new short light path energy efficient microalgal cultivation and harvesting system. This system with

thermoreversible sol-gel transition properties exhibits some interesting microalgal cultivation and harvesting capabilities that are also discussed in the same chapter ⁶⁴.

1.5.3 Controlling light delivery through manipulation of cells attachment on the surface of photobioreactors

Microalgal cells adhesion to surface along with biofilm formation should be seen at two angles in the context of microalgal cultivation. In suspended culture, microalgal cells adhesion to surface would hinder light penetration inside the photobioreactor and therefore would affect growth. On the other hand, biofilm cultivation of microalgae (attached culture) would be advantageous for shortening considerably the light path and also minimizing the energy requirement for harvesting. The ability to manipulate microalgal cells attachment was thus one of our goals. In chapter 4, we discuss the manipulation of microalgal adhesion through surface micropatterning in light of our experimental results.

1.5.4 Rheological characterization and flow manipulation to improve light absorption in microalgal photobioreactors

Efficient flow control within microalgal cultivation systems can be very useful to address the issue of non-homogenous growth due to unbalanced light exposure while optimizing the energy requirement for mixing. Moreover, the ability to create an optimal light/darkness balance can greatly improve microalgal biomass production ^{65,66}. Doing all this requires a deep understanding of the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal suspensions, complex fluids still poorly studied. In chapter 5, we present our results and discuss this strategy involving the characterization of the rheological properties of such microalgal systems and the use of these properties as building blocks to control the shuttle motion of microalgal cells between the poor and highly illuminated sections of typical photobioreactors.
1.6 References

- 1. Sorensen, B. History of, and recent progress in, wind-energy utilization. *Annual review of energy and the environment*, *1995*. 20(1), *387-424*.
- 2. Steinberg, M. Fossil fuel decarbonization technology for mitigating global warming. *International Journal of Hydrogen Energy*, *1999.* 24(8), 771-777.
- Meinshausen, M., *et. al.* Greenhouse-gas emission targets for limiting global warming to 2 C. *Nature*, 2009. 458(7242), 1158-1162.
- Pimentel, D., & Patzek, T. W. Biofuels, solar and wind as renewable energy systems. 2008. Benefits and risks. New York: Springer.
- 5. MacKay, D. Sustainable Energy-without the hot air. 2008. UIT Cambridge.
- Richmond, A. (Ed.). Handbook of microalgal culture: biotechnology and applied phycology. 2008. John Wiley & Sons.
- Markou, G., Nerantzis, E., Microalgae for high-value compounds and biofuels production: A review with focus on cultivation under stress conditions. *Biotechnology Advances*, 2013. 31, 1532-1542.
- Demirbas, A. Use of algae as biofuel sources. *Energy Conversion Management*, 2010. 51, 2738–2749.
- Eroglu, E., Eggers, P.K., Winslade, M., Smith, S.M., Rasto, C.L. Enhanced accumulation of microalgal pigments using metal nanoparticle solutions as light filtering devices. *Green Chem*istry, 2013. 15, 3155–3159.
- Gordon, H. T., Bauernfeind, J. C., Furia, T. E. Carotenoids as food colorants. *CRC Critical Review in Food Science*. 1982.18, 59–97.

- Becker, E. W., Microalgae as a source of protein. *Biotechnology advances*, 2007. 25(2), 207-210.
- Kightlinger, W., Chen, K., Pourmir, A., Crunkleton, D.W., Price, G.L., Johannes, T.W. Production and characterization of algae extract from Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*, 2014. 17, 14-18.
- Ahmad, A. L., Yasin, N. M., Derek, C. J. C., & Lim, J. K. Microalgae as a sustainable energy source for biodiesel production: a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 2011. 15(1), 584-593.
- 14. Mata, T. M., Martins, A. A., & Caetano, N. S. Microalgae for biodiesel production and other applications: a review. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, 2010. 14(1), 217-232.
- 15. Lam, M. K., & Lee, K. T. Microalgae biofuels: a critical review of issues, problems and the way forward. *Biotechnology advances*, 2012. 30(3), 673-690.
- 16. Pittman, J. K., Dean, A. P., & Osundeko, O. The potential of sustainable algal biofuel production using wastewater resources. *Bioresource technology*, 2011. 102(1), 17-25.
- 17. Kao, C. Y., *et. al.* Utilization of carbon dioxide in industrial flue gases for the cultivation of microalga Chlorella sp. *Bioresource technology*, 2014. 166, 485-493.
- Ho, S. H., Ye, X., Hasunuma, T., Chang, J. S. & Kondo, A. Perspectives on engineering strategies for improving biofuel production from microalgae–A critical review. *Biotechnol. Adv.*, 2014. 32, 1448-1459.
- Amaro, H. M., Guedes, A. C., & Malcata, F. X. Advances and perspectives in using microalgae to produce biodiesel. *Appl. Energ.* 2011. 88(10), 3402-3410.
- Ugwu, C. U., Aoyagi, H., & Uchiyama, H. Photobioreactors for mass cultivation of algae. *Bioresource technology*, 2008. 99(10), 4021-4028.

- 21. Barros, A. I., Gonçalves, A. L., Simões, M., & Pires, J. C. Harvesting techniques applied to microalgae: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 2015. 41, 1489-1500.
- 22. Sharma, K. K., Garg, S., Li, Y., Malekizadeh, A., & Schenk, P. M. Critical analysis of current microalgae dewatering techniques. *Biofuels*, 2013. 4(4), 397-407.
- Guldhe, A., Singh, B., Rawat, I., Ramluckan, K., & Bux, F. Efficacy of drying and cell disruption techniques on lipid recovery from microalgae for biodiesel production. *Fuel*, 2014. 128, 46-52.
- 24. Chen, C. Y., Yeh, K. L., Aisyah, R., Lee, D. J., & Chang, J. S. Cultivation, photobioreactor design and harvesting of microalgae for biodiesel production: a critical review. *Bioresource Technology*, 2011. 102(1), 71-81.
- 25. Halim, R., Danquah, M. K., & Webley, P. A. Extraction of oil from microalgae for biodiesel production: A review. *Biotechnology advances*, 2012. 30(3), 709-732.
- 26. Liu, J., Chu, Y., Cao, X., Zhao, Y., Xie, H., & Xue, S. Rapid transesterification of microamount of lipids from microalgae via a micro-mixer reactor. *Biotechnology for biofuels*, 2015. 8(1), 1.
- 27. Xu, B., Li, P., Waller, P., & Huesemann, M. Evaluation of flow mixing in an ARID-HV algal raceway using statistics of temporal and spatial distribution of fluid particles. *Algal Research*, 2015. 9, 27-39.
- 28. Sakamoto T., & Bryant D.A. Growth at low temperature causes nitrogen limitation in the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus sp.* PCC 7002. *Archives of Microbiology*, 1997. 169:10–9.
- 29. Renaud SM, Thinh L-V, Lambrinidis G, Parry DL. Effect of temperature on growth, chemical composition and fatty acid composition of tropical Australian microalgae grown in batch cultures. *Aquaculture*, 2002. 211:195–214.

- 30. Ras, M., Steyer, J. P., & Bernard, O. Temperature effect on microalgae: a crucial factor for outdoor production. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, 2013. 12(2), 153-164.
- Chisti, Y. Biodiesel from microalgae beats bioethanol. *Trends in biotechnology*, 2008. 26(3), 126-131.
- 32. Merchant, S. S., Allen, M. D., Kropat, J., Moseley, J. L., Long, J. C., Tottey, S., & Terauchi,
 A. M. Between a rock and a hard place: trace element nutrition in
 Chlamydomonas. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Cell Research*,
 2006. 1763(7), 578-594.
- 33. Murrell, J. C., McDonald, I. R., & Gilbert, B. Regulation of expression of methane monooxygenases by copper ions. *Trends in microbiology*, 2000. 8(5), 221-225.
- 34. Yeh, K. L., & Chang, J. S. Effects of cultivation conditions and media composition on cell growth and lipid productivity of indigenous microalga Chlorella vulgaris ESP31. *Bioresource technology*, 2012.105, 120-127.
- 35. Imlay, J. A. Pathways of oxidative damage. *Annual Reviews in Microbiology*, 2003. 57(1), 395-418.
- 36. Rashid, N., Rehman, M. S. U., Sadiq, M., Mahmood, T., & Han, J. I. Current status, issues and developments in microalgae derived biodiesel production. *Renewable and sustainable energy reviews*, 2014. 40, 760-778.
- 37. De Godos, I., Mendoza, J. L., Acién, F. G., Molina, E., Banks, C. J., Heaven, S., & Rogalla,
 F. Evaluation of carbon dioxide mass transfer in raceway reactors for microalgae culture using flue gases. *Bioresource technology*, 2014. 153, 307-314.

- 38. Liu, J., Huang, J., Sun, Z., Zhong, Y., Jiang, Y., & Chen, F. Differential lipid and fatty acid profiles of photoautotrophic and heterotrophic Chlorella zofingiensis: assessment of algal oils for biodiesel production. *Bioresource technology*, 2011. 102(1), 106-110.
- 39. Zhang, X., Amendola, P., Hewson, J. C., Sommerfeld, M., & Hu, Q. Influence of growth phase on harvesting of Chlorella zofingiensis by dissolved air flotation. *Bioresource technology*, 2012. 116, 477-484.
- 40. Rubio, F. C., Fernandez, F. G., Perez, J. A., Camacho, F. G., & Grima, E. M. Prediction of dissolved oxygen and carbon dioxide concentration profiles in tubular photobioreactors for microalgal culture. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 1999. 62(1), 71-86.
- 41. Panda, A. K., Mishra, S., Bisaria, V. S., & Bhojwani, S. S. Plant cell reactors—a perspective. *Enzyme and microbial technology*, *1989*. *11*(7), *386-397*.
- 42. Thomas, W. H., & Gibson, C. H. Effects of small-scale turbulence on microalgae. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 1990. 2(1), 71-77.
- 43. Gudin, C., & Chaumont, D. Cell fragility—the key problem of microalgae mass production in closed photobioreactors. *Bioresource Technology*, *1991. 38*(*2-3*), *145-151*.
- 44. Carvalho, A. P., Meireles, L. A., & Malcata, F. X. Microalgal reactors: a review of enclosed system designs and performances. *Biotechnology progress*, 2006. 22(6), 1490-1506.
- 45. Adesanya, V. O., Vadillo, D. C., & Mackley, M. R. The rheological characterization of algae suspensions for the production of biofuels. *Journal of Rheology*, 2012. 56(4), 925-939.
- 46. Singh, A., Nigam, P. S., & Murphy, J. D. Renewable fuels from algae: an answer to debatable land based fuels. *Bioresource technology*, 2011. 102(1), 10-16.

- 47. Uduman N, Qi Y, Danquah M.K., Forde G.M., & Hoadley A. Dewatering of microalgal cultures: a major bottleneck to algae-based fuels. *Journal of Renewable and Sustainable Energy*, 2010. 2(1):012701–012715
- 48. Milledge, John J., and Sonia Heaven. "A review of the harvesting of micro-algae for biofuel production." *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/Technology*, 2013. 12.2: 165-178.
- 49. Mohn F. Harvesting of micro-algal biomass. In: Borowitzka LJ, Borowitzka MA (eds) Micro-algal biotechnology. *Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1988*.
- Molina Grima E, Belarbi E-H, Acien-Fernandez F.G. & Robles Medina A., Yusuf C. Recovery of microalgal biomass and metabolites: process options and economics. *Biotechnology Advances, 2003. 20(7–8):491–515.*
- 51. McCausland, M. A., Brown, M. R., Barrett, S. M., Diemar, J. A., & Heasman, M. P. Evaluation of live microalgae and microalgal pastes as supplementary food for juvenile Pacific oysters (Crassostrea gigas). *Aquaculture*, 1999. 174(3), 323-342.
- 52. König, R. B., Sales, R., Roselet, F., & Abreu, P. C. Harvesting of the marine microalga Conticribra weissflogii (Bacillariophyceae) by cationic polymeric flocculants. *biomass and bioenergy*, 2014. 68, 1-6.
- 53. Gerardo, M. L., Van Den Hende, S., Vervaeren, H., Coward, T., & Skill, S. C. Harvesting of microalgae within a biorefinery approach: A review of the developments and case studies from pilot-plants. *Algal Research*, 2015. 11, 248-262.
- 54. Ho, S. H., Chen, C., Chang, J. Effect of light intensity and nitrogen starvation on CO2 fixation and lipid/carbohydrate production of an indigenous microalga Scenedesmus obliquus CNW-N. *Bioresource Technology*, 2012. 113, 244-252.

- 55. Perrine, Z., Negi, S., Sayre, R. T. Optimization of photosynthetic light energy utilization by microalgae. *Algal Res*earch, 2012. 1(2), 134-142.
- 56. Nultsch, W., Pfau, J., Martena-Weide, M. Fluence and wavelength dependence of photoinhibition in the brown alga Dictyota dichotoma. *Marine Ecology Progress series*, 1987. 41, 93-97.
- 57. Torkamani, S., Wani, S.N., Tang, Y. J. Sureshkumar, R. Plasmon-enhanced microalgal growth in miniphotobioreactors. *Applied Physics Letters*, 2010. 97, 04703.
- 58. Mouget, J. L., Rosa, P., Tremblin, G. Acclimation of *Haslea ostrearia* to light of different spectral qualities–confirmation of chromatic adaptation 'in diatoms. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology. B: Biology*, 2004. 75(1), 1-11.
- 59. Napolitano, G.E. The relationship of lipids with light and chlorophyll measurements in freshwater algae and periphyton. *Journal of Phycology*, *1994. 30, 943–950*.
- 60. Hu, Q., Sommerfeld, M., Jarvis, E., Ghirardi, M., Posewitz, M., Seibert, M., Darzin, A. Microalgal triacylglycerols as feedstocks for biofuel production: perspectives and advances. *The Plant Journal, 2008.* 54, 621-639.
- 61. Ooms, M. D., Dinh, C. T., Sargent, E. H., & Sinton, D. Photon management for augmented photosynthesis. *Nature Communications*, 2016. 7.
- 62. Lu, X., Rycenga, M., Skrabalak, S. E., Wiley, B., & Xia, Y. Chemical synthesis of novel plasmonic nanoparticles. *Annual review of physical chemistry*, 2009. 60, 167-192.
- 63. Estime, B., Ren, D., & Sureshkumar, R., Effects of plasmonic film filters on microalgal growth and biomass composition. *Algal Research*, 2015. 11, 85-89.
- 64. Bendy Estime, Ren, D., & Sureshkumar, R. Cultivation and energy efficient harvesting of microalgae using thermoreversible sol-gel transition. *Scientific Reports*, 2017. 7.

- 65. Merchuk, J. C., Ronen, M., Giris, S., & Arad, S. Light/dark cycles in the growth of the red microalga *Porphyridium sp. Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, *1998*. *59*(6), *705-713*.
- 66. Fernández, F. A., Hall, D. O., Guerrero, E. C., Rao, K. K., & Grima, E. M. Outdoor production of Phaeodactylum tricornutum biomass in a helical reactor. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 2003. 103(2), 137-152.

CHAPTER 2

Development of plasmonic light filters for enhanced microalgal growth and biomass composition

Part of this chapter has been published as Bendy Estime, Dacheng Ren, Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Effects of plasmonic film filters on microalgal growth and biomass composition". <u>Algal Research</u>. 11: 85-89 (2015).

Abstract:

In search of strategies to enhance light absorption in microalgal culture, a plasmonic film light filter technology was developed. First, polymer films consisting of spherical silver nanoparticles were fabricated and used as plasmonic filters that selectively enhance blue light absorption in microalgal cultures. For the microalgal species Chlamydomonas reinhardtii, after ten days of cultivation the use of these plasmonic filters led to an increase in the microalgal dry biomass by more than 25% and an increase in chlorophyll and carotenoid pigments by more than 35%, compared to the control cultures without using these films. Further, light enhancement by plasmon resonance did not affect lipid and carbohydrate accumulation within individual microalgal cells. However, the higher cell densities obtained with the plasmonic filters resulted in enhanced overall carbohydrate and lipid production. Motivated by these results, the fabrication of plasmonic film filters containing silver nanospheres and/or gold nanorods were tailored to selectively backscatter different wavelengths of the incident light that are favorable for microalgal growth and pigments accumulation. The experimental results proved that microalgal biomass production and photosynthetic pigments production can be increased by up to 50% and 78% respectively through light enhancement induced by the use of plasmonic film filters.

2.1 Introduction

In the context of renewable energy production, microalgae represent a promising viable and sustainable feedstock that can replicate the traditional refinery approach, often referred to as the bio-refinery¹. Through thermal and biochemical conversions, microalgal feedstock can be used to produce biodiesel, bioethanol, biohydrogen and other types of biofuels². Moreover, chlorophyll and carotenoid pigments from microalgae have several applications in food and pharmaceutical industries as food additives, cosmetic agents and antioxidants for medical purposes ^{3,4}. Furthermore, algal extract is rich in proteins, carbohydrates and free amino-acids and can serve as a replacement for yeast extract used to feed microorganisms ⁵. However, commercial utilization of microalgae for such purposes is still far from being financially feasible due to high extraction costs and low productivity in confined environments ⁶. As a result, strategies for improving microalgal biomass growth, carbohydrate and lipid production, as well as pigment accumulation have been extensively investigated. For instance, transcription factor engineering and genetic engineering approaches have been applied to enhance lipid overproduction⁷. Physiological stresses such as high salinity and nutrient deprivation are also often used to induce accumulation of carbohydrate, lipid or other valuable compounds¹.

In the first chapter of this thesis, the effects of light intensity on microalgal biomass production was extensively described based on well-known theories as well as largely reported experimental results ⁸. We also described how blue and red lights are optimal for the photosynthetic activity of most microalgal species whereas other wavelengths of the electromagnetic spectrum may in some cases cause photo-inhibition ^{9,10}. Recently, the light intensity dependency and wavelength specificity of microalgal photosynthetic activity have been largely studied and exploited as tools to develop technologies to improve biomass growth in

microalgal cultures. For instance, Wondrackzek *et al.* developed a photoluminescence converter that enables conversion of undesired green light in the incident spectrum to desired red light by photoactive pigments ¹¹. Organic and inorganic dyes, phosphors and quantum dots have also been tested for the conversion light wavelengths with very little photosynthetic potential into light wavelengths with higher photosynthetic potential ^{12,13}.

The application of localized surface plasmon resonance by metallic nanoparticles to the enhancement of light in microalgal cultivation systems was first introduced by Torkamani et. al. ¹⁴. Considering the light backscattering properties of silver and gold nanoparticles, this work developed a mathematical model to show how such localized surface plasmon resonance by metallic nanoparticles can effectively enhance light irradiance in microalgal cultures. The effects of such enhancement of light on microalgal growth was also modeled and tested in a miniature system with two petri-dishes. Specifically, the use of a silver nanoparticle suspension, as a plasmonic filter that backscatters blue light into microalgal culture, was shown to result in an increase in photosynthetic growth by more than 30%, compared to a control without nanoparticle suspension. Following this, experiments conducted by Eroglu et. al. with microalgal species Chlorella vulgaris showed how nanometallic suspensions can be used to increase photosynthetic pigment accumulation³. The work by Ooms et. al. also demonstrated how wavelength selective scattering from nanopatterned surfaces was able to enhance the growth rate of cyanobacterium S. elongatus in modular bioreactors by 6.5% while improving the power efficiency by 52% as compared to systems that utilize broadband reflectors ¹⁵. These promising results motivated further studies and the development of plasmonics-based light enhancement technologies that could be realistically integrated in the design of large scale enclosed microalgal photobioreactors.

It was also important to investigate the concomitant effects of plasmon-enhanced growth on microalgal growth, accumulation of photosynthetic pigments and production of lipids and carbohydrates. Investigating such effects was important because the way an improvement in any given factor affecting microalgal biomass production impacts different biomass production output factors has shown to be highly dependent on the type of enhancement. For instance, stress conditions such as high salt concentration and nitrogen deprivation that increase lipid production have been observed to have a negative effect on microalgal growth ^{1,16}. Similarly, nutrient starvation that increases lipid production in cyanobacteria has been shown to either increase or have little effect on carbohydrate generation, depending on the bacterial species ^{17,18}. Further, enhanced microalgal growth by light enhancement could be accompanied either by an increase or a decrease in triglyceride production as suggested by the works by Napolito and the work by Guedes *et. al.* respectively ^{19,20}. It has been also shown that, in many cases, light enhancement can cause alteration of fatty acid synthesis by inducing the production of mono-unsaturated fatty acids and concomitantly disfavoring the formation of poly-unsaturated fatty acids ¹⁶.

Motivated by the above listed reasons, we developed a plasmonics-based light filter technology to enhance light absorption in microalgal culture and improve microalgal biomass production. First, flexible polymeric films consisting of spherical silver nanoparticles were fabricated and used as filters that selectively enhance the irradiation of blue light in microalgal cultures. This technology is much more easily implemented, scalable, durable and safer compared to that based on nanoparticle suspensions. Previous simulation results have demonstrated how plasmon resonance by spherical silver nanoparticles increases the available irradiance in microalgal culture ¹⁴. By virtue of this, the plasmonic film would enhance photosynthetic activity. It was also hypothesized that the additional blue light provided by

plasmon resonance would increase photosynthetic pigment contents through chromatic acclimation ²¹. Further, it was important to assess potential effects on lipid and carbohydrate production. The plasmonic film was therefore tested for a *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* culture and its effects were assessed through analyses of microalgal biomass, photosynthetic pigment, lipid and carbohydrate production. The successful results with the selective backscattering of blue light with silver nanospheres inspired the development of gold nanorods-based and combined gold nanorods and silver nanospheres-based plasmonic films light filters to enhance the absorption of blue and red lights by microalgae.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Synthesis of silver nanospheres

Silver nanoparticles were synthetized by using sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) as a reducing agent for silver nitrate ²². Using a pipette, 20 ml of 1.0 mM silver nitrate solution was gently added to a 60 ml solution of 2.0 mM sodium borohydride. The reaction was performed at 4° C on a magnetic stir plate. Synthetized spherical silver nanoparticles had diameters of 12 ± 2 nm, as confirmed by dynamic light scattering measurements.

2.2.2 Synthesis of gold nanorods

Gold nanorods with extinction wavelength peak at 675 nm were synthesized using a modified seeding-mediated growth method similar to that presented by Nikoobakht & El-Sayed 23 . First, a seed solution was prepared by mixing 5 ml of an aqueous solution of 0.5 mM HAuCl4 with 5 ml of cetyl trimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB) 0.2 M and 0.6 ml of cold ice sodium borohydride (NaBH4) 10 mM. The mixture was then vigorously stirred for 2 minutes and this seed solution was stored at 25° C. The gold nanorods were then synthesized by first adding 0.06 ml of 4 mM AgNO3 to 5 ml of 0.2 M CTAB solution at 25°C. Following this, 5 ml of 1 mM of HAuCl4, 70 µl of 0.0788 M of ascorbic acid and 12 µl of seed solution were successively added to the mixture under gently mixing. This final mixture was then incubated at 30°C for gold nanorods growth. The color of the mixture that changed from yellow to transparent after the addition of ascorbic acid, was observed to gradually exhibit a blue color characterizing the formation of gold nanorods with aspect ratio that leads to extinction of light wavelength around 675 nm. After 30 minutes of incubation at 30°C, the mixture exhibited a dark blue color and was used for the intended plasmonic film fabrication purpose after the spectrophotometric characterization of the gold nanorods.

2.2.3 Preparation of plasmonic films consisting of silver nanoparticles

Plasmonic films consisting of silver nanospheres were prepared by adding polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) powder to the silver nanoparticle suspension such that final PVA content in the mixture was 5% by weight. The final mixture was dried in a petri-dish for two days. Then, the film was peeled off and stored at room temperature until use. The resulting plasmonic film was about 1 mm thick when 20 ml of the mixture was put to dry in a 100 mm diameter petri-dish. The thickness may vary slightly if more volume is added or the PVA content is higher. The absorption spectrum of the plasmonic film exhibited a single peak near 400 nm but was broad enough to cover the entire blue region of the electromagnetic spectrum (figure 2.1).

2.2.4 Preparation of plasmonic films containing gold nanorods

To prepare the plasmonic films containing gold nanorods, a 5% weight aqueous solution of polyvinyl alcohol was first prepared. Then the gold nanorods solution was centrifuged (8,000 RPM, 10 minutes) and washed twice. Subsequently, the supernatant was disregarded and the dark blue gold nanorods ink was redissolved in the aqueous polyvinyl alcohol solution. Plasmonic films with a single primary extinction peak at 675 nm could be fabricated by pouring this last mixture in a petri-dish and letting it dried for three days at the room temperature (figure 2.2). To prepare plasmonic films with dual extinction peaks, the blueish aqueous polyvinyl alcohol mixture containing gold nanorods were mixed with the yellowish polyvinyl alcohol mixture containing silver nanospheres leading to a greenish mixture containing both silver nanospheres and gold nanorods with extinction peaks at around 400 nm and 675 nm (figure 2.3). This mixture was similarly poured in a petri-dish and dried under the same conditions. After the

three-days drying period, the 1mm thick films were completely dried and were peeled off the petri-dishes and could be used for light filtering in microalgal cultivation systems.

2.2.5 Microalgal strain and culture conditions

The wild type microalgae *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* CC-124 obtained from the Chlamydomonas Resource Center (University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota) was used in this study. The experimental setting consisted of a 250 ml conical flask with the base wrapped with a plasmonic film. The base of the flask was then covered with black tape (Scotch Super 33+ Vinyl Electrical Tape, 3M, St. Paul, Minnesota) so that incident light could enter only from the top of the culture. Another conical flask wrapped with only black tape (without the film) was used as a control. Microalgal cells were allowed to grow in a 50 ml minimum medium enriched with 20 mM of sodium bicarbonate, with the flasks placed on a rotary shaker (100 rpm)¹³. The space was continuously illuminated by full spectrum compact fluorescent lamps (CFL 60W, Fancierstudio, San Francisco, California). The photosynthetic active radiation at the top surface of the culture was at $100 \pm 5 \,\mu\text{E/m}^2/\text{s}$, as measured by quantum meters (MQ, Apogee Instruments, Inc., Logan, Utah). The temperature was controlled at $23 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. Triplicate samples were collected every two days to measure the optical density of the culture at 675 nm $(OD_{675})^{14}$. After ten days of cultivation, the microalgal cells were harvested for dry mass determination and compositional analyses.

2.2.6 Lipid analyses

Lipid generation was assessed using three techniques: gravimetric quantification, fluorometric scanning and gas chromatography. For gravimetric quantification, a modified Bligh and Dyer method was used ²⁴. Briefly, each microalgal sample was centrifuged (4,800g, 5 min, 20°C) to remove excess water. Cell lysis for lipid release was assured by sonication (Q500

Sonicator, Qsonica, LLC., Newtown, Connecticut) with a 20/10 seconds ON/OFF cycle for 2 minutes; 5 ml of chloroform, 10 ml of methanol and 5 ml of deionized water were then added to the sonicated samples. To facilitate phase separation, the samples were placed on a rotary shaker (100 rpm) for 6 hours and 5 more ml of chloroform and deionized water were then added prior to centrifugation (4,800g, 5min, 20°C). Following this, the lipid rich chloroform layer was removed and dried for gravimetric measurement.

Prior to trans-esterification, dry lipids were dissolved in 1ml of toluene. Then, 2 ml of a solution of anhydrous sodium methoxide in methanol (0.5 M) was added and the reaction was allowed to proceed for 3 hours in a 65°C water bath. Subsequently, the mixture was neutralized with acetic acid and fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were extracted by adding 5 ml of hexane to the mixture.

Using ASTM 6584 solution as standard, fatty acid methyl esters were characterized with two gas chromatography systems: a Hewlett-Packard Model HP 5890 series II gas chromatograph with Flame Ionization Detector (FID), and an Agilent 7890 gas chromatograph with Agilent 5975c Mass Spectrometer (MS). For the GC-FID system, the injector temperature was set at 300°C; the oven was initially held at 60°C for 2 minutes and then increased to 150°C at a rate of 6°C /min. The oven temperature was subsequently held at 150°C for 10 min and then elevated from 150 to 350°C at a rate of 10°C/min and held for 1 min. For the GC-MS system, the injector temperature was set at 250°C; the oven was initially held at 150°C for 1 minute and then

Nile Red fluorescence determination of neutral lipids was used as a means to verify results obtained by gravimetric quantification ²⁵. Specifically, 10 ml of the microalgal suspension

was stained with 40 µl of a solution of Nile Red in acetone (0.25 g/l). After 30 minutes,

fluorescence scanning (excitation wavelength: 490 nm, emission wavelength: 520-750 nm) was performed using a Fluoromax-4 spectrofluorometer (Horiba, Ltd., Kyoto, Japan). Comparisons between plasmon-enhanced culture and control culture were then made after the subtraction of the auto-fluorescence of microalgal cells and the relative fluorescence of Nile Red solution from the overall fluorescence spectra ²⁵.

2.2.7 Carbohydrate determination

Carbohydrate content was assessed using the phenol-sulfuric acid method proposed by Dubois *et al.* ²⁶. Specifically, 2 mg of dry microalgae was mixed with 2 ml of water. Subsequently, 50 µl of 80% phenol was added, followed by a rapid addition of 5 ml of concentrated sulfuric acid. The mixture was then placed in a 50°C water bath for 20 minutes. Following this, the absorbance at 490 nm was determined and compared to a standard curve based on glucose.

2.2.8 Microalgal pigment determination

Microalgal pigments were assessed by spectrophotometry. Specifically, an aliquot of 2 ml of culture was centrifuged (8,000 rpm, 5 min, 20°C) with the supernatant discarded and the pellets suspended in 2 ml of 95% ethanol. Then, the extraction was allowed to proceed on a rotary shaker (100 rpm) for 24 hours in the dark. Finally, the mixture was centrifuged (8,000 rpm, 5 min, 20°C) and the absorbance of the supernatant at 470, 649, 665 and 750 nm was determined. The quantification of total chlorophylls and total carotenoids were then made using the formulae of Lichtenthaler ²⁷.

2.2.9 Statistical analyses

The microalgal culture experiment was repeated 15 times and for each run, all the analyses mentioned above were performed thrice. Statistical analyses over the 45 data points for each parameter were performed using Minitab software. The results with P-Value less than 0.05 (t-test) were considered statistically significant.





Figure 2.1: Plasmonic film consisting of silver nanospheres. Photograph of a plasmonic film after being peeled off from petri-dish (A) and absorbance spectrum of the plasmonic film consisting of spherical silver nanoparticles (B).



Figure 2.2: Plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods. Photograph of a plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods after being peeled off from petri-dish (A) and absorbance spectrum of the plasmonic film (B).



Figure 2.3: Plasmonic film consisting of silver nanospheres and gold nanorods. Photograph of a plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres after being peeled off from petri-dish (A) and absorbance spectrum of the plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres (B).

2.3 Results and discussion

2.3.1 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal biomass production

Wild type microalgae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii CC-124 growing on agar plates was used to prepare liquid subcultures, four days preceding the experiment. Then, a fresh culture was prepared and equally split in two flasks, one with the plasmonic film consisting of silver nanoparticles and the other without film used as the control. The optical density (OD_{675}) of the culture was monitored over ten days. From day 0 to day 4, there was no significant difference (P > 0.05) in optical density between the plasmon-enhanced culture (OD₆₇₅ increased from 0.05 to 0.14 ± 0.02) and the control (OD₆₇₅ increased from 0.05 to 0.12 ± 0.02). From day 4 to day 10, optical densities varied largely between the two settings (Figure 2.4A). Average OD_{675} values increased from (0.14 to 1.18 ± 0.06) and (0.12 to 0.88 ± 0.06), respectively for the plasmonenhanced culture and the control (P < 0.05). Gravimetric analyses, after ten days of cultivation, confirmed that microalgal biomass production was increased by more than 25 % (P < 0.05) when the plasmonic film filter was used (Figure 2.4B). This enhancement of microalgal biomass production is in good concordance with the theoretical model for the enhancement of light through plasmon resonance by spherical silver nanoparticles. It is also consistent with the results obtained with nanoparticle suspension where microalgal biomass production was increased by more than 30%¹⁴.



Figure 2.4. Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal biomass production. Optical density at 675 nm (OD_{675}) at different culture times (A) and microalgal biomass production after ten days of cultivation period (B). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

2.3.2 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on lipid production

Lipid production results from gravimetric measurements, after extraction using the modified Bligh and Dyer method, were consistent with results from fluorescence scanning using Nile Red dye. It was observed that more total lipid $(0.252 \pm 0.009 \text{ g/l})$ with the film vs. $0.206 \pm$ 0.009 g/l without the film) was obtained when the cells were cultured under plasmon-enhanced condition (P < 0.05) (Figure 2.5A). However, when normalized by dry biomass, there was no significant difference (P > 0.05) in the amount of lipid per unit cell mass (Figure 2.5B). This suggests that the higher lipid generation is not due to induction of lipid accumulation in microalgal cells, as observed under other light enhancement conditions ²⁸. Higher total lipid generation could normally be expected because of the increase in cell density. The FAME compositions of lipid extracts from plasmon-enhanced culture and control were very similar with a distribution predominantly between C18:1-3, C16:0, C16:1-4, and C18:0 (Figure 2.5C). The FAME distribution is consistent with compositional screening of microalgae in other studies ^{29,30}. Together, these findings support the idea that lipid accumulation in individual microalgal cells is not affected by such plasmon-enhanced growth. This may be due to the fact that the difference in light intensity owing to plasmon resonance is not large enough to significantly influence the biochemical pathways of lipid production. In fact, significant effects are often seen with very high increase in light intensity (e.g. from 60 to 420 μ E m⁻² s⁻¹)²⁷. Light intensity effect on lipid production is also believed to be species-specific ²⁷.



Figure 2.5: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal lipid production. Total lipid concentration (mg/l) (A), lipid in dry algal biomass (B) and fatty acid methyl esters distribution (C). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

2.3.3 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on carbohydrate production

Similar to lipid production, there was an increase in total carbohydrate production $(0.221 \pm 0.008 \text{g/l}$ with the film vs. $0.182 \pm 0.008 \text{g/l}$ without the film) (Figure 2.6A). However, when normalized by dry biomass the difference in carbohydrate contents was not significant (P > 0.05) (Figure 2.6B). This suggests that plasmon resonance does not increase carbohydrate accumulation in individual microalgal cells. Several other studies have shown increase in carbohydrate production with significantly larger increase in light intensity ³¹. On the other end, other research results have suggested that there are no demonstrated impacts of increased light intensities on the accumulation of carbohydrate by microalgal cells. The work by Carvalho *et. al.* even reported that the carbohydrate content of microalgal cells was found to increase with increasing irradiance when experiments were performed at the temperature of 18°C, but decreased with increasing irradiance at when the culture experiments were performed 22°C ³². In fact, a photochemical mechanism that explains a positive correlation between irradiance and carbohydrate accumulation has not yet been discovered ³¹.



Figure 2.6: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal carbohydrate production. Carbohydrate concentration (g/l) (A) and weight percent of carbohydrate in dry microalgal biomass (B). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

2.3.4 Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal pigment accumulation

The effect of plasmon-enhanced growth on pigment accumulation was evaluated by measuring the total chlorophylls and the total carotenoids, after ten days of cultivation. The results show an increase in pigment concentration by more than 35% (P < 0.05) with the use of the plasmonic filter. The effect was more pronounced in total chlorophylls ($15.3 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg/l}$ with the film vs. $10.7 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg/l}$ without the film) than total carotenoids ($5.1 \pm 0.2 \text{ mg/l}$ with the film vs. $3.7 \pm 0.2 \text{ mg/l}$ without the film) (Figure 2.7A). This is likely due to the fact that the resonance peak of the plasmonic film is closer to the absorbance peak of chlorophyll a. Further, by normalizing with algal dry biomass, the pigment content per unit cell mass of the plasmon-enhanced culture exceeds the control by about 10% (P < 0.05) for carotenoids and 14% (P < 0.05) for chlorophylls (Figure 2.7B). These results show that plasmon resonance effectively improve pigment accumulation in microalgal cells.

The work by Bonente *et al.* reported a photo-acclimation phenomenon where under high light *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* culture acclimated to an increase of growth and a decrease in pigment content per cell ³³. However, the irradiance referred to as high light in that work was $400 \,\mu\text{E/m}^2$ /s. This is about four times greater than the irradiance involved in this work. An alternative mechanism that corroborates our findings is chromatic acclimation as described by Mouget *et al.* where the additional blue light provided through plasmon resonance enhances growth rate, photosynthetic activity and pigment contents ²¹. The experiments by Del Campo *et. al.* with a Chlorella species also with reported a significantly large increase of the cellular content of the carotenoid astaxanthin as the result of an increase in the culture light intensity ³⁴. The work by Eroglu *et al.* with nano-metallic suspensions also demonstrated that microalgal

pigment accumulation is enhanced by light enhancement owing to plasmon resonance although in our case the effect on carotenoid production was more pronounced ⁴. This very last fact may be due to either the use of a different species (*Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* vs. *Chlorella vulgaris*) or the difference in incident light intensity (100 vs. 75 μ E/m²/s) which is a crucial factor in determining carotenoid accumulation ⁴.



Figure 2.7: Effect of plasmonic film filters consisting of silver nanospheres on microalgal photosynthetic pigment accumulation. Pigment concentration (mg/l) (A) and pigment content in microalgal biomass (mg/g) (B). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

2.3.5 Effects of plasmonic film filters with different backscattering wavelengths on microalgal growth and biomass composition

Different plasmonic films were tailored and fabricated to backscatter light at the specific wavelengths necessary for microalgal photosynthetic activities. Due to the proven effects of the plasmonic film consisting of silver nanoparticles on microalgal photosynthetic growth and carotenoids, chlorophyll a and chlorophyll b accumulation, the plasmonic films were tailored to enhance light in the violet-blue and red regions of the electromagnetic spectrum necessary for microalgal growth and accumulation of the related pigments. While the silver nanoparticles synthesized via the sodium borohydride methods have a fixed backscattering peak in the violet-blue region of the electromagnetic spectrum, the modified Nikoobakht & El-Sayed method can lead to gold nanorods of different aspect ratios and backscattering peaks at different wavelengths by changing the amount of seed solution or the amount of silver nitrate added in the nanorods growth mixture. We decided to synthesize gold nanorods with extinction spectra peak of 675 nm due to largely reported effects of light of such wavelength on microalgal growth, and total chlorophylls production ³⁵.

Similar to the plasmonic film consisting of silver nanospheres, the gold nanorods based plasmonic films and the dual wavelength plasmonic films consisting of both silver nanospheres and gold nanorods were used to wrap the base of conical flasks containing the microalgal broths which were then covered with a black tape to ensure that light was only coming from the top of the microalgal culture. Microalgal growth in such cultivation systems was monitored through optical density measurements (OD_{675}) and compared against a control without plasmonic films. The growth curves constructed through regular optical density measurements exhibited a similar trend to that reported for enhancement of light in the blue region of the electromagnetic spectrum by silver nanospheres, with more pronounced and increasing effects after the fourth cultivation day. However, by comparing the enhancement of light solely in the blue region of the electromagnetic spectrum using silver nanospheres to the enhancement of light solely in the red region of the electromagnetic spectrum using gold nanospheres, the effects were more pronounced for the last one leading to an increase in microalgal biomass production by 30% compared to 25% (P<0.05) with silver nanospheres. This may be due to the fact that the absorption peak of the plasmonic film consisting of gold nanorods covers the red light absorption peaks of the photosynthetic microalgae better than the silver nanospheres based plasmonic film does in the blue region. Further, the gold nanorods based plasmonic films led to a total carotenoids and a total chlorophylls concentration of 4.9 mg/l and 15.1 mg/l respectively compared to the respective concentrations of 3.4 mg/l and 9.9 mg/l in the control culture. When normalized by the dry biomass, the pigment contents per dry biomass unit obtained with the gold nanorods based plasmonic film were 6.8 mg/g for total chlorophyll and 2.2 mg/g for total carotenoids as opposed to 5.9 mg/g and 2.0 mg/g obtained with the control culture which again corroborate a clear increase in pigment accumulation through plasmon enhancement. The dual wavelengths plasmonic led to a significantly higher biomass production by accusing a 50% increase in microalgal biomass production as compared to the control culture after the ten days cultivation period. The cumulative effects of dual enhancement of both violet-blue and red lights through plasmon enhancement also led to a very high pigment accumulation accusing up to a 78% increase in total chlorophyll production as compared to the control culture.



Figure 2.8: Effects of plasmonic films consisting of gold nanorods on microalgal growth and biomass composition. Microalgal growth curve (A), pigment concentration (g/l) (B) and pigment contents in dry microalgal biomass (mg/g) (C). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.


Figure 2.9: Effects of plasmonic films consisting of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres on microalgal growth and biomass composition. Microalgal growth curve (A), pigment concentration (g/l) (B) and pigment contents in dry microalgal biomass (mg/g) (C). Values represent means of 45 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

2.4 Conclusions

In summary, plasmonic films with different extinction wavelengths were fabricated and used as light filters that can selectively enhance light absorption in microalgal culture. First, through plasmon resonance by the spherical silver nanoparticles embedded in the film, blue light was backscattered and supplemented to a *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* culture. This led to an increase in microalgal biomass production by more than 25% and an increase in total photosynthetic pigment generation by more than 35%, after ten days of cultivation. Light enhancement by plasmon resonance did not affect cellular carbohydrate and lipid accumulation although the increase in cell density resulted in enhanced overall lipid and carbohydrate production. The plasmonic film technology was then extended to plasmonic films consisting of nanoparticles of different shapes (e.g. rods, mixtures of spheres and rods) that have been tested for backscattering of blue and/or red lights to microalgal culture ³⁶. The results with plasmonic films containing both silver nanospheres and gold nanorods proved that biomass production and photosynthetic pigments accumulation can be increased by up to 50% and 78% respectively through light enhancement induced by the use of plasmonic film filters. With all these beneficial effects, this technology has significant potential to be scaled up and applied to large scale photobioreactors for microalgal culture. Although the implementation should be easier and safer compared to the use of nano-suspensions, further investigation is still needed to enable scale-up and optimization of the plasmonic film technology. One issue to consider during the application of this plasmonic film light filter technology to the design of large scale microalgal photobioreactors is the fact that the light enhancement through plasmon resonance is only effective over a few centimeters of light path length. Strategies to palliate this effect may include the development of short light path microalgal cultivation systems and also the

57

coordinated cycle of the microalgal cells to the zones with enhanced irradiance during the cultivation period. We will further discuss these two ideas in chapter 3 and chapter 5 of this dissertation. Another issue to overcome is to prevent microalgal adhesion and biofilm formation in the surface of the cultivation system that would hinder light penetration and decrease the effects of plasmon enhancement. This last issue is discussed in detail in chapter 4. Finally, efforts to optimize photosynthetic light utilization by microalgae, if successful, may mitigate the risk of efficiency loss through light saturation and potentially broaden the application of the plasmonic film technology³⁷.

Acknowledgments

We acknowledge Professor Mathew M. Maye (Chemistry Department, Syracuse University) for providing access to the Fluoromax-4 spectrofluorometer as well as Professors Jesse Q. Bond and Lawrence L. Tavlarides (Biomedical and Chemical Engineering Department, Syracuse University) for the use of the GC-MS and the GC-FID systems respectively. B.E. is grateful for help from graduate students Tao Cong (nanoparticle synthesis), Ali Adem Bahar (sonicator), Srujana Govindarajulu (algal culture), Yue Nan (GC-FID) and Anargyros Chatzidimitriou (GC-MS) and, financial support through a fellowship under the Syracuse University - Université d'Etat d'Haïti student exchange program.

2.5 References

- Markou, G., Nerantzis, E. Microalgae for high-value compounds and biofuels production: A review with focus on cultivation under stress conditions. *Biotechnology Advances*, 2013. 31, 1532-1542.
- Demirbas, A. Use of algae as biofuel sources. *Energy Conversion Management*, 2010. 51, 2738–2749.
- Eroglu, E., Eggers, P.K., Winslade, M., Smith, S.M., Rasto, C.L. Enhanced accumulation of microalgal pigments using metal nanoparticle solutions as light filtering devices. *Green Chemistry*, 2013. 15, 3155–3159.
- Gordon, H. T., Bauernfeind, J. C., Furia, T. E. Carotenoids as food colorants. CRC Critical Reviews in Food Science and nutrition, 1983. 18, 59–97.
- Kightlinger, W., Chen, K., Pourmir, A., Crunkleton, D.W., Price, G.L., Johannes, T.W. Production and characterization of algae extract from Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *Electronic Journal of Biotechnology*, 2014. 17, 14-18.
- Amaro, H. M., Guedes, A. C., & Malcata, F. X. Advances and perspectives in using microalgae to produce biodiesel. *Applied Energy*, 2011. 88(10), 3402-3410.
- Courchesne, N.M.D., Parisien, A., Wang, B., Lan, C.Q. Enhancement of lipid production using biochemical, genetic and transcription factor engineering approaches. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 2009. 141, 31–41.
- Cornet, J.F., Dussap, C.G., Dubertret, G. A structured model for simulation of cultures of the cyanobacterium *Spirulina platensis* in photobioreactors: I. Coupling between light transfer and growth kinetics. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 1992. 40, 817-825.

- Pottier, L., Pruvost, J., Deremetz, J., Cornet, J.F., Dussap, C.G. A Fully Predictive Model for One-Dimensional Light Attenuation by Chlamydomonas reinhardtii in a Torus Photobioreactor. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 2005. 91, 569-582.
- Nultsch, W., Pfau, J., Martena-Weide, M. Fluence and wavelength dependence of photoinhibition in the brown alga Dictyota dichotoma. *Marine Ecology Progress series*, 1987. 41, 93-97.
- Wondraczek, L., Batentschuk, M., Schmidt, M.A., Borchardt, R., Scheiner, S., Seeman,
 B., Schweizer, P., Brabec, C.J. Solar spectral conversion for improving the photosynthetic activity in algae reactors. *Nature Communications, 2013.* 4, 2047.
- Mohsenpour, S. F., Richards, B., & Willoughby, N. Spectral conversion of light for enhanced microalgae growth rates and photosynthetic pigment production. *Bioresource technology*, 2012. 125, 75-81.
- Prokop, A., Quinn, M. F., Fekri, M., Murad, M., & Ahmed, S. A. Spectral shifting by dyes to enhance algae growth. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, *1984*. 26(11), 1313-1322.
- 14. Torkamani, S., Wani, S.N., Tang, Y.J., Sureshkumar, R. Plasmon-enhanced microalgal growth in miniphotobioreactors. *Applied Physics Letters*, 2010. 97, 04703.
- 15. Ooms, M.D., Jeyaram, Y., Sinton, D. Wavelength-selective plasmonics for enhanced cultivation of microalgae. *Applied Physics Letters*, 2015. 106, 063902.
- 16. Hu, Q., *et.al*. Microalgal triacylglycerols as feedstocks for biofuel production: perspectives and advances. *The Plant Journal*, 2008. 54, 621-639.

- Arad, S., Lerental, Y., Dubinsky, O. Effect of nitrate and sulfate starvation on polysaccharide formation in *Rhodella reticulata*. *Bioresource Technology*, 1992. 42, 141–148.
- 18. De Philippis, R., Vincenzini, M. Exocellular polysaccharides from cyanobacteria and their possible applications. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*, 1998. 22, 151–175.
- 19. Napolitano, G.E. The relationship of lipids with light and chlorophyll measurements in freshwater algae and periphyton. *Journal of Phycology*, *1994. 30*, *943–950*.
- 20. Guedes, A. C., Meireles, L. A., Amaro, H. M., Malcata, F. X. Changes in lipid class and fatty acid composition of cultures of Pavlova lutheri, in response to light intensity. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 2010.* 87.7, 791–801.
- 21. Mouget, J. L., Rosa, P., Tremblin, G. Acclimation of *Haslea ostrearia* to light of different spectral qualities–confirmation of chromatic adaptation 'in diatoms. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology, 2004. 75(1), 1-11.*
- Solomon, S.D., Bahadory, M., Jeyarajasingam, A.V., Rutkowsky S.A., Boritz, C.
 Synthesis and study of silver nanoparticles. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 2007. 84, 322-325.
- Nikoobakht, B., & El-Sayed, M. A. Preparation and growth mechanism of gold nanorods (NRs) using seed-mediated growth method. *Chemistry of Materials*, 2003. 15(10), 1957-1962.
- 24. Bligh, E.G., Dyer, W.M. A rapid method of lipid extraction and purification. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology*, 1959. 37, 911–917.
- 25. Lee, S.J., Yoon, B., Oh, H., 1998. Rapid method for the determination of lipid from the green alga *Botryococcus braunii*. *Biotechnology Techniques*, *1998*. *12*, *553-556*.

- 26. Dubois, M., Gilles, K.A., Hamilton, J.K., Rebers P.A., Smith F. A colorimetric method for the determination of sugars. *Analytical Chemistry*, *1956*. *28*, *350-356*.
- 27. Lichtenthaler, H.K. Chlorophylls and carotenoids: Pigments of photosynthetic biomembranes. *Methods in Enzymology*, *1987.148*, *350–382*.
- Ho, S. H., Ye, X., Hasunuma, T., Chang, J. S., Kondo, A. Perspectives on engineering strategies for improving biofuel production from microalgae–A critical review. *Biotechnology Advances*, 2014. 32, 1448-1459.
- 29. Halim, R., Gladman, B., Danquah, M. K., Webley, P. A. Oil extraction from microalgae for biodiesel production. *Bioresource Technology*, 2011. 102, 178-185.
- 30. Siaut, M., Cuiné, S., Cagnon, C., Fessler, B., Nguyen, M., Carrier, P., Beyly, A., Beisson, F., Triantaphylidès, C., Li-Beisson, Y., Peltier G. Oil accumulation in the model green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*: characterization, variability between common laboratory strains and relationship with starch reserves. *BMC Biotechnology*, 2011. 11:7.
- 31. Ho, S. H., Chen, C., Chang, J. Effect of light intensity and nitrogen starvation on CO2 fixation and lipid/carbohydrate production of an indigenous microalga *Scenedesmus obliquus CNW-N. Bioresource Technology*, 2012. 113, 244-252.
- 32. Carvalho, A. P., Monteiro, C. M., & Malcata, F. X. Simultaneous effect of irradiance and temperature on biochemical composition of the microalga Pavlova lutheri. *Journal of applied phycology*, 2009. 21(5), 543-552.
- 33. Bonente, G., Pippa, S., Castellano, S., Bassi, R., Ballottari, M. Acclimation of *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* to different growth irradiances. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 2012. 287(8), 5833-5847.

- 34. Del Campo, J. A., Rodriguez, H., Moreno, J., Vargas, M. A., Rivas, J., & Guerrero, M. G. Accumulation of astaxanthin and lutein in Chlorella zofingiensis (Chlorophyta). *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 2004. 64(6), 848-854.
- 35. Kim, T. H., Lee, Y., Han, S. H., & Hwang, S. J. The effects of wavelength and wavelength mixing ratios on microalgae growth and nitrogen, phosphorus removal using Scenedesmus sp. for wastewater treatment. *Bioresource technology*, 2013. 130, 75-80.
- 36. Cong, T., Wani, S. N., Zhou, G., Baszczuk, E., Sureshkumar, R. Plasmonic nanogels with robustly tunable optical properties. InSPIE NanoScience+ Engineering 2011. (pp. 80970L-80970L). International Society for Optics and Photonics.
- Perrine, Z., Negi, S., Sayre, R. T. Optimization of photosynthetic light energy utilization by microalgae. *Algal Research*, 2012. 1(2), 134-142.

CHAPTER 3

Development of a short light path energy efficient microalgal cultivation and harvesting system using thermoreversible sol-gel transition Part of this chapter has been published as Bendy Estime, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Cultivation and energy efficient harvesting of microalgae using thermoreversible sol-gel transition". <u>Scientific Reports</u>. 7: 40725 (2017).

Abstract

Microalgae represent a promising source of renewable biomass for the production of biofuels and valuable chemicals. However, energy efficient cultivation and harvesting technologies are necessary to improve economic viability. Several issues related to the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal cultivation systems as well as the energy efficient harvesting of the biomass produced were addressed by developing a new microalgal cultivation and harvesting system. Specifically, a Tris-Acetate-Phosphate-Pluronic (TAPP) medium that undergoes a thermoreversible sol-gel transition was developed to efficiently culture and harvest microalgae without affecting the productivity as compared to that in traditional culture in a well-mixed suspension. After seeding microalgae in the TAPP medium in a solution phase at 15°C, the temperature was increased by 7°C to induce gelation. Within the gel, microalgae were observed to grow in large clusters rather than as isolated cells. The settling velocity of the microalgal clusters was approximately ten times larger than that of individual cells cultured in typical solution media. Such clusters were easily harvested gravimetrically by decreasing the temperature to bring the medium to a solution phase.

3.1 Introduction

The development of methods for high throughput cultivation and efficient harvesting of microalgae has, over the past decades, constituted an active field of research^{1, 2}. Despite major advances, there is still a need to optimize and increase productivity in microalgal cultivation systems in order to make microalgal biofuels production a more viable option^{3, 4}. It is also imperative to improve microalgal harvesting processes which currently account for about thirty percent of total production cost⁵.

Many cultivation methods have been proposed to improve microalgal biomass production. For instance, growth medium modifications with high salt and nutrient deprivation have been used to enhance accumulation of specific chemicals such as lipids and carbohydrates^{6,7}. Furthermore, biofilm and biofouling of microalgae that are often portrayed as challenges for suspended culture have recently been explored as cultivation methods for large scale microalgal biomass production⁸. Among many others, the large decrease in water consumption and the simplification of the harvesting process are considered as two major benefits of biofilm cultivation of microalgae^{9,10}. As for suspended cultivation, constant mixing is usually necessary during the entire cultivation period and the current harvesting methods often involving centrifugation, pumping or electrophoresis techniques are largely energy intensive. The alternatives that have been proposed thus far are yet to resolve the energy consumption issue¹¹.

Motivated by the need for short light path microalgal cultivation systems and the need for energy efficient harvesting technologies, we aimed at exploring a microalgal cultivation and harvesting strategy using the thermoreversible copolymer pluronic. Pluronic is an amphiphilic

68

ABA type copolymer composed of both hydrophobic Polypropylene Oxide (PPO, B) block parts and hydrophilic Polyethylene Oxide (PEO, A) block parts known for its good biocompatibility and low toxicity¹². The applications of this copolymer are highly diversified. For example, the copolymer pluronic F-127 is believed to be a good carrier for drug delivery and is therefore valuable in pharmaceutical formulations¹³. Pluronic has also largely been investigated for its potential in controlling biofouling¹⁴. Moreover, this copolymer is well known for its effectiveness in producing stable surface patterns and can be useful in long term single-cell culture^{15,16}. Note that single-cell cultivation of microalgae has been proposed as a good method for preparing colonies of promising strains for large scale cultivation¹⁷.

The temperature dependent sol-gel transition behavior of the copolymer pluronic along with the largely reported biocompatibility inspired its use in microalgal cultivation. An aqueous solution of pluronic would robustly undergo a phase transition to an elastic gel when heated above a gelation temperature T_g . This gelation process is induced by a thermodynamic self-assembly of the copolymer molecules into an inter-connected micellar network and is reversible, i.e., the gel can be brought back into the solution phase by cooling it below T_g^{18} . Depending on the concentration of the pluronic polymer in the aqueous phase, T_g values range between 15°C to $30^{\circ}C^{19, 20}$. This intersects with the temperature range often used for microalgal cultivation.

The use of pluronic in the development of this medium may help solve several issues related to the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal cultivation systems. First, because this medium would allow microalgae to grow in a confined environment, light delivery to these photosynthetic microorganisms can better be controlled. Second, the very confinement would prevent microalgae from sticking to the wall of photobioreactors which often hinders light penetration in photobioreactors. Ultimately, the gel structure of the medium during the growth

69

period offers a lot of flexibility to divide the systems into short light path layers and also would offer a lot of flexibility when it comes to the orientation and inclination of the cultivation systems to receive the optimal irradiance.

Herein, a thermoreversible Tris-Acetate-Phosphate-Pluronic (TAPP) medium for energy efficient cultivation and harvesting of microalgae is presented. The thermorheological properties of the pluronic-based TAPP medium were systematically characterized to determine the optimal operating conditions for this novel system. These same properties were also characterized after microalgal cultivation to verify whether such properties would not alter significantly due to microalgal proliferation in the system. Further, cultivation experiments are performed using microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and microalgal biomass production in the TAPP medium is assessed both qualitatively and quantitatively. Furthermore, a framework is proposed to efficiently harvest the microalgal biomass produced through relatively small variations of temperature (Figure 3.1). Finally, the microalgal biomass harvesting parameters are characterized and the harvesting efficiency is quantified using the experimental results.



Figure 3.1: Schematic of microalgal cultivation and harvesting process using

thermoreversible sol-gel transition. Microalgal cells are seeded in the TAPP medium in solution phase at 15°C. Then, the temperature is raised at 22°C for gelation of the medium and entrapped microalgal cultivation. After the cultivation period, the temperature is decreased to 15°C allowing microalgal clusters to gravimetrically settle at the bottom. The temperature is finally raised to 25°C and settled microalgal clusters are scraped off the TAPP surface.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 TAPP medium preparation and culture conditions

Pluronic F-127 was obtained from BASF (Ludwigshafen, Germany) and was used without further purification. The chemical composition for this pluronic type is PEO100PPO65PEO100 and the total molecular weight is 12600 g mol⁻¹. PEO and PPO ratio is approximately 2:1 by weight. The pluronic-based growth medium was prepared in a way that maintains a concentration of nutrients similar to the traditional Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium with the addition of pluronic (TAPP medium) that confers the thermoreversible sol-gel transition properties.

The concentrations of chemicals in the TAPP medium were therefore as follows: Tris (19.98 mM), NH₄Cl (7.011 mM), MgSO₄.7H₂O (0.406 mM), CaCl2.2H2O (0.34 mM), K₂HPO₄.3H₂O (0.47 mM), KH₂PO₄ (0.40 mM), acetic acid (0.1 % vol), Hutner's trace (0.1 % vol). Pluronic F-127 powder was dissolved in the medium at 4°C for 5 hours and under vigorous stirring. Note that in the new Tris-Acetate-Phosphate-Pluronic medium, just like in the traditional Tris-Acetate-Phosphate medium, acetate is used as the carbon source for microalgal growth. Final concentrations of pluronic in TAPP media were selected to be 18%, 20% and 22% (weight percent) in order to obtain a range of T_g suitable for the microalgal cultivation and harvesting application.

Cultivation of the wild type microalgae *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* CC-124, obtained from the Chlamydomonas Resource Center (University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota), was performed in the TAPP medium as follows: Aliquots of 0.5 ml from liquid subcultures prepared five days preceding the experiment were mixed with 50 ml of TAPP medium at 15° C (below T_g for all the samples). Subsequently, vials containing microalgal culture were placed on a rotary shaker in a room continuously illuminated by full spectrum compact fluorescent lamps (CFL 60W, Fancierstudio, San Francisco, California) with the photosynthetic active radiation at the top surface of the culture at $100 \pm 5 \ \mu\text{E} \ \text{m}^{-2} \ \text{s}^{-1}$ and the temperature at $22 \pm 1^{\circ}\text{C}$. After seven days of cultivation, the resulting TAPP-microalgae matrix was used for thermorheological characterization and biomass production analyses.

3.2.2 Rheometry

The rheological experiments to characterize the properties of the TAPP medium were performed using a Combined Motor and Transducer AR-G2 rheometer from TA instruments (New Castle, Delaware). The cone-and-plate geometry with a diameter of 40 mm and a cone angle of 0° 59' 49" was used for all the measurements. The temperature control was achieved by a peltier plate using thermoelectric effects to control the temperature accurately and water circulation for rapid heating and cooling over a temperature range of 0 to 100°C. Strain sweep measurements were performed on the TAPP media samples in order to determine the experimental parameters for the linear viscoelastic (LVE) regime in which the elastic and loss moduli were measured using small amplitude oscillatory shear flow experiments. It was found that for all the samples, a 0.5% strain at a frequency of 1 Hz was appropriate for measuring the LVE properties.

3.2.3 Characterization of microalgal biomass production and harvesting

The effects of pluronic presence on microalgal cultivation and biomass production were assessed using different analytical techniques. Microalgal biomass production was evaluated through optical density measurements and gravimetric quantification. Microalgal biomass

73

carbohydrate content was assessed using the phenol-sulfuric acid method²¹. Specifically, 2 mg of dry microalgae was mixed with 2 ml of water. Subsequently, 50 μ l of 80% phenol was added, followed by a rapid addition of 5 ml of concentrated sulfuric acid. The mixture was then placed in a 50°C water bath for 20 minutes. Following this, the absorbance at 490 nm was determined and compared to a standard curve based on glucose.

Lipids content was assessed through a modified Bligh and Dyer method and fluorescence scanning using Nile Red dye^{22,23,24}. Briefly, each microalgal sample was centrifuged (4,800g, 5 min, 20°C) to remove excess water. Cell lysis for lipid release was assured by sonication (Q500 Sonicator, Qsonica, LLC., Newtown, Connecticut) with a 20/10 seconds ON/OFF cycle for 2 minutes; 5 ml of chloroform, 10 ml of methanol and 5 ml of deionized water were then added to the sonicated samples. To facilitate phase separation, the samples were placed on a rotary shaker (100 rpm) for 6 hours and 5 more ml of chloroform and deionized water were then added prior to centrifugation (4,800g, 5min, 20°C). Following this, the lipid rich chloroform layer was removed and dried for gravimetric measurement.

Nile Red fluorescence determination of neutral lipids was also used as a means to verify results obtained by gravimetric quantification. Specifically, microalgal cells were first harvested from the growth medium via centrifugation (4,800g, 5 min, 20°C) and resuspended in water. Following this, 5 ml of this microalgal suspension was stained with 20 μ l of a solution of Nile Red in acetone (0.25 g/l). After 30 minutes, fluorescence scanning (excitation wavelength: 490 nm, emission wavelength: 520-750 nm) was performed using a Fluoromax-4 spectrofluorometer (Horiba, Ltd., Kyoto, Japan).

The impacts of the pluronic-based environment on shape and size of microalgal cells were systematically analyzed using an Axio Imager M1 microscope and a ZEN pro software (Carl Zeiss Inc., Berlin, Germany). These same tools were also used to characterize the distribution of microalgal cells (clusters etc.) in TAPP media with different pluronic concentrations as well as the traditional TAP medium used as control. The shape and size of microalgal clusters were characterized in order to predict the settling velocity for harvesting. The form factor (*FF*) characterizing the deviation from a circle and the equivalent diameter (*De*) of microalgal clusters were computed as presented by Grijspeerdt and Verstraete²⁵:

$$FF = \frac{4*\pi*Area}{Perimeter^2} \tag{1}$$

$$De = 2 * \sqrt{\frac{Area}{\pi}}$$
(2)

The settling velocity (*V*) of microalgal clusters during the harvesting process could be approximated using Stokes' law as long as the form factor concurred with a spherical shape and the Reynold number fell within the Stokes' regime. Under such conditions the settling velocity was calculated as²⁶:

$$V = \frac{(\rho s - \rho l) * g * D e^2}{18\mu}$$
(3)

where ρs and ρl are solid and liquid densities, *g* the acceleration due to gravity, *De* the equivalent diameter and μ the solvent viscosity. The average settling rate was then experimentally monitored by allowing microalgae to settle at 15°C in columns with 10 cm working height and by taking regular optical density measurements (OD₆₇₅) of the broths. To estimate the settling rate, the percent recovery at each measurement time was computed as follows²⁷:

% Recovery =
$$\left(1 - \frac{OD_{675}(t)}{OD_{675}(to)}\right) * 100$$
 (4)

where $OD_{675}(t)$ is the optical density of the broth after a settling time (*t*) and $OD_{675}(to)$ the optical density at the beginning of the settling experiment or time (*to*).

3.2.4 Statistical analyses

The microalgal cultivation and harvesting experiments and the related biochemical and rheological analyses mentioned previously were repeated at least 10 times with triplicate measurements for each run. Statistical analyses over the data collected were performed using Minitab software. The results with P-Value less than 0.05 (t-test) were considered statistically significant.

3.3 Results and discussion

3.3.1 Rheological characterization of the TAPP medium

In order to obtain a range of pluronic concentrations that can confer the suitable properties necessary for the proposed thermoreversible microalgal cultivation and harvesting system, TAPP media with different pluronic concentrations were prepared and were subjected to rheological testing. Specifically, the linear viscoelastic properties, namely the storage (G') and loss (G") moduli were measured as a function of temperature T using a small amplitude oscillatory shear flow experiment. The storage and loss moduli are material functions characterizing the response from a small amplitude oscillatory shear flow. The storage modulus (G') relating the elastic property of the material represents the portion of the stress wave that is in phase with the strain wave whereas the loss modulus (G") relating the viscous property of the material represents the portion of the stress wave that is out of phase with the strain wave. Therefore, when the TAPP medium is in the viscous solution phase, G'' >> G'. The gel point T_g (or the critical micellation temperature, CMT) is defined as the temperature for which $G' = G''^{28}$. For $T > T_g$, G' exceeds G" and reaches a plateau. Further, the zero-shear viscosity η_0 , i.e., viscosity of the samples under very small shear rates (near-equilibrium conditions), was also measured. Gelation is accompanied by a sharp increase in η_0 .

Typical results for G', G" and η_0 obtained from dynamic temperature ramp experiments are reported in Figure 3.2. For low T, the moduli of pluronic-based media are relatively low. It is in fact known that, at low T, pluronic in water solution tends to adopt the form of a unimer²⁹. Therefore, low entanglement between the chains would lead to low moduli. As the temperature was increased, the breakage of hydrogen bonds and aggregation of hydrophobic PPO blocks stimulated gelation and led to sharp increases in the moduli (by up to six orders of magnitude)³⁰. The gel points T_g were found to be 20.1°C, 21.8°C and 23.9°C respectively for the 22, 20 and 18 weight percent pluronic in TAPP media samples (Figure3.2a). The decrease in T_g with increasing concentration can be attributed to an increase in molecular entanglements with increasing concentration³¹. The viscosity profiles of the pluronic-based media exhibited a behavior similar to that of the moduli during the temperature ramp experiment where the viscosity increases significantly for $T > T_g$ (Fig. 2b). This is likely due to the fact that with an increase in temperature the polymer chains dehydrate and begin to cross-link leading to a closely packed polymeric network^{32,33}. Accordingly, the mesh size of the network decreases with increasing temperature and increasing pluronic concentrations with values ranging from tens to thousands of nanometers³⁴.



Figure 3.2: Thermorheological properties of the TAPP medium. (**a**) Storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature, (**b**) viscosity profile of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature, (**c**) storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature and (**d**) viscosity profile of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample as a function of temperature.

3.3.2 Microalgal biomass production in the TAPP medium

The wild type microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* CC-124 was allowed to grow in the TAPP media with 3 different pluronic concentrations (18, 20 and 22 weight percent) and a traditional well-mixed TAP medium culture, used as a control. Therefore, at the operating temperature (22°C), the 18% TAPP medium would still be in early micellation stage (i.e., a viscous liquid), the 20% TAPP medium would be close to T_{g} (i.e., a soft gel) and the 22% TAPP sample in an elastic solid-like state. The initial microalgal biomass concentration for all the samples was set to 0.1 g l^{-1} . Microalgal growth was assessed through optical density (OD₆₇₅) analyses and gravimetric measurements. Microalgal biomass concentrations, after a seven day cultivation period, were found to be 3.1 ± 0.2 g l⁻¹, 2.9 ± 0.3 g l⁻¹, 2.8 ± 0.4 g l⁻¹ and 2.9 ± 0.4 g l⁻¹ ¹, respectively for the well-mixed TAP medium control, the 18% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 22% TAPP samples (P > 0.05) (Figure 3.3a). The content in lipid and carbohydrate of the microalgal biomass generated did not vary significantly (P > 0.05) under these four conditions (Figure 3.3b). These results indicate that microalgae grow well in the TAPP medium with no statistically significant variations in the composition of the generated biomass unlike those commonly observed in many other experiments with growth medium modification⁶. Microalgal growth was also tested in a pluronic-based medium with an inorganic carbon source. Towards this end, microalgae were grown in a minimum medium enriched with 20 mM of sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO₃) and 22% (weight) pluronic. Note that this medium had the same composition as the TAPP medium except that in this case sodium bicarbonate was used as the carbon source in lieu of acetic acid. Under the same culture conditions, the pluronic-based medium with inorganic carbon source led to a microalgal biomass production of 1.7 ± 0.3 g l⁻¹ whereas a control minimum medium enriched with 20 mM of sodium bicarbonate not containing pluronic led to a microalgal biomass production of 1.9 ± 0.2 g l⁻¹ (P>0.05). This proves that pluronic-based media with organic as well as inorganic carbon sources are conducive for the growth of microalgae.

The shape and size of microalgal cells confined in the TAPP media were assessed through microscopic analyses. While there was no significant change (P > 0.05) in the shape of the cells, their size decreased significantly (P < 0.05) when growing in the TAPP medium. Average cell diameters were found to be $8.1 \pm 0.6 \mu m$, $6.9 \pm 0.5 \mu m$, $6.7 \pm 0.4 \mu m$ and $6.3 \pm 0.5 \mu m$, respectively for growth in the well-mixed TAP medium control, the 18% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 22% TAPP samples (Figure 3.3c). This decrease in cell size could be attributed to confinement of the microalgal cells by the surrounding polymeric network. In fact, at the operating conditions, the three TAPP samples were at different micellation stages and their elastic moduli and mesh sizes exhibited significant differences, which corroborate the observed variation in cell size³⁴. Nonetheless, the decrease in cell size does not undermine the fact that the thermoreversible polymer pluronic F-127 can be used in microalgal cultivation since the biomass productivity and composition did not exhibit any significant differences from the control.



Figure 3.3: Microalgal biomass production in the TAPP medium. (**a**) Microalgal biomass generation (g l⁻¹), (**b**) weight percentage of lipid and carbohydrate in microalgal biomass and (**c**) average diameter of microalgal cells growing in the well-mixed TAP control, the 18% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 22% TAPP. Bars represent means of 30 measurements and error bars are one S.D.

3.3.3 Influence of microalgal proliferation on the thermorheological behavior of the TAPP medium

The effects of proliferation of microalgal cells on the thermorheological properties of the TAPP medium were also assessed since large variations on such properties might impact its applicability in microalgal cultivation and harvesting. For this reason, rheological measurements were made on the microalgae-TAPP matrix resulting from the seven day cultivation period. It was observed that, with all three pluronic concentrations (22, 20 and 18 weight percent pluronic), there was a slight decrease in T_g in presence of microalgal cells. Specifically, T_g decreased from 20.1°C to 19.2°C, 21.8°C to 20.9°C and 23.7°C to 22.8°C respectively for the 18% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 22% TAPP samples (Figure 4a, 4b). This is likely due to the hydrophobic interactions between microalgal cell walls and the hydrophobic PPO blocks of the pluronic molecules resulting in an acceleration of the miceroalgal cultivation process³⁵. Nonetheless the decrease in the T_g is relatively small and does not affect the microalgal cultivation and harvesting.



Figure 3.4: Effects of microalgal proliferation on the thermorheological behavior of the TAPP medium. (a) Storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature, (b) viscosity profile of the 22% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature, (c) storage modulus (circle) and loss modulus (star) of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature, (d) viscosity profile of the 18% pluronic in TAPP sample, with (blue) and without (red) microalgae, as a function of temperature.

3.3.4 Harvesting and recultivation of microalgae using thermoreversible sol-gel transition

One of the major advantages of the TAPP medium is the potential for a simple and efficient microalgal harvesting process resulting from the robust thermoreversible sol-gel transition. Specifically, the fact that this transition is completely reversible allows one to control confinement and/or settlement of microalgae through relatively small changes in the system temperature. As illustrated in the schematic (Figure 3.1), the cultivation and harvesting experiment involved seeding microalgae at a temperature where the TAPP medium is still in a solution phase and increasing the temperature beyond (or around) T_g to allow microalgal cells to grow in a confined environment. After a fixed cultivation chamber, thereby allowing for a *gravimetric separation of* the microalgal cells from the culture medium. Subsequently, the temperature was increased to a temperature above T_g to jellify the supernatant. At this time, the harvesting of the microalgal clusters settled at the bottom would simply require to open the bottom cap and scrape the microalgal flocs off the TAPP surface.

The distribution of microalgal cells within the TAPP medium was an important parameter for the proposed harvesting technique. We hypothesized that under the selected cultivation conditions microalgal cells would be distributed in clusters due to confinement effects as opposed to randomly distributed cells as it is the case in a well-mixed TAP suspension. The morphology of the clusters would impact the velocity with which they settle during the gravimetric separation stage of the process with spherically shaped clusters settling faster than anisotropic ones²⁵. Furthermore, there is a direct correlation between the size of the clusters and

85

the settling velocity, both according to Stokes' law or the empirical formulae often used to determine settling velocity beyond the Stokes regime²⁶.

The distribution of microalgal cells was assessed through random selection of images captured with an Axio Imager M1 microscope (Carl Zeiss Inc., Berlin, Germany) on each batch of microalgal culture. The images were then processed and the shape and size of cells and clusters were characterized with a Zen pro software (Carl Zeiss Inc., Berlin, Germany). As hypothesized, microalgal cells from the TAPP system were observed to be organized into clusters (Figure 3.5c) whereas those from the control (TAP medium) were visualized as randomly dispersed cells (Figure 3.5b). The average form factor of the microalgal clusters was found to be $0.98 \pm 0.02 \,\mu\text{m}$ which suggests nearly-spherical clusters and justifies the use of Stokes' law to predict the settling velocity. The average equivalent diameter of the clusters was found to be $78 \pm 9 \,\mu\text{m}$ compared to an $8.1 \pm 0.6 \,\mu\text{m}$ average diameter for isolated cells in the well-mixed TAP medium. Considering the viscosity measured during the rheological characterization, the settling velocity was calculated according to Stokes' law and averaged a value of $2.6 \pm 6 \,\text{m}$ day⁻¹ which is about ten times greater than the estimated settling velocity of isolated microalgal cells in TAP medium ($0.27 \pm 0.03 \,\text{m}$ day⁻¹).

To verify the settling rate experimentally, microalgae were allowed to settle at 15°C in tubes with 10 cm working height after the seven day cultivation period. The optical density (OD_{675}) of the TAPP broth was measured at regular intervals and the variation in microalgal biomass concentration was compared against a TAP broth used as control. The optical density measurements during the settling assay were used to compute the percentage recovery through settling over time. It was found that over a 2-hour period, $89 \pm 5\%$ of microalgal clusters in the TAPP broth were recovered through settling compared to $34 \pm 3\%$ for isolated cells in the TAP

broth for the 10 cm working height (Figure 3.5a). It is clear that these experimental results exhibited slower biomass recovery compared to the predictions using Stokes' law. Similar deviations of experimental data from predicted settling rate are often reported and may be due to the large heterogeneity of cluster and cell sizes³⁶ as well as due to hydrodynamic interactions among the clusters that modify the underlying flow field in the settling column. Nonetheless our experiments offer clear corroboration for a higher settling velocity of microalgal clusters in the TAPP medium compared to that of dispersed microalgal cells in the TAP medium.

To evaluate the harvesting efficiency through scraping of microalgae off the surface of the jellified TAPP system, two-capped containers may be used or one-capped containers may be flipped upside down before the decrease in temperature for clusters settling. The percentage of microalgae harvested was assessed through gravimetric measurements on the harvested biomass and also through optical density measurements on the remaining broth. The harvesting efficiency was then computed as the percent difference between microalgal concentrations of the broths prior and after harvesting. It was found that $89 \pm 2\%$, $88 \pm 3\%$ and $86 \pm 2\%$ of microalgae were harvested respectively for the 22% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 18% TAPP samples.

Another advantage of the TAPP medium is the potential for recycling and reuse of the medium for recultivation of microalgae after the harvesting process. The thermoreversible solgel transition properties of the TAPP medium are not altered after cultivation and harvesting of microalgae. Therefore, recultivation of microalgae in the recycled TAPP medium simply requires a replenishment of nutrients based on the nutrient uptake in the preceding microalgal culture^{37,38,39}. This is very important and would ensure a sustainable use of pluronic but also would decrease the operating cost associated with using the TAPP system. This recycling

potential of the medium was confirmed by recycling and reusing the TAPP medium for the recultivation of microalgae in a three cultivation cycles experiment.

After each cultivation cycle, the microalgal biomass was quantified and harvested and the TAPP growth medium was recycled and reused for another cultivation. Starting with the same initial biomass concentration in each microalgal cultivation cycle, final microalgal biomass concentrations were found to be 2.8 ± 0.2 g l⁻¹, 2.3 ± 0.3 g l⁻¹ and 2.5 ± 0.3 g l⁻¹ respectively for the first, second and third cultivation cycles.



Figure 3.5: Characterization of microalgal settling. (a) Percentage of microalgal biomass recovery through settling determined through results from optical density measurements at regular intervals. Data points represent means of 30 measurements and error bars are one S.D.
(b) Image of microalgal cells in the well-mixed TAP medium and (c) image of microalgal cell clusters in the TAPP medium. Scale bars are 50 μm.

3.4 Conclusions

In summary, a Tris-Acetate-Phosphate-Pluronic medium with thermoreversible sol-gel transition properties was developed for energy efficient cultivation and harvesting of microalgae. The thermorheological properties of the medium and the effects of microalgal proliferation on such properties were experimentally characterized to offer a framework for designing of robust microalgal cultivation and harvesting systems using the thermoreversible copolymer pluronic. Microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii was successfully cultivated in the TAPP medium and led to production of microalgal biomass with similar productivity, lipid and carbohydrate composition to that obtained from cultivation in a traditional well-mixed TAP suspension medium. In fact, starting with a same initial biomass concentration of 0.1 g l^{-1} , microalgal biomass concentrations of 3.1 ± 0.2 g l⁻¹, 2.9 ± 0.3 g l⁻¹, 2.8 ± 0.4 g l⁻¹ and 2.9 ± 0.4 g l⁻¹, were obtained respectively with the well-mixed TAP medium control, the 18% TAPP, the 20% TAPP and the 22% TAPP samples after a seven day cultivation period (P > 0.05). The harvesting process of the microalgal biomass produced was highly simplified with the TAPP system. In fact, confinement of microalgal cells in the pluronic matrix led to a near-spherical cluster distribution that could increase their settling velocity by a factor of ten as compared to that of individual cells in well-mixed TAP medium. This allowed for an *energy efficient gravimetric* separation of the biomass from the culture medium. Through thermal cycles with relatively small variations in temperature within 7°C, microalgal clusters were allowed to settle and harvesting of microalgae simply involved scraping the microalgal clusters off the surface of the jellified TAPP medium. These findings confirm that microalgae can be efficiently cultured in the TAPP system which does not require constant mixing like in typical solution broths. Moreover, this new process is capable of efficiently harvesting about ninety percent of the microalgal

biomass produced with little energy input and is biocompatible. All of the above cultivation and harvesting features were also successfully verified with a pluronic-based medium with an inorganic carbon source to demonstrate that such thermoreversible media can be used for photoheterotrophic as well as photoautotrophic cultivation of microalgae. Further, this new way of growing microalgae has the potential to greatly improve light absorption in microalgal photobioreactor by preventing microalgae from sticking to the wall of photobioreactors which often hinders light penetration, by allowing the development of short light path systems or by allowing flexible orientation of the cultivation systems for optimal light absorption. It is envisioned that thermoreversible TAPP-like systems could find further applications in microalgal biomass production for biofouling control and single-cell cultivation^{14,15,16}. Future studies to continue this work may include potential functionalization of the copolymer in order to minimize the concentration necessary to confer the required thermorheological properties. Other studies may also be undertaken to elucidate the interactions of different microalgal species and strains with the pluronic matrix and to further characterize the microalgal clusters obtained through confinement in the TAPP matrix.
3.5 References

- 1. Lam, M. K. & Lee, K. T. Microalgae biofuels: a critical review of issues, problems and the way forward. *Biotechnology Advances*, 2012. 30(3), 673-690.
- Schenk, P. M. *et. al.* Second generation biofuels: high-efficiency microalgae for biodiesel production. *Bioenergy Research*, 2008. 1(1), 20-43.
- Ho, S. H., Ye, X., Hasunuma, T., Chang, J. S. & Kondo, A. Perspectives on engineering strategies for improving biofuel production from microalgae–A critical review. *Biotechnology Advances*, 2014. 32, 1448-1459.
- Amaro, H. M., Guedes, A. C., & Malcata, F. X. Advances and perspectives in using microalgae to produce biodiesel. *Applied Energy*, 2011. 88(10), 3402-3410.
- Pragya, N., Pandey, K. K., & Sahoo, P. K. A review on harvesting, oil extraction and biofuels production technologies from microalgae. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 2013. 24, 159-171
- Markou, G. & Nerantzis, E. Microalgae for high-value compounds and biofuels production: A review with focus on cultivation under stress conditions. *Biotechnology Advances, 2013.* 31, 1532-1542.
- 7. Siaut, M. *et. al.* Oil accumulation in the model green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii*: characterization, variability between common laboratory strains and relationship with starch reserves. *BMC Biotechnology*, 2011. 11:7.
- Gross, M., Henry, W., Michael, C., & Wen, Z. Development of a rotating algal biofilm growth system for attached microalgae growth with in situ biomass harvest. *Bioresource Technology*, 2013. 150, 195-201.

- 9. Berner, F., Heimann, K., & Sheehan, M. Microalgal biofilms for biomass production. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 2015. 27(5), 1793-1804
- Christenson, L. B., & Sims, R. C. Rotating algal biofilm reactor and spool harvester for wastewater treatment with biofuels by-products. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, 2012. 109(7), 1674-1684.
- 11. Chen, C. Y., Yeh, K. L., Aisyah, R., Lee, D. J., & Chang, J. S. Cultivation, photobioreactor design and harvesting of microalgae for biodiesel production: a critical review. *Bioresource Technology*, 2011. 102(1), 71-81.
- Li, J. T., & Caldwell, K. D. Plasma protein interactions with Pluronic[™]-treated colloids. Colloids Surf., B: *Biointerfaces*, 1996. 7(1), 9-22.
- Escobar-Chávez, J. J. *et.al.* Applications of thermo-reversible pluronic F-127 gels in pharmaceutical formulations. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 2006. 9(3), 339-58.
- 14. Yang, Y., Poleunis, C., Románszki, L., Telegdi, J., & Dupont-Gillain, C. C. Adsorption of a PEO–PPO–PEO triblock copolymer on metal oxide surfaces with a view to reducing protein adsorption and further biofouling. *Biofouling*, 2013. 29(9), 1123-1137.
- Cheng, Q., Li, S., & Komvopoulos, K. Plasma-assisted surface chemical patterning for single-cell culture. *Biomaterials*, 2009. 30(25), 4203-4210.
- 16. Corbin, E. A., Dorvel, B. R., Millet, L. J., King, W. P., & Bashir, R. Micro-patterning of mammalian cells on suspended MEMS resonant sensors for long-term growth measurements. *Lab on a Chip*, 2014. 14(8), 1401-1404.

- Choi, J. S. *et.al.* Capture and culturing of single microalgae cells, and retrieval of colonies using a perforated hemispherical microwell structure. *RSC. Advances*, 2014. 4(106), 61298-61304.
- Jeong, B., Kim, S. W., & Bae, Y. H. Thermosensitive sol–gel reversible hydrogels. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*, 2002. 54(1), 37-51.
- Lenaerts, V., Triqueneaux, C., Quartern, M., Rieg-Falson, F., & Couvreur, P. Temperature-dependent rheological behavior of Pluronic F-127 aqueous solutions. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 1987. 39(1-2), 121-127.
- 20. Trong, L. C. P., Djabourov, M., & Ponton, A. Mechanisms of micellization and rheology of PEO–PPO–PEO triblock copolymers with various architectures. *Journal of Colloid Interface Science*, 2008. 328(2), 278-287.
- 21. Dubois, M., Gilles, K.A., Hamilton, J.K., Rebers P.A. & Smith F. A colorimetric method for the determination of sugars. *Analytical Chemistry*, *1956*. *28*, *350-356*.
- 22. Estime, B., Ren, D., & Sureshkumar, R. Effects of plasmonic film filters on microalgal growth and biomass composition. *Algal Research*, 2015. 11, 85-89.
- 23. Bligh, E.G. & Dyer, W.M. A rapid method of lipid extraction and purification. *Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology*, 1959. 37, 911–917.
- 24. Lee, S.J., Yoon, B. & Oh, H. Rapid method for the determination of lipid from the green alga *Botryococcus braunii*. *Biotechnology Techniques*, 1998. 12, 553-556.
- 25. Grijspeerdt, K., & Verstraete, W. Image analysis to estimate the settleability and concentration of activated sludge. *Water Research*, *1997*. *31*(*5*), *1126-1134*.

- 26. Smith, S. J., & Friedrichs, C. T. Size and settling velocities of cohesive flocs and suspended sediment aggregates in a trailing suction hopper dredge plume. *Continental Shelf Research*, 2011. 31(10), S50-S63.
- 27. Jakob, G. *et. al.* Triggered exocytosis of the protozoan Tetrahymena as a source of bioflocculation and a controllable dewatering method for efficient harvest of microalgal cultures. *Algal Research*, 2016. 13, 148-158.
- Habas, J. P., Pavie, E., Lapp, A., & Peyrelasse, J. Understanding the complex rheological behavior of PEO–PPO–PEO copolymers in aqueous solution. *Journal of Rheology*, 2004. 48(1), 1-21.
- Prud'homme, R. K., Wu, G., & Schneider, D. K. Structure and rheology studies of poly (oxyethylene-oxypropylene-oxyethylene) aqueous solution. *Langmuir*, 1996. 12(20), 4651-4659.
- 30. Attwood, D., Collett, J. H., & Tait, C. J. The micellar properties of the poly (oxyethylene)-poly (oxypropylene) copolymer Pluronic F127 in water and electrolyte solution. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 1985. 26(1), 25-33.
- Pham, Q. T., Russel, W. B., Thibeault, J. C., & Lau, W. Micellar solutions of associative triblock copolymers: The relationship between structure and rheology. *Macromolecules*, 1999. 32(15), 5139-5146.
- Matthew, J. E., Nazario, Y. L., Roberts, S. C., & Bhatia, S. R. Effect of mammalian cell culture medium on the gelation properties of Pluronic® F127. *Biomaterials*, 2002. 23(23), 4615-4619.

- 33. Lee, S. Y., & Tae, G. Formulation and in vitro characterization of an in situ gelable, photo-polymerizable Pluronic hydrogel suitable for injection. *Journal of Controlled Release*, 2007. 119(3), 313-319.
- MacKintosh, F. C., Käs, J., & Janmey, P. A. Elasticity of semiflexible biopolymer networks. *Physical Review Letters*, 1995. 75(24), 4425.
- 35. Li, Y., Rodrigues, J., & Tomás, H. Injectable and biodegradable hydrogels: gelation, biodegradation and biomedical applications. *Chemical Society Reviews*, 2012. 41(6), 2193-2221.
- 36. Milledge, J. J., & Heaven, S. A review of the harvesting of micro-algae for biofuel production. *Review and Environmental Science and Biotechnology*, 2013. 12(2), 165-178.
- González-López, C. V. *et. al.* Medium recycling for Nannochloropsis gaditana cultures for aquaculture. *Bioresource Technology*, 2013. 129, 430-438.
- 38. Kropat, J. *et. al.* A revised mineral nutrient supplement increases biomass and growth rate in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii. *The Plant Journal*, 2011. 66(5), 770-780.
- 39. Çakmak, Z. E., Ölmez, T. T., Çakmak, T., Menemen, Y., & Tekinay, T. Induction of triacylglycerol production in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii: Comparative analysis of different element regimes. *Bioresource Technology*, 2014. 155, 379-387.

CHAPTER 4

Controlling light delivery through manipulation of microalgal cells attachment on the surface of photobioreactors

Abstract

The ability to manipulate the adhesion of microalgal cells to the surface of photobioreactors would be largely beneficial to large scale microalgal biomass production whether for enhanced microalgal adhesion on biofilm-based photobioreactors or for a decrease of biofilm formation that hinders light penetration in enclosed and suspension-based microalgal cultivation systems. In this work, the adhesion of microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii on micropatterned surfaces was studied. Based on the results of our experiments it can be inferred that the adhesion of such microalgae was largely decreased on surfaces that were patterned with protruding squares of length smaller than the diameter of the cells and a valley distance largely smaller than the diameter of the cells, as compared to a smooth surface. It was also proven that microalgal adhesion was greatly increased when the size of the protruding squares and the valley length were slightly bigger than the diameter of the cells. An adhesion enhancement factor was computed to specify how surface micropatterning affects the total microalgal adhesion and it was found that for valley distance larger than the cells diameter, this adhesion enhancement factor decreased with increasing valley distances between protruding squares and the effects of surface micropatterning became almost non-significant when the valley distance approached 100 µm. Further, no critical protruding square size for maximal adhesion over the top of such protruding squares was found, like it has been reported for rod-like shaped E. coli cells.

4.1 Introduction

Bioadhesion to solid surfaces has for decades been extensively studied ¹. The interest in this topic has risen due to the largely reported adverse impacts of biofouling and biofilm. The contamination of medical devices and the resulting effects on human health due to bacterial biofilm formation have raised big concerns since the early 1980s ¹⁻³. Algal biofouling in marine environment causes corrosion or other functioning problems to human-made structures encompassing ships, fishing nets, bridges, pipelines and hydrotechnical constructions ⁴. Microbial biofilm formation has also been portrayed as an industrial challenge affecting, among others, fluid transport and heat transfer efficiency ⁵.

In the context of microalgal biomass production, adhesion of microalgae to surfaces can be perceived as desirable or undesirable depending on the cultivation mode. In enclosed and suspended microalgal cultivation systems, biofilm development hinders light penetration and therefore decreases the growth rate and the production of valuable photosynthetic compounds ⁶. It can further lead to mechanical functioning issues to the microalgal biomass production installations ⁵. On the other hand, microalgal biofilm has recently been largely investigated as a good cultivation method for large scale microalgal biomass production. With the biofilm cultivation systems, the light path is much shorter, a higher biomass concentration is often obtained, less volume of water is used and harvesting of the microalgal biomass produced is less complicated and more energy efficient ^{7,8}. Therefore, efforts to study bioadhesion, biofouling or biofilm formation related to microalgal biomass production should be carried out with the goal of acquiring the ability to control the enhancement or the inhibition of bioadhesion as desired based on the cultivation mode. There is a long history of strategy development to decrease bioadhesion to solid surfaces. One of the earliest technique consisted of the use of antifouling coatings to protect marine vessels ⁹. Environmental concerns raised by the effects of antifouling substances containing lead, arsenic, mercury and some harmful organic compounds soon necessitated legislations to restrict the use of certain coating materials ^{10,11}. Although nowadays several environmentally benign and natural compounds to prevent bioadhesion have been proposed, their use in large scale industrial application is yet to be a reality ¹². Another strategy to prevent bioadhesion involves the use of modern microbiological techniques to understand the physiological and biochemical activities governing the biofouling processes. This allows the creation of enzymes that degrade biofilmforming quorum sensing signals, inhibit microbial signaling and regulatory cascades or degrade the biofilm matrix ¹³⁻¹⁵.

Another approach to control bioadhesion takes into account the size, shape and surface properties of the adhering organism as well as the surface properties of the solid materials ¹⁶. There is a wide range of studies that have proven the impacts of surface modification on bioadhesion ¹⁷. Some of the experiments use biomimetics to inspire from how marine organisms protect their surfaces against biofouling. For instance, Chung *et. al.* demonstrated that sharklet microtopography successfully disrupted *S. aureus* biofilm formation ¹⁸.

A few theories have been developed or extended to design surface microtopographic patterns for controlling bioadhesion. For example, the Wenzel theory and the Cassie theory describing respectively the adhesion or non-adhesion of a water droplet, based on the surface roughness, have been extended to the study of bioadhesion to surfaces ¹⁹⁻²¹. The attachment point theory has also been largely used. This last theory preconizes that cell attachment would be

reduced on surfaces with texture below the size of the cell while attachment would be increased when the surface texture provides multiple numbers of attachments ²².

More recently, Gu *et. al.* based on their work with *E. coli* to propose four principles for designing antifouling surface topography ²³. The first one recommends a minimum topographic feature's height to prevent cells' flagella from reaching into the grooves of patterned surface. The second suggests a critical area of the plateaus that can prevent significant biofilm formation on top of the plateaus. The third principle proposes a certain gap between the topographic features to prevent cells from falling in the grooves or bridging over the gap. Finally, the last principle preconizes the use of features with more edges or specific curvatures to minimize the interactions between the cells that get in the grooves.

The study herein aimed at applying some of these microtopographic strategies to study the adhesion of microalgae to surfaces in order to propose microtopographic design guidelines to decrease or enhance microalgal biofilm formation as needed. The microalgal species *C*. *reinhardtii* was selected because its characteristics have been well studied and it has shown great potential for genetic engineering manipulations to booster the production of targeted compounds for biofuels production. Strains with different characteristics were considered and their adhesion on PDMS patterned surfaces were analyzed and discussed to propose some cues to control bioadhesion of such species through surface engineering.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Microalgal strains and culture conditions

The wild type microalga *C. reinhardtii* CC-124, the motility impaired mutant CC-1036 and the cell wall deficient mutant CC-503 used in this study were all obtained from the Chlamydomonas Resource Center (University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota). Prior to the adhesion experiments, these strains were inoculated with a Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium in conical flasks placed on a rotary shaker (150 rpm). The culture room was continuously illuminated by full spectrum compact fluorescent lamps (CFL 60W, Fancierstudio, San Francisco, California) with the photosynthetic active radiation at the top surface of the culture at $75 \pm 5 \ \mu E \ m^{-2} \ s^{-1}$ and the temperature at $22 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C. The microalgal growth was monitored through optical density (OD₆₇₅) measurements. At early indication of the exponential growth phase (usually the fourth day), aliquots of microalgal culture were withheld and used for the adhesion experiments.

4.2.2 Preparation of PDMS surfaces with microtopographic features

Silicon wafers with patterned features fabricated via photolithography and soft lithography were used to prepare the PDMS (Poly di methyl siloxane) patterned surfaces. A detailed description of the fabrication procedures of these patterned wafers was presented by Hou *et. al.*²⁴. In this study, patterned surfaces with different protruding square sizes (5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, 100 μ m) were considered to study the effects of protruding square size on microalgal adhesion. For each size of protruding square, the distance between protruding squares was varied (2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, 100 μ m) to explore how the gap between protruding features impacts the adhesion of microalgal cells. PDMS patterned surfaces were prepared by mixing the silicone elastomer base and the curing agent at a 10:1 ratio. This mixture was

degassed and then poured onto the patterned wafer and was incubated at 50 °C for 24 hours. Following this, the wafer containing the patterned PDMS surface was cooled down at room temperature and the PDMS surface was peeled off and stored for the adhesion experiment.

4.2.3 Microalgal adhesion analysis

For the microalgal adhesion experiment, the prepared PDMS surfaces were soaked in ethanol for 24 hours. Then, the PDMS surfaces were placed in Petri-dishes and dried at 50°C for five hours. Subsequently, 25 ml of TAP medium was added to each petri-dish containing a sterile PDMS surface and 0.3 ml of microalgal subculture was added. The desired microalgal strain was allowed to grow for five days to allow enough time for significant growth and microalgal adhesion to the surface. Then, the PDMS surfaces were washed cautiously in 0.85% NaCl buffer to remove the cells that are not attached to the surface. Finally, the PDMS surfaces were placed on microscopic glass slides and microalgal adhesion was analyzed using an Axio Imager M1 microscope and a ZEN pro software (Carl Zeiss Inc., Berlin, Germany).

Eight different protruding square sizes (5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, 100 μ m) and nine gap distances (2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 30, 40, 50, 100 μ m) were considered. This gives a total of 72 combinations (protruding square/gap). To elucidate potential adhesion trends and compare attachment over the top of protruding squares and on the valley between protruding squares, five pictures were randomly taken for each configuration and the number of cells attached over the top of the protruding squares or over the valley between them were hand-counted and normalized by the surface area considered. Each experiment was repeated 3 times. Thus a total of 1080 pictures were analyzed for each microalgal strain.



Figure 4.1. Image of microalgae attached on patterned surfaces. (A) Adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μ m length and 2 μ m valley width, (B) adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μ m length and 5 μ m valley width, (C) adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares of 30 μ m length and 20 μ m valley width and (D) adhesion of microalgae on patterned surfaces with protruding squares with protruding squares of 30 μ m length and 30 μ m valley width.

4.3 Results and discussion

The adhesion of microalgal cells was investigated using micropatterned surfaces fabricated using a same ratio of poly dimethyl siloxane and its curing agent. This allowed to study the effects of surface texture at a microscopic scale on microalgal adhesion while the surface chemistry was maintained as a fixed parameter. The micropatterned surfaces with protruding squares of different sizes and different valley distances between the protruding squares were compared to smooth PDMS surfaces used as control. The number of microalgal cells attached on the surface divided by the unit surface area considered was used as a metric to characterize microalgal adhesion over the top of protruding squares, over the valley of patterned surfaces or over the smooth surfaces.

Before assessing the impacts of different pattern features on microalgal adhesion to PDMS surfaces, it was important to characterize certain features of the microalgal cells used since they could potentially impact the adhesion. Specifically, the wild type *C. reinhardtii* CC-124 is a spherical microorganism with a rigid cell wall ²⁵. At the exponential growth phase, the diameter of microalgal cells was measured using an Axio Imager M1 microscope and a ZEN pro software (Carl Zeiss Inc., Berlin, Germany). The average diameter of the wild type *C. reinhardtii* CC-124 measured in such conditions was found to be $8.1 \pm 0.6 \mu m$.

The impact of patterned surfaces was studied by assessing the impact of valley distance and protruding square sizes separately. Before evaluating the role the valley distance and the protruding square size play in the adhesion of microalgal cells on patterned surfaces compared to smooth surfaces, it is important to state the preferential adhesion trend observed through the experiments with patterned surfaces. As it can be seen in figure 4.1, when the valley distance of the patterned surfaces was large enough for microalgal cells to penetrate, there was a net

prevalence of adhesion on the valleys of the patterned surfaces as opposed to the tops of the protruding squares. This was proven to be true for every distance of the valleys and independently of the size of the protruding squares over the range of values considered in this work. The preferential adhesion of organisms on the valley of microtopographic features has been reported for different organisms or microtopographic features and is often attributed to the lower energy requirement for adhesion on valleys of microtopographic features²⁶.



Figure 4.2. Preferential adhesion on valleys of patterned surfaces. (A) Protruding squares of 15 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm,15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, (B) Protruding squares of 30 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm,15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, (C) Protruding squares of 50 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm,15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, (C) Protruding squares of 50 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm,15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm, 70 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm length with valley distances of 2 μm, 5 μm, 10 μm, 15 μm, 20 μm, 30 μm, 40 μm, 50 μm and 100 μm. Bars represent the average of 15 measurements and errors are one S.D.

4.3.1 Effects of valley width on microalgal adhesion over the valleys of patterns

To study the effects of valley distances on microalgal adhesion over the valleys of the patterned surfaces, valley distances of 2 μ m, 5 μ m, 10 μ m, 15 μ m, 20 μ m, 30 μ m, 40 μ m, 50 μ m and 100 μ m were considered separately with different protruding square sizes. Note that the average microalgal cell diameter was 8.1 ± 0.6 μ m. Figure 4.3 illustrates the adhesion of microalgae with different valley distances. The average adhesion of microalgae on smooth surfaces is also presented as a control to illustrate the role that the valley distance plays in the adhesion. First, for a valley distance of 2 μ m, the adhesion over the valleys of the patterned surfaces was suppressed because microalgal cells could not penetrate into the valley. Later on, the impact of such valley size on the total adhesion, *i*,*e*, the adhesion over the valleys of the pattern and the adhesion over the top of the protruding squares combined, will be analyzed through the total adhesion enhancement factor considerations.

For the valley distance of 5 μ m, although the average microalgal cell diameter (8.1 ± 0.6 μ m) measured at the exponential phase was greater than the valley distance, there was significant microalgal adhesion in the valley. The average adhesion per unit of valley area was 0.002± 0.0006 cells/ μ m² whereas the average adhesion unit area on a smooth surface was 0.0015 ± 0.0006 cells/ μ m². An interesting observation was the consistent change on the shape of the microalgal cells attached in the 5 μ m valley (figure 4.1). The size of these microalgal cells were measured and the form factor (*FF*) characterizing the deviation from the typical spherical shape along with the equivalent diameter (*De*) of the microalgal cells were computed as presented by Grijspeerdt and Verstraete²⁷:

$$FF = \frac{4*\pi*Area}{Perimeter^2} \tag{1}$$

$$De = 2 * \sqrt{\frac{Area}{\pi}} \tag{2}$$

The average form factor was found to be 0.82 ± 0.02 which corroborates a clear change in the shape of these microalgal cells compared to the spherical cells attached elsewhere with a form factor of approximately 1.00. There are two potential explanations of the adhesion of microalgal cells on such small valley distance and the non-spherical shape of the adhering microalgal cells. First, due to the large heterogeneity and the growth dependency of the microalgal cell size, cells with diameter below the average diameter size and close to the valley distance could penetrate the valley. A stronger explanation is that young cells who have not fully developed to their full size could penetrate the valley and become entrapped and forced to grow in the confined environment leading to the non-spherical shape.

For valley distance larger than the microalgal cell size, adhesion in the valley increased significantly as compared to smooth surface. The adhesion coverage decreased consistently with increasing valley distance. When the valley distance reached 100 μ m, the adhesion coverage in the valley of patterned surfaces was close to the number of adhesion on smooth surfaces. This adhesion behavior on valley distances greater than the cells size can also be explained by the attachment point theory where the increase in contact points thermodynamically favors adhesion.



Figure 4.3: Average adhesion density on valleys of patterns based on the valley width. Bars represent the average of 15 measurements for adhesion in the valleys at each valley distance (2 μ m, 5 μ m 10 μ m, 15 μ m, 20 μ m, 30 μ m, 40 μ m, 50 μ m and 100 μ m) and for a smooth surface. Errors bars are one S.D.

4.3.2 Effects of protruding square size on microalgal adhesion over the top surface of the protruding squares

To study how the size of the protruding squares impacts the adhesion over the top surface of the protruding squares, microalgal adhesion over the top surface of protruding squares of 5 μ m, 10 μ m, 15 μ m, 20 μ m, 30 μ m, 40 μ m, 50 μ m and 100 μ m lengths was evaluated. Beside the protruding square of 5 μ m where the top surface is apparently too small to support the microalgal cells and the adhesion was very small, the adhesion of microalgal cells over the top surface of protruding squares did not follow any trend and did not depend on a critical distance, for the range of square length considered. This is different compared to the observation by Gu et. al. where a critical length of protruding squares was found for significant adhesion of E. coli over the top surface of protruding squares. Their study reported a significant adhesion of rod-like shaped E. coli cells on the top of the protruding squares when the protruding square length was greater than 20 µm²⁴. While there is not enough information to propose a clear explanation of this big difference between the adhesion of the C. reinhardtii cells used in this study and that of the E. coli cells reported by Gu et. al., it is important to mention that these two microorganisms have very different sizes and shapes with the first having a spherical shape and the second being rod-shaped. Another study by Gu et. al. provides a systematic analysis that provides insights on the mechanism of adhesion of these rod-shaped E. coli cells to surfaces²³. Analogous studies on C. reinhardtii and similar microalgae can help further elucidate their adhesion mechanism.



Figure 4.4: Average adhesion density over the top surface of protruding squares. Bars represent the average of 15 measurements for adhesion on the top surface of protruding squares at each protruding square length (5 μ m 10 μ m, 15 μ m, 20 μ m, 30 μ m, 40 μ m, 50 μ m and 100 μ m) and for a smooth surface. Errors bars are one S.D.

4.3.3 Construction of an adhesion enhancement factor chart

In order to specify how surface micropatterning affects the total microalgal adhesion as compared to a smooth surface, an adhesion enhancement factor was computed and tabulated using each of the 72 combinations of protruding square size/valley distance. To calculate such adhesion enhancement factor, the total number of cells attached both over the top of protruding squares and over the valleys of the patterned surfaces was counted and divided by the area of the patterned surface, the number of cells attached on the smooth control surface was also counted and divided by the area of the smooth surface. The adhesion enhancement factor was then computed as the ratio of cell adhesion density on the patterned surfaces to that of the smooth control surface. Therefore, a specific micropatterning configuration leading an adhesion is enhanced with this specific micropatterning configuration. Corollary, a specific micropatterning configuration leading to an adhesion enhancement factor smaller than one would mean that microalgal adhesion is minimized.

The average adhesion enhancement factors for the 72 combinations of protruding square size and valley distance are presented in table 4.1. The highest adhesion factor (4.49) was obtained with the pattern configuration of a 10 μ m protruding square side length and a 10 μ m valley distance. The lowest adhesion enhancement factor (0.02) was obtained with the pattern configuration of a 5 μ m protruding square side length and a 2 μ m valley distance. The decrease in adhesion with the 5 μ m protruding square side length and a 2 μ m valley distance pattern can be explained by the contact point the theory. In fact, the cell size (8.1 ± 0.6) was far greater than the valley distance, the cells could not penetrate into the valleys and the cells would rest above the distance between protruding squares where the contacts with the surface became contact

points and the attachment of microalgal cells became thermodynamically unfavorable ²¹. moreover, the side length of the protruding square was smaller than the cell diameter and became less favorable for adhesion over the top surface of the protruding squares. This makes the 5 μ m protruding square side length and 2 μ m valley distance pattern a good combination to minimize adhesion. The largest adhesion enhancement factor with the 10 μ m protruding square length and a 10 μ m valley distance pattern can also be explained by the contact point theory where such side length of protruding squares and valley distance slightly larger than the average diameter of the cells provide the maximum contacts possible. The adhesion enhancement factor chart also confirmed the trend for decreasing adhesion for increasing valley distance and did not show any particular trend for variation of the side length of protruding squares.

 Table 4.1: Adhesion properties of microalga C. reinhardtii.
 Adhesion enhancement factor of

 patterned surfaces with different combination of valley widths and protruding square sizes

Length of protruding									
squares (µm)	Width of valley (µm)								
	2	5	10	15	20	30	40	50	100
5	0.02	1.04	3.61	2.76	2.29	1.76	1.43	1.27	1.09
10	0.47	1.53	4.49	3.48	3.32	2.72	2.15	1.74	1.45
15	0.51	1.23	3.04	2.73	2.29	1.83	1.48	1.31	1.12
20	0.62	0.67	2.92	2.90	2.62	1.90	1.73	1.25	1.22
30	0.58	0.74	2.29	2.26	2.29	2.32	1.82	1.60	1.24
40	0.61	1.13	2.60	2.57	2.37	2.51	2.49	2.00	0.96
50	0.66	1.01	2.47	2.56	2.25	2.49	1.60	1.33	0.78
100	0.59	1.57	3.12	1.47	1.12	1.22	0.88	0.81	0.90

4.4 Conclusions

In summary, this work provides some microtopographic cues to manipulate the adhesion of microalga C. reinhardtii (and probably, other microorganism with similar shape) to surfaces. Experiment with PMDS surfaces micropatterned with protruding square features showed a net preferential adhesion over the valley between the protruding squares as opposed to the top surface of the protruding squares. The experimental results supported by the contact point theory confirmed that the adhesion of microalgal cells to patterned surfaces was greatly minimized when the valley distance between protruding squares was significantly smaller than the diameter of the cells and when the length of the protruding square was also significantly smaller than the diameter of the cells. On the contrary, total microalgal adhesion was greatly enhanced for patterned surfaces with protruding square length and valley distances slightly larger than the microalgal cell diameter as compared to smooth surfaces. Further, over the range of protruding square lengths considered, a critical protruding square length for maximal microalgal was not found like it has been reported for rod-like shaped E. coli cells. The effects of surface micropatterning became less significant when the valley length approached 100 µm. These adhesion trends observed with the wild type C. reinhardtii CC-124 were also observed for the motility impaired mutant C. reinhardtii CC-1036 and the cell wall deficient mutant C. reinhardtii CC-503. These microtopographic cues can be exploited to influence microalgal adhesion on the surface of photobioreactors with the goal of improving the absorption of light by microalgae. Future studies to continue this work may include the use of different protruding feature shapes and also the use of microalgal species with non-spherical shape or with different surface properties.

4.5 References

- Peters, G., Locci, R. & Pulverer, G. Microbial colonization of prosthetic devices. II. Scanning electron microscopy of naturally infected intravenous catheters. *Zentralblatt fur Bakteriologie, Mikrobiologie und Hygiene, 1981. 173, 293–299.*
- Christensen, G. D. Simpson, W. A., Bisno, A. L. & Beachey, E. H. Phenotypic variation of Staphylococcus epidermidis slime production in vitro and in vivo. *Infection and Immunity*, 1982. 55, 622–628.
- Marrie, T. J., Nelligan, J. & Costerton, J. W. A scanning and transmission electron microscopic study of and infected endocardial pacemaker lead. *Circulation*, 1982. 66, 1339–1341.
- Kristensen, J. B., Meyer, R. L., Laursen, B. S., Shipovskov, S., Besenbacher, F., & Poulsen, C. H. Antifouling enzymes and the biochemistry of marine settlement. *Biotechnology advances*, 2008. 26(5), 471-481.
- Yebra DM, Kiil S, Dam-Johansen K. Antifouling technology- past, present and future steps towards efficient and environmentally friendly antifouling coatings. *Progress in Organic Coatings. 2004.* 50:75–10.
- Raes, E. J., Isdepsky, A., Muylaert, K., Borowitzka, M. A., & Moheimani, N. R. Comparison of growth of Tetraselmis in a tubular photobioreactor (Biocoil) and a raceway pond. *Journal of applied phycology*, 2014. 26(1), 247-255.
- Berner, F., Heimann, K., & Sheehan, M. Microalgal biofilms for biomass production. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 2015. 27(5), 1793-1804.

- Gross, M., Henry, W., Michael, C., & Wen, Z. Development of a rotating algal biofilm growth system for attached microalgae growth with in situ biomass harvest. *Bioresource Technology*, 2013. 150, 195-201.
- 9. Chambers, L. D., Stokes, K. R., Walsh, F. C., & Wood, R. J. Modern approaches to marine antifouling coatings. *Surface and Coatings Technology*, 2006. 201(6), 3642-3652.
- Strand, J., & Jacobsen, J. A. Accumulation and trophic transfer of organotins in a marine food web from the Danish coastal waters. *Science of the Total Environment*, 2005. 350(1), 72-85.
- 11. Champ, M. A. A review of organotin regulatory strategies, pending actions, related costs and benefits. *Science of the Total Environment*, 2000. 258(1), 21-71.
- 12. Dobretsov, S., Abed, R. M., & Teplitski, M. Mini-review: Inhibition of biofouling by marine microorganisms. *Biofouling*, 2013. 29(4), 423-441.
- 13. Rajamani S, Teplitski M, Kumar A, Krediet CJ, Sayre RT, Bauer WD. N-acyl homoserine lactone lactonase, AiiA, inactivation of quorum-sensing agonists produced by Chlamydomonas reinhardtii (Chlorophyta) and characterization of aiiA-transgenic algae. *Journal of Phycology*, 2011. 47:1219–1227.
- Kalpana BJ, Aarthy S, Pandian S.K. Antibiofilm activity of alpha-amylase from Bacillus subtilis S8–18 against biofilm forming human bacterial pathogens. *Applied Biochemistry* and Biotechnology, 2012. 167:1778–1794.
- 15. Irie Y, Parsek MR. Quorum sensing and microbial biofilms. *Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology*, 2008. 322:67–84.
- 16. Carl, C., Poole, A. J., Sexton, B. A., Glenn, F. L., Vucko, M. J., Williams, M. R., ... & De Nys, R. Enhancing the settlement and attachment strength of pediveligers of Mytilus

galloprovincialis by changing surface wettability and microtopography. *Biofouling*, 2012. 28(2), 175-186.

- 17. Carman, M. L., Estes, T. G., Feinberg, A. W., Schumacher, J. F., Wilkerson, W., Wilson, L. H., ... & Brennan, A. B. Engineered antifouling microtopographies–correlating wettability with cell attachment. *Biofouling*, 2006. 22(1), 11-21.
- Chung, K. K., Schumacher, J. F., Sampson, E. M., Burne, R. A., Antonelli, P. J., & Brennan, A. B. Impact of engineered surface microtopography on biofilm formation of Staphylococcus aureus. *Biointerphases*, 2007. 2(2), 89-94.
- 19. Wenzel, R. N. Resistance of solid surfaces to wetting by water. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry*, 1936. 28(8), 988-994.
- 20. Cassie, A. B. D., & Baxter, S. Wettability of porous surfaces. *Transactions of the Faraday Society*, 1944. 40, 546-551.
- Cui, Y., Yuan, W., & Cao, J. Effects of surface texturing on microalgal cell attachment to solid carriers. *International Journal of Agricultural and Biological Engineering*, 2013. 6(4), 44-54.
- 22. Scardino, A. J., Guenther, J., & De Nys, R. Attachment point theory revisited: the fouling response to a microtextured matrix. *Biofouling*, 2008. 24(1), 45-53.
- 23. Gu, H., Chen, A., Song, X., Brasch, M. E., Henderson, J. H., & Ren, D. How Escherichia coli lands and forms cell clusters on a surface: a new role of surface topography. *Scientific Reports*, 2016. 6.
- 24. Hou, S., Gu, H., Smith, C., & Ren, D. Microtopographic patterns affect Escherichia coli biofilm formation on poly (dimethylsiloxane) surfaces. *Langmuir*, 2011. 27(6), 2686-2691.

- 25. Hou, L., Wang, P., Kong, F., Park, H., Kobiro, K., & Ohama, T. Mesoporous TiO2 nanoparticles: a new material for biolistic bombardment. *Phycological Research*, 2013. 61(1), 58-60.
- 26. Callow, M. E., Jennings, A. R., Brennan, A. B., Seegert, C. E., Gibson, A., Wilson, L., ...
 & Callow, J. A. Microtopographic cues for settlement of zoospores of the green fouling alga Enteromorpha. *Biofouling*, 2002. 18(3), 229-236.
- 27. Grijspeerdt, K., & Verstraete, W. Image analysis to estimate the settleability and concentration of activated sludge. *Water Research*, 1997. 31(5), 1126-1134.

CHAPTER 5

Rheological characterization and flow manipulation to improve light absorption in microalgal photobioreactors

Abstract

While light is a critical parameter for microalgal growth, the distribution of light is nonhomogeneous inside typical photobioreactors primarily because of photobioreactors configuration and shading effects by the microalgal cells. Without proper mixing, microalgal cells within a same cultivation chamber could experience three different realities: either they are located in a section with optimal irradiance where they grow effectively, in a section with poor irradiance where they fail to grow or in a zone with excessive irradiance where they are exposed to photoinhibition. The periodical motion of microalgal cells from well illuminated to poorly illuminated sections of a photobioreactor can be a good way to optimize light absorption by the microalgal cells. However, this requires a deep understanding of the hydrodynamic properties of typical microalgal culture. In this study, we characterized the rheological properties of suspensions of microalga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and found, among other properties, that such suspensions exhibited Newtonian behavior at low microalgal concentration and non-Newtonian shear thinning behavior at concentrations above 50 g/l. The rheological insights obtained from the experimental analyses were then used as tools to control the cycle to which an average microalgal cell would travel from high light to low light zones within a typical photobioreactor.

5.1. Introduction

The optimization of microalgal biomass production and microalgal biorefining requires a thorough understanding of some inherent parameters and their impacts on the biomass productivity and/or on the energy consumption by such processes. While some of the parameters such as nutrient concentration, salinity, photobioreactor configuration etc. have for long been extensively studied, it is only recently that the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal broths and microalgal slurries have received great consideration as an optimization parameter for enhanced microalgal biomass production¹⁻⁴.

The hydrodynamic characteristics of microalgal broths have direct impacts not only on the microalgal cultivation in typical microalgal photobioreactors but also on the harvesting of the biomass generated. In fact, constant mixing in photobioreactor operations is often deemed necessary to keep the microalgal cells in suspension, to help nutrient distribution, to facilitate gas exchange and mass transfer etc.⁵ On the other hand, excessive mixing can have bad effects on microalgal culture that can even lead to cell damage ⁶. Some experimental studies using hydrodynamic manipulation for proper mixing of microalgal culture have known great success ⁷. Further, the liquid velocity affecting, among others, the residence time and the rate of oxygen removal in most photobioreactors can easily be controlled using the hydrodynamic properties⁸. Adding to these, the harvesting and dewatering of microalgal biomass is known to be an energy intensive process. Some studies have focused on characterizing the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal slurries for an efficient design of harvesting units and for the minimization of the energy requirement ⁹. The need for hydrodynamic optimization in microalgal cultivation systems is becoming more and more crucial as higher biomass concentrations are becoming more and more achievable and practical in the microalgal biorefining industry.

The nature of microalgal slurries makes the study of the hydrodynamic properties of such systems very tedious. Although water is the main constituent, the presence of micronutrients, dissolved salts, polymeric substances and microalgal cells makes microalgal broths complex fluids ¹⁰. The characterization of the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal broths is even more difficult because the metabolism of microalgal cells has real time impacts on the nature of the fluids not only in terms of increased biomass concentrations due to proliferation of microalgal cells but also through motion of the microorganisms and potential bio-secretions in the medium ¹¹. Moreover, the large heterogeneity of microalgal species and strains used in microalgal biomass production and the largely reported morphological and physiological differences make it impractical to define broad hydrodynamic characteristics of microalgal broths. For instance, the work by Zhang *et. al.* reported the influence of different cell properties on the rheological characterization of microalgal suspensions ¹².

In this work, we focus on the characterization of suspensions and culture of microalga *C*. *reinhardtii*. *C. reinhardtii* has been largely investigated for microalgal biomass production, among other reasons, because of its large potential for genetic engineering manipulations¹³. *C. reinhardtii* is a unicellular microorganism mainly spherical with diameter around ten micrometers. As microswimmers, they are classified among the pullers. As opposed to the micropushers such as *E. coli* that use a rotating flagellar bundle to push the fluid behind them, micropullers propel themselves through breaststroke-like motion with a pair of flagella attached at the front of their body. While it has been very challenging to characterize the macroscopic behaviors of micropushers, a few rheological studies on the collective properties of micropullers have been very promising ¹⁴. Some of these studies have reported certain similarities between the behavior of micropullers in water to that of passive suspensions comprising of rigid spheres at

low concentration while others have reported shear thinning behavior over larger concentrations 9,10

We aimed at studying the collective rheological behavior of broths and slurries of the microalga C. reinhardtii. A clear understanding of such behavior may serve to different applications including effective mass transfer and optimal mixing. Specifically, in the context of efficient distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors, these results can particularly be used to control the exposure of microalgal cells to optimal irradiance. It has, in fact, been made clear that with the current microalgal biomass production technologies, not all sections of the microalgal cultivation systems receive the optimal irradiance for biomass productivity¹⁵. To mitigate the risk of photoinhibition due to excessive irradiance in certain sections of the photobioreactor and that of limited growth due to poor illumination in other sections, shuttle motion of microalgal cells is often deemed necessary. Further, a certain rotation of microalgal cells shifting between light and darkness periodically has been reported as largely beneficial for photosynthetic activities ¹⁶. The collective rheological features of the microalgal culture experimentally characterized in this study are used to control the optimal light/darkness cycle duration not only to palliate the above listed issues but also to enhance microalgal photosynthetic activities.

5.2. Materials and methods

5.2.1. Microalgal culture and sample preparation

The wild type microalga *C. reinhardtii* CC-124, the motility impaired mutant CC-1036 and the cell wall deficient mutant CC-503 obtained from the Chlamydomonas Resource Center (University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota) were used in this study. Prior to the rheological characterization experiments, these strains were inoculated with a Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium in conical flasks placed on a rotary shaker (150 rpm). The microalgal culture duration was varied between 7 to 22 days in order to monitor any influence of culture time on the rheological properties. The culture room was continuously illuminated by full spectrum compact fluorescent lamps (CFL 60W, Fancierstudio, San Francisco, California) with the photosynthetic active radiation at the top surface of the culture at $75 \pm 5 \ \mu E \ m^2 s^{-1}$ and the temperature at $22 \pm 1^{\circ}C$. The growth of microalgae was monitored through optical density (OD₆₇₅) measurements. Calibration curves were built to correlate the optical density (OD₆₇₅) measurements with dry biomass concentration in unit of gram per liter.

After the cultivation period, the microalgal biomass concentration was assessed through optical density measurements. Following this, the microalgal broth was split between several conical flasks and was either diluted with water or centrifuged (4,800g, 5 min, 20°C) to remove excess water in order to obtain 2 milliliter microalgal suspension samples of 10 g/l, 20 g/l, 30 g/l, 40 g/l, 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l. Final optical density measurements were then taken on each of these samples in order to ensure the accuracy of the concentrations of the sample. The volume fraction of microalgal biomass in the medium (φ) was determined from the dry biomass concentration using the formulae ¹⁰:

$$\varphi = \frac{C}{\rho_w w_D}$$
$$\rho_w = x_w \rho_0 + (1 - x_w) \rho_D$$

Where ρ_w and ρ_D represent respectively the wet and dry density of microalgae expressed in unit of mass per volume and x_w represents the volumetric water content per unit volume of microalgal biomass. w_D , representing the mass of dry solid per unit mass of dry microalgae, is computed as follows:

$$w_D = \frac{(1 - x_w)\rho_D}{\rho_w}$$

5.2.2. Rheometry and data analysis

The rheological characterization experiments were performed using a Combined Motor and Transducer (CMT) AR-G2 rheometer from TA instruments (New Castle, Delaware). The cone-and-plate geometry with a diameter of 40 mm and cone angle 0° 59' 49" was used for all the measurements. The temperature control was achieved by a Peltier plate using thermoelectric effects that can accurately control the temperature and water circulation for rapid heating and cooling over a temperature range of 0 to 100°C. For these experiments, the temperature was controlled at 20°C. After each run, the Peltier plate was flushed with water to remove the sample and then dried and cleaned using acetone before loading a new sample. Steady shear flow experiments were performed by varying the shear rate from 10 to 800 s⁻¹ using logarithmic ramping with 10 intervals per decade of the shear rate. Peak hold experiments were performed by maintaining the shear rate constant at the desired value and the rheological data were collected over a time interval of 1500 seconds.
As described previously, at low biomass concentration a microalgal culture is expected to behave as a Newtonian fluid. In this case, the shear stress is directly proportional with the shear rate with the constant of proportionality being the viscosity. Therefore, at this range of concentration the viscosity obtained through steady shear flow experiments would suffice to describe the flow properties. However, at higher concentrations the culture would most likely exhibit both viscous and elastic behaviors (viscoelasticity) and non-Newtonian behavior. The relationship between the shear stress and the shear rate would no longer be established using the viscosity as the proportionality constant, as the viscosity itself would become a function of the shear rate. The term effective viscosity is used to define the ratio of the shear stress over the shear rate at a specific shear rate. The power law model is among many models used to characterize the shear rate dependence of the effective viscosity. With this model, for a given shear rate $\dot{\gamma}$, the effective viscosity is obtained by ¹⁷:

$$\mu_{eff} = K(\dot{\gamma})^{n-1}$$

Where, K is the consistency index and n is the power law index. For shear thinning non-Newtonian fluids, the power law index is less than one and the viscosity decreases with increasing shear rate and for shear thickening non-Newtonian fluids the power law index is greater than one and the viscosity increases with increasing shear rate.

5.3. Results and discussion

5.3.1. Rheological characterization of microalgal slurries

The effective viscosity values of microalgal suspensions of 10 g/l, 20 g/l, 30 g/l, 40 g/l, 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l dry biomass concentrations were plotted against shear rates ranging from 10 to 800 s⁻¹ in figure 5.1 and were compared to a TAP buffer sample with no microalgal cells used as control. Lower shear rates could not be tested because of inaccuracy in the measurements that are most likely the results of surface tension and/or inertia effects. At microalgal concentrations below or equal to 40 g/l, the viscosity did not exhibit any dependence on shear rate which is a strong characteristic of Newtonian fluid. Over this range of concentrations, the viscosity was observed as increasing with increasing microalgal concentrations. It is well documented in literature that the viscosity of most suspensions increases with increasing solute concentrations. Let μ_s be the solvent viscosity and φ the volume fraction of solute, the viscosity of most suspensions can often be modeled as:

$$\mu = \mu_s (1 + \alpha \varphi)$$

While for passive suspensions of rigid spherical particles α is usually reported as being equal to 2.5, for suspensions of active particles α is often reported with higher values potentially due to the effects of swimming.^{18,19} After correlating the biomass concentrations from 0 to 40 g/l to match the volume fractions as described previously, linear regression analyses performed with the viscosity results obtained, led to an α value of 6.4 with R²=0.99 for these *C. reinhardtii* suspensions.



Figure 5.1: Rheological characterization of microalgal broths. Viscosity profiles of microalgal suspensions as a function of shear rate at low biomass concentrations (A) and at high biomass concentrations (B).

Three higher microalgal biomass concentrations, namely, 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l were also analyzed. For these three concentrations, the effective viscosity exhibited strong dependence on the shear rate value with a shear thinning behavior. Table 5.1 summarizes the results obtained by fitting the effective viscosity results with the power law fluid model. The consistency index K, the power law index n along with R^2 values are reported for all the microalgal concentrations considered. For the samples with concentrations equal or less than 40 g/l, the power law index was very close to 1, which corroborates their Newtonian behavior. For the samples with higher concentrations, the power law indices were significantly smaller with values of 0.96, 0.81 and 0.73 respectively for the 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l. This shear thinning behavior exhibited by the wild type microalga C. reinhardtii at high concentrations has also been reported for other microalgal species although with considerable differences in the values probably due to the large variation in the intrinsic characteristic of the microalgal species ²⁰. A better detailed rheological characterization of suspensions of microalga C. reinhardtii analyzing the normal stress differences under steady flow experiment as well as the viscoelastic properties assessed under small amplitude oscillatory shear flow can be consulted in Appendix III.

Table 5.1. Rheological characterization of microalgal broths. Power law fitting parametersfor microalgal broths at different biomass concentrations.

Concentration g/l	Consistency index K	Behavior index n	R ²
10	0.001211	1	0.999
20	0.001474	1	0.999
30	0.001803	1	0.998
40	0.002121	1	0.999
50	0.002847	0.96	0.997
100	0.010832	0.81	0.998
150	0.026056	0.73	0.993

5.3.2. Application of the rheological properties for flow manipulation and light absorption optimization in photobioreactors

In the previous sections of this chapter, we clearly documented how the rheological and hydrodynamic parameters can be used to optimize different microalgal photobioreactor operations including mixing, mass transfer etc. In this work, it was a particular interest to use the rheological understanding of microalgal suspensions as a tool to optimize the absorption of light by microalgal cells growing in photobioreactors. Researchers have for long demonstrated that the distribution of light is non-homogeneous inside photobioreactors mainly due to the photobioreactors configuration and shading effects by microalgal cells ^{21,22}. This becomes a more complex issue over culture time due to microalgal proliferation increasing the shading effects. To palliate this issue some have focused on investigating the effect of flashing light on microalgal metabolism. It has been found that shifting the microalgal cells periodically from high irradiance to low irradiance has beneficial effects on microalgal photosynthetic activities. However, the frequency of such cycle from high light to low light has been deemed very critical for the effects on the biomass productivity ²³⁻²⁶. We used the rheological and hydrodynamic results obtained for C. reinhardtii based microalgal culture to predict and control the cycle at which these microalgal cells are exposed to high light and low light intermittently during their growth within a typical photobioreactor.

While the analysis can be extended to other photobioreactor configurations, we consider the case of a tubular photobioreactor. Considering the case of an airlift tubular photobioreactor with a radius *R* and an external irradiance *Io*, at any culture time, based on the cells population, the irradiance profile throughout the tube can be determined ²⁷. Then, based on the critical light requirement for photosynthesis, the photobioreactor volume can be sectioned into light zone (*V_f*) and dark zone (V_d) . The motion of the microalgal cells between the light zone and the dark zone can then be controlled using the flow properties to determine the average light/darkness cycle time (t_c) , *i.e.*, the time it takes the average microalgae cell to travel from the point with the highest light intensity to the one with the lowest light intensity.

The work by Brindley *et.* al.²⁷ described the mathematical expressions to determine t_c in a typical tubular photobioreactor. Let μ be the effective viscosity and ρ the density of the culture, for a given axial flow velocity (v_L), the velocity (V_m) to which the average microalgal cell moves from the center (dark) to the outermost part of the tube (light) is determined using Davies equation ²⁸:

$$V_m = 0.2 (\frac{v_L^7 \mu}{2R\rho})^{1/8}$$

The light/darkness cycle time t_c is then determined using the equation:

$$t_c = \frac{2R}{V_m}$$

The case of an airlift tubular photobioreactor like the one described by Molina *et. al.*²⁹, with a diameter of 6 cm operating at an axial flow velocity of 50 cm/s first and then 20 cm/s is considered. The light darkness cycle time is determined considering different microalgal biomass concentrations in their impacts on the flow properties. Given the axial velocity, the shear rate was determined as 30 :

$$\dot{\gamma} = \frac{(3n+1)V_L}{nR}$$

The effective viscosity is then determined, based on the shear rate as supported by the rheological results presented in the previous section for each microalgal biomass concentration, in order to find t_c . In figure 5.2A values of t_c are plotted for different microalgal concentrations at the two axial flow velocities. In both cases, the effect of microalgal biomass concentration on the flow properties was clearly shown to affect the light darkness cycle time ranging from 4.8s to 3.6s and 2.2s and 1.7s for the high and low axial velocities considered. We also estimated the power requirement for the circulation of the microalgal broths with different concentrations. Figure 5.2B shows the factor by which the power consumption increases to maintain the same operating conditions. The power consumption can, in fact, increase by a factor as high as 2 in order to maintain the same axial flow velocity and the correlating light darkness cycle at different microalgal biomass concentrations.



Figure 5.2: Application of the rheological properties of microalgal broths for flow manipulation. Light-darkness cycle time tc determined at different biomass concentrations using the flow properties (A) and the power consumption with an axial velocity of 0.5 m. s⁻¹ at different microalgal concentrations (B).

5.4. Conclusions

In summary, the rheological properties of microalgal suspensions were studied using the wild type microalga *C. reinhardtii*. At biomass concentrations below 50 g/l, the microalgal suspensions exhibited Newtonian behavior. The relative viscosity increased with increasing biomass concentration and the relative viscosity could be related to the volume fraction of spherical microalgal cells using Einstein's equation with α =6.4. At biomass concentrations above 50 g/l, the microalgal suspensions exhibited shear thinning behavior and was modeled as power law fluids. These hydrodynamic parameters were then used to estimate the time an average microalgal cell would travel from the dark region to a high illumination region of a photobioreactor, often referred to as the light/darkness cycle. While this study assesses the collective behavior of the microalgal suspension, the hydrodynamic properties obtained can also be used for individual particle tracking using mathematical modeling and computer simulations³¹. Further studies can also be performed using the rheological properties of microalgal slurries to optimize pumping and dewatering of microalgal biomass and to assess mass transfer and nutrient concentrations in microalgal culture.

5.5. References

- Brown, M. R., Jeffrey, S. W., Volkman, J. K., & Dunstan, G. A. Nutritional properties of microalgae for mariculture. *Aquaculture*, 1997.151(1-4), 315-331.
- Volkman, J. K., Barrett, S. M., Blackburn, S. I., Mansour, M. P., Sikes, E. L., & Gelin, F. Microalgal biomarkers: a review of recent research developments. *Organic Geochemistry*, 1998. 29(5), 1163-1179.
- Olivieri, G., Salatino, P., & Marzocchella, A. Advances in photobioreactors for intensive microalgal production: configurations, operating strategies and applications. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 2014. 89(2), 178-195.
- Bitog, J. P., *et. al.* Application of computational fluid dynamics for modeling and designing photobioreactors for microalgae production: a review. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 2011.76(2), 131-147.
- Javanmardian, M., & Palsson, B. O. High-density photoautotrophic algal cultures: Design, construction, and operation of a novel photobioreactor system. *Biotechnology* and bioengineering, 1991. 38(10), 1182-1189.
- Barbosa, M. J., Janssen, M., Ham, N., Tramper, J., & Wijffels, R. H. Microalgae cultivation in air-lift reactors: modeling biomass yield and growth rate as a function of mixing frequency. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 2003. 82(2), 170-179.
- Gupta, P. L., Lee, S. M., & Choi, H. J. A mini review: photobioreactors for large scale algal cultivation. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2015. 31(9), 1409-1417.
- Ugwu, C. U., Aoyagi, H., & Uchiyama, H. Photobioreactors for mass cultivation of algae. *Bioresource technology*, 2008. 99(10), 4021-4028.

- Wileman, A., Ozkan, A., & Berberoglu, H. Rheological properties of algae slurries for minimizing harvesting energy requirements in biofuel production. *Bioresource technology*, 2012. 104, 432-439.
- Soulies, A., Pruvost, J., Legrand, J., Castelain, C., & Burghelea, T. I. Rheological properties of suspensions of the green microalga Chlorella vulgaris at various volume fractions. *Rheologica Acta*, 2013. 52(6), 589-605.
- Fernandes, H. L., Lupi, F., Tomé, M. M., Sá-Correia, I., & Novais, J. M. Rheological behaviour of the culture medium during growth of the microalga Botryococcus braunii. *Bioresource technology*, 1991. 38(2-3), 133-136.
- Zhang, X., *et. al.* Influence of cell properties on rheological characterization of microalgae suspensions. *Bioresource technology*, 2013. 139, 209-213.
- 13. Siaut, M., *et. al.* Oil accumulation in the model green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii: characterization, variability between common laboratory strains and relationship with starch reserves. *BMC biotechnology*, 2011. 11(1), 7.
- Gluzman, S., Karpeev, D. A., & Berlyand, L. V. Effective viscosity of puller-like microswimmers: a renormalization approach. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2013. 10(89), 20130720.
- 15. Xu, L., Weathers, P. J., Xiong, X. R., & Liu, C. Z. Microalgal bioreactors: challenges and opportunities. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, 2009. 9(3), 178-189.
- 16. Grobbelaar, J. U. Turbulence in mass algal cultures and the role of light/dark fluctuations. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, *1994*. *6*(*3*), *331-335*.
- 17. Lyklema, J. Fundamentals of Interface and Colloid Science. Vol. IV: Particulate Colloids. 2005.

- Roscoe, R. The viscosity of suspensions of rigid spheres. *British Journal of Applied Physics*, 1952. 3(8), 267.
- Gluzman, S., Karpeev, D. A., & Berlyand, L. V. Effective viscosity of puller-like microswimmers: a renormalization approach. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2013. 10(89), 20130720.
- Adesanya, V. O., Vadillo, D. C., & Mackley, M. R. The rheological characterization of algae suspensions for the production of biofuels. *Journal of Rheology*, 2012. 56(4), 925-939.
- Grima, E. M., Camacho, F. G., Pérez, J. A., Sevilla, J. M., Fernandez, F. G., & Gomez,
 A. C. A mathematical model of microalgal growth in light-limited chemostat
 culture. *Journal of chemical technology and biotechnology*, 1994. 61(2), 167-173.
- 22. Sevilla, J. F., & Grima, E. M. A model for light distribution and average solar irradiance inside outdoor tubular photobioreactors for the microalgal mass culture. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering*, *1997*. *55*(*5*), *701*.
- 23. Degen, J., Uebele, A., Retze, A., Schmid-Staiger, U., & Trösch, W. A novel airlift photobioreactor with baffles for improved light utilization through the flashing light effect. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 2001. 92(2), 89-94.
- 24. Janssen, M., Slenders, P., Tramper, J., Mur, L. R., & Wijffels, R. Photosynthetic efficiency of Dunaliella tertiolecta under short light/dark cycles. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 2001. 29(4), 298-305.
- Merchuk, J. C., Ronen, M., Giris, S., & Arad, S. Light/dark cycles in the growth of the red microalga Porphyridium sp. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 1998. 59(6), 705-713.

- 26. Janssen, M., Kuijpers, T. C., Veldhoen, B., Ternbach, M. B., Tramper, J., Mur, L. R., & Wijffels, R. H. Specific growth rate of Chlamydomonas reinhardtii and Chlorella sorokiniana under medium duration light/dark cycles: 13–87 s. *Journal of Biotechnology*, *1999.* 70(1), 323-333.
- Brindley, C., Fernández, F. A., & Fernández-Sevilla, J. M. Analysis of light regime in continuous light distributions in photobioreactors. *Bioresource technology*, 2011. 102(3), 3138-3148.
- 28. Davies, J.T., Turbulence Phenomena. 1972. Academic press, New York.
- Molina, E., Fernández, J., Acién, F. G., & Chisti, Y. Tubular photobioreactor design for algal cultures. *Journal of biotechnology*, 2001. 92(2), 113-131.
- 30. Cho, Y. I., & Harnett, J. P. Non-Newtonian fluids in circular pipe flow. *Advances in heat transfer*, 1982. 15, 59-141.
- 31. Li, M., Hu, D., & Liu, H. Photobioreactor with ideal light–dark cycle designed and built from mathematical modeling and CFD simulation. *Ecological Engineering*, 2014. 73, 162-167.

CHAPTER 6

SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE WORK

The issue of distribution and absorption of light in microalgal cultivation systems is a critical factor that affects the microalgal growth rate and the quality of the microalgal biomass produced. Motivated by the need for high throughput microalgal biomass production systems that can sustain the large scale production of biofuels and certain valuable chemicals, this dissertation focused on developing strategies to improve the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors. The strategies included exploiting the plasmon resonance property of metallic nanoparticles for light enhancement, using surface micropatterning to better control the impacts of biofilm and biofouling on light delivery, exploiting the thermoreversible sol-gel transition property of the copolymer pluronic to develop short light path cultivation systems for efficient light absorption and also the use of flow manipulation to control the exposure of microalgal cells to ideal light zones and to create an optimal light/darkness balance for enhanced microalgal growth.

6.1 Development of plasmonic film light filters for enhanced microalgal growth and biomass composition

Through plasmon resonance, silver and gold nanoparticles have the ability to selectively backscatter light in different regions of the visible electromagnetic spectrum. This property was used to enhance the irradiance in microalgal cultivation systems not only by increasing the light intensity within the cultivation systems but also by supplementing the specific light wavelengths (blue and red lights) desired by the microorganisms and corollary minimizing the risk of photoinhibition that can be induced by unnecessary wavelengths. The developed plasmonic film technology consists of a tailored synthesis of gold nanorods and silver nanospheres to enhance light at target wavelengths and embedding these plasmonic nanoparticles in a polymeric matrix to fabricate millimeter thin plasmonic films that can be used as light filters in microalgal

photobioreactor design. A first system built by wrapping the base of a conical flask with a silver nanospheres plasmonic film was tested using a *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* culture. This led to an increase in microalgal biomass production by more than 25% and an increase in total photosynthetic pigment generation by more than 35%, after ten days of cultivation. Light enhancement by plasmon resonance did not affect cellular carbohydrate and lipid accumulation although the increase in cell density resulted in enhanced overall lipid and carbohydrate production. These positive results with selective enhancement of blue light by silver nanoparticles motivated the synthesis of gold nanorods with specific shape and size for the selective enhancement of red light irradiation in microalgal culture. A strong system with dual enhancement of red and blue lights necessary for microalgal photosynthetic activities proved that biomass production and photosynthetic pigments accumulation can be increased by up to 50% and 78% respectively, through light enhancement induced by the use of the plasmonic film light filters.

6.2 Development of a short light path energy efficient microalgal cultivation and harvesting system

The length of the light path refers to the depth the incident light needs to penetrate in order to reach the last layer of microalgal cells in a microalgal cultivation system. For an open pond system, as an example, the bottom of the pond is often subject to low light penetration due to accumulating shading effects over the length of the light path. Short light path microalgal cultivation systems are therefore beneficial for better distribution and absorption of light. Aiming at developing a short light path cultivation system for enhanced microalgal biomass production, we described in this dissertation an energy efficient microalgal cultivation and harvesting system that we have developed using the thermoreversible sol-gel transition properties of pluronic. With this system that we proposed, after seeding microalgae in the novel TAPP medium in a solution phase at 15°C, the temperature was increased by 7°C to induce gelation. Within the gel, microalgae were observed to grow in large clusters rather than as isolated cells. The settling velocity of the microalgal clusters was approximately ten times larger than that of individual cells cultured in typical solution media. Such clusters were easily harvested gravimetrically by decreasing the temperature to bring the medium to a solution phase. The microalgal biomass production as well as the composition of the biomass was not affected by such entrapped cultivation mode, as compared to typical suspension based cultures. This novel system developed, along with addressing the energy consumption issue with constant mixing in typical suspended culture and that related to microalgal biomass harvesting, may also help solving several issues related to the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal cultivation systems. First, because this medium would allow microalgae to grow in a confined environment, light delivery to these photosynthetic microorganisms can better be controlled. Second, the very confinement would prevent microalgae from sticking to the wall of photobioreactors which often hinders light penetration. Ultimately, the gel structure of the medium during the growth period offers a lot of flexibility to divide the systems into short light path layers and also would offer a lot of flexibility when it comes to the orientation and inclination of the cultivation systems to receive the optimal irradiance.

6.3 Controlling light delivery through manipulation of cells attachment on the surface of photobioreactors

In the context of large scale microalgal biomass production, adhesion of microalgae to surfaces can be perceived as desirable or undesirable based on the cultivation mode. In enclosed and suspended microalgal cultivation systems, biofilm development hinders light penetration and therefore decreases the growth rate and the production of valuable photosynthetic compounds ¹. It can further lead to mechanical functioning issues to the microalgal biomass production

installations. On the other hand, microalgal biofilm has recently been largely investigated as a good cultivation method for largescale microalgal biomass production. With the biofilm cultivation systems, the light path is much shorter, a higher biomass concentration is often obtained, less volume of water is used and the harvesting of the microalgal biomass produced is less complicated and more energy efficient ^{2,3}. In this dissertation, we studied the adhesion ability of microalgae on the surface of photobioreactors with the goal of acquiring the ability to control the enhancement or the inhibition of bioadhesion as desired based on the cultivation mode. Specifically, based on the current theories and reported experimental findings available, we designed and performed experiments to provide some microtopographic cues on how to control the adhesion of certain microalgal strains on the surface of photobioreactors. Based on the results of our experiments, we inferred that the adhesion of such microalgae was largely decreased on surfaces that were patterned with protruding squares of length smaller than the diameter of the cells and a valley distance largely smaller than the diameter of the cells, as compared to a smooth surface. It was also proven that microalgal adhesion was greatly increased when the size of the protruding squares and the valley length were slightly bigger than the diameter of the cells. An adhesion enhancement factor was computed to specify how surface micropatterning affects the total microalgal adhesion and it was found that for valley distances larger than the cells diameter, this adhesion enhancement factor decreased with increasing valley distances between protruding squares and the effects of surface micropatterning became almost non-significant when the valley distance approaches 100 µm. Further, no critical protruding square size for maximal adhesion over the top of such protruding squares was found, like it has been reported for rod-like shaped E. coli cells. These adhesion trends observed with the wild

type *C. reinhardtii* CC-124 were also observed for the motility impaired mutant *C. reinhardtii* CC-1036 and the cell wall deficient mutant *C. reinhardtii* CC-503.

6.4 Rheological characterization and flow manipulation to improve light absorption in microalgal photobioreactors

For microalgal cultivation systems with a light path length not favorable for optimal distribution and absorption of light, mixing of microalgal broths is often used as a means to help with the periodical shuttle motion of microalgal cells to the photobioreactor sections with optimal irradiance. However, mixing is an energy intensive process and some microalgal species are also sensitive to shear. Therefore, there has been a need to optimize the mixing operation in microalgal cultivation. Further, it has been known that specifically designed light/darkness cycle exposure for microalgal cells can increase the productivity⁴. To optimize the mixing and create the necessary light/darkness cycle for better light absorption in microalgal cultivation systems, an understanding of the hydrodynamic properties of typical microalgal broths was necessary. In this dissertation, we characterized the rheological properties of suspensions of microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and showed that such suspensions exhibit Newtonian behavior at low microalgal concentration and non-Newtonian shear thinning behavior at concentrations above 50 g/l. The rheological insights obtained were then used as tools to control the cycle to which an average microalgal cell would travel from high light to low light zones within a typical photobioreactor.

6.5 Recommendations for future work

This dissertation has provided some clear and proven strategies to improve the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors. In this section, some ideas on how to implement these developed technologies for large scale microalgal cultivation and also

on their applications to address other issues or to provide further insights on certain pertinent scientific questions are presented.

One issue to consider during the application of the plasmonic film light filter technology is the fact that the light enhancement through plasmon resonance is only effective over a few centimeters of light path length. We clearly demonstrated how other strategies such as the use of short light path systems and optimal light darkness balance can help palliating this fact. A systematic approach to implement the plasmonic film light filter technology may require computer modeling to describe the light distribution profile throughout the adopted photobioreactor configurations. Mie's theory can be used to characterize the enhancement of irradiance through light backscattering based on the shape, size and nature of the plasmonic nanoparticles in use ⁵. Then, the photobioreactor configuration can be manipulated for optimal light distribution ⁶. Further, while we focused on enhancing blue and red lights that were necessary to enhance microalgal biomass production and photosynthetic pigments accumulation using microalga *C. reinhardtii*, other species or the production of other compounds may favor other wavelengths ⁷. The use of plasmonic nanoparticles with backscattering properties at other wavelengths may be a good option to address such needs.

The Tris-Acetate-Phosphate-Pluronic (TAPP) system with interesting microalgal cultivation and harvesting as well as light distribution potentials has introduced a wide range of new insights that can lead to further studies and applications. We have discussed how the copolymer pluronic has largely been investigated for its potential in controlling biofouling and its effectiveness in producing stable surface patterns that can be useful in long term single-cell culture. We have also noted that single-cell cultivation of microalgae can be a good method for preparing colonies of promising microalgal strains for large scale cultivation⁸. It is therefore

envisioned that thermoreversible TAPP-like systems will find further applications in microalgal biomass production for biofouling control and single-cell cultivation^{9,10,11}. Further, future studies to continue this work may include potential functionalization of the copolymer in order to minimize the concentration necessary to confer the required thermorheological properties. Other studies may also be undertaken to elucidate the interactions of different microalgal species and strains with the pluronic matrix and to further characterize the microalgal clusters obtained through confinement in the TAPP matrix. In addition, the scale up of the TAPP technology for large scale microalgal biomass production will necessitate further design consideration to maintain the required thermoreversible properties while also minimizing the cost associated with such method of production.

The idea consisting of manipulating microalgal adhesion to the surfaces of photobioreactor via surface micropatterning should also be extended to address other scenario. This can be done through the use of different protruding feature shapes and also the use of microalgal species with non-spherical shape or with different surface properties ¹².

The use of the hydrodynamic properties to control the shuttle motion of microalgal cells and coordinate their periodic exposure to low and high light sections of photobioreactors necessitates further studies as well. This can include the study of different microalgal species and the impacts of their specific properties (shape, size, motion, Exopolymeric secretions) on the real time rheological behavior of microalgal culture ¹³. Other rheological properties of microalgal broths such as viscoelasticity can also be studied. In addition, the rheological insights can be used for computer simulations and particle tracking to understand the motion of microalgal cells which may help further optimize their light/darkness exposure.

In summary, in this dissertation we have proposed several strategies to improve the distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors. There are other strategies to approach such issues that were not explored in this work and some studies by other research groups have proposed other ideas to approach this problem ¹⁴. It is envisioned that these technologies whose performance has been demonstrated in bench scale systems will be subject to scale up studies for imminent large scale application. Solving the issue of poor distribution and absorption of light in photobioreactors, along with the other issues mentioned in this dissertation, will make microalgal biorefining a viable enterprise for the production of biofuels and valuable chemicals.

6.6 References

- 1 Raes, E. J., Isdepsky, A., Muylaert, K., Borowitzka, M. A., & Moheimani, N. R. Comparison of growth of Tetraselmis in a tubular photobioreactor (Biocoil) and a raceway pond. *Journal of applied phycology*, 2014. 26(1), 247-255.
- 2 Berner, F., Heimann, K., & Sheehan, M. Microalgal biofilms for biomass production. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 2015. 27(5), 1793-1804.
- 3 Gross, M., Henry, W., Michael, C., & Wen, Z. Development of a rotating algal biofilm growth system for attached microalgae growth with in situ biomass harvest. *Bioresource Technology*, 2013. 150, 195-201.
- 4 Sforza, E., Simionato, D., Giacometti, G. M., Bertucco, A., & Morosinotto, T. Adjusted light and dark cycles can optimize photosynthetic efficiency in algae growing in photobioreactors. *PloS one*, 2012. 7(6), e38975.
- 5 Jain, P. K., Lee, K. S., El-Sayed, I. H., & El-Sayed, M. A. Calculated absorption and scattering properties of gold nanoparticles of different size, shape, and composition: applications in biological imaging and biomedicine. *Journal of Physical Chemistry B, 2006. 110(14), 7238.*
- 6 Csőgör, Z., Herrenbauer, M., Schmidt, K., & Posten, C. Light distribution in a novel photobioreactor–modelling for optimization. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, 2001. 13(4), 325-333.
- Korbee, N., Figueroa, F. L., & Aguilera, J. Effect of light quality on the accumulation of photosynthetic pigments, proteins and mycosporine-like amino acids in the red alga Porphyra leucosticta (Bangiales, Rhodophyta). *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 2005. 80(2), 71-78.

- 8 Choi, J. S. *et.al*. Capture and culturing of single microalgae cells, and retrieval of colonies using a perforated hemispherical microwell structure. *RSC*. *Advances*, 2014. 4(106), 61298-61304
- 9 Yang, Y., Poleunis, C., Románszki, L., Telegdi, J., & Dupont-Gillain, C. C. Adsorption of a PEO–PPO–PEO triblock copolymer on metal oxide surfaces with a view to reducing protein adsorption and further biofouling. *Biofouling*, 2013. 29(9), 1123-1137.
- 10 Cheng, Q., Li, S., & Komvopoulos, K. Plasma-assisted surface chemical patterning for single-cell culture. *Biomaterials*, 2009. 30(25), 4203-4210.
- 11 Corbin, E. A., Dorvel, B. R., Millet, L. J., King, W. P., & Bashir, R. Micro-patterning of mammalian cells on suspended MEMS resonant sensors for long-term growth measurements. *Lab on a chip*, 2014.14(8), 1401-1404.
- 12 Gu, H., Chen, A., Song, X., Brasch, M. E., Henderson, J. H., & Ren, D. How Escherichia coli lands and forms cell clusters on a surface: a new role of surface topography. *Scientific Reports*, 2016. 6.
- 13 Gerbersdorf, S. U., Westrich, B., & Paterson, D. M. Microbial extracellular polymeric substances (EPS) in fresh water sediments. *Microbial ecology*, 2009. 58(2), 334-349.
- 14 Carvalho, A. P., Silva, S. O., Baptista, J. M., & Malcata, F. X. Light requirements in microalgal photobioreactors: an overview of biophotonic aspects. *Applied microbiology and biotechnology*, 2011. 89(5), 1275-1288.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX I Protocol for TAP medium preparation

From Gorman, D.S., and R.P. Levine (1965) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 54, 1665-1669.

Make the following stock solutions:

#1 TAP Salts

NH4Cl	15.0 g
MgSO4 . 7H2O	4.0 g
CaCl2 . 2H2O	2.0 g
water to 1 liter	

#2 phosphate solution

K2HPO4	28.8 g
KH2PO4	14.4 g
water to 100 ml	

#3 Hutner's trace elements (see next page)

To make the final medium, mix the following:

2.42 g Tris

25 ml solution #1 (salts)

0.375 ml solution #2 (phosphate)

1.0 ml solution #3 (trace elements)

1.0 ml glacial acetic acid water to 1 liter

For solid medium, add 15 g agar per liter Autoclave.

For 'Tris-minimal' medium: omit acetic acid, titrate final solution to pH 7.0 with HCl.

#3 Hutner's trace elements

Hutner et al. (1950) Proc. Am. Philos. Soc. 94, 152-170

For 1 liter final mix, dissolve each compound in the volume of water indicated.

The EDTA should be dissolved in boiling water, and the FeSO4 should be

prepared last to avoid oxidation.

compound	amount	water
EDTA disodium salt	50 g	250 ml
ZnSO4 .7H2O	22 g	100 ml
H3BO3	11.4 g	200 ml
MnCl2 . 4 H2O	5.06 g	50 ml
CoCl2. 6 H2O	1.61 g	50 ml
CuSO4 . 5 H2O	1.57 g	50 ml
(NH4)6M07O24. 4 H2O	1.10 g	50 ml
FeSO4. 7 H2O	4.99 g	50 ml

Mix all solutions except EDTA. Bring to boil, then add EDTA solution. The mixture should turn green. When everything is dissolved, cool to 70 degrees C. Keeping temperature at 70, add 85 ml hot 20% KOH solution (20 grams / 100 ml final volume). Do NOT use NaOH to adjust the pH.

Bring the final solution to 1 liter total volume. It should be clear green initially. Stopper the flask with a cotton plug and let it stand for 1-2 weeks, shaking it once a day. The solution should eventually turn purp and leave a rust-brown precipitate, which can be removed by filtering through two layers of Whatman#1 filter paper, repeating the filtration if necessary until the solution is clear. Store refrigerated or frozen convenient aliquots. Some people shorten the time for formation of the precipiate by bubbling the solutio with filtered air. If no precipitate forms, the solution is still usable. However, you might want to check the pH in this case and adjust it to around 7.0 using either KOH or HCl as needed. To prepare sulfur-free trace elements for hydrogen generation, the sulfate salts can be replaced with equimolar chloride salts (ZnCl₂ 10.0 g; CuCl₂ . 2 H₂O 1.00 g; FeCl₂ . 4 H₂O, 3.60 g).

APPENDIX II Protocol for preparation of plasmonic film filters

Gold Nanorod synthesis

Initial solutions

- 5 mL of 0.5 mM HAuCl4
- 5 ml of 1mM HAucl4
- 5 ml of 1mM HAucl4
- 5 mL of 0.20 M CTAB
- 10 mM NaBH4 solution
- 4 mM AgNO3 solution
- 0.0788 M ascorbic acid

Seed solution preparation

- Mix 5 ml of 0.5 mM HAuCl4 with 5 ml CTAB (0.2 M)
- Add 0.6 ml of cold ice NaBH4 to the stirred mixture (this will lead to brownish sol)
- Stir vigorously for 2 minutes
- After that keep the solution at 25°C.

Nanorods growth

- Add 5 ml of 0.2M CTAB to 0.06 ml of 0.004 M AgNo3 at 25°C
- Then, add 5 mL of 1 mM HAucl4 and mix gently
- After that add 70 µL of 0.0788 M of Ascorbic acid
- Add $12 \,\mu\text{L}$ of seed solution at 30°C .
- Finally, allow 30 minutes for the gradual growth of the nanorods by incubating the medium at 30°C.

Synthesis of silver nanospheres

- Prepare a 30 ml solution of 2 mM sodium borohydride (NaBH₄) in water.
- Prepare a 10 ml solution of 1 mM silver nitrate (AgNO₃) in water.
- Put the sodium borohydride in an ice bath until it reaches 4°C.
- Then gradually add (1 drop/second) the silver nitrate solution to the sodium borohydride solution under constant mixing.
- Stop the mixing immediately after the addition of the silver nitrate.

To prepare the plasmonic film, add a 5% weight of polyvinyl alcohol (PVA) powder to the silver nanoparticles suspension and/or centrifuge the gold nanorods suspension and redisolve the gold nanorods ink in a 5% weight PVA in water solution. Finally, pour the mixture into petridish to be dried in darkness (1-2 days).

APPENDIX III Rheological characterization of microalga C. reinhardtii suspensions

Abstract

The rheological characterization of microalgal broths can serve to several purposes related to microalgal biomass production and microalgal biomass biorefining. For instance, the periodical motion of microalgal cells from well illuminated to poorly illuminated sections of a photobioreactor is a good way to optimize light absorption by the microalgal cells that first requires a deep understanding of the hydrodynamic properties of typical microalgal culture. In addition, an understanding of the rheological properties of microalgal broths can help optimizing mixing, oxygen removal, mass transfer and nutrient delivery and can also help minimizing the energy requirement for pumping. In this study, we characterized the rheological properties of suspensions of microalga *Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* and found, among other properties, that such suspensions exhibited Newtonian behavior at low microalgal concentration and non-Newtonian shear thinning behavior at concentrations above 50 g/l. The normal stress difference under steady shear flow experiment was also evaluated and the viscoelastic properties of concentrated microalgal broths were analyzed and discussed based on the data obtained through small amplitude oscillatory shear experiment.

Introduction

The optimization of microalgal biomass production and microalgal biorefining requires a thorough understanding of some inherent parameters and their impacts on the biomass productivity and/or on the energy consumption by such processes. While some of the parameters such as nutrient concentration, salinity, photobioreactor configuration etc. have for long been extensively studied, it is only recently that the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal broths and microalgal slurries have received great consideration as an optimization parameter for enhanced microalgal biomass production¹⁻⁴.

The hydrodynamic characteristics of microalgal broths have direct impacts not only on the microalgal cultivation in typical microalgal photobioreactors but also on the harvesting of the biomass generated. In fact, constant mixing in photobioreactor operations is often deemed necessary to keep the microalgal cells in suspension, to help nutrient distribution, to facilitate gas exchange and mass transfer etc.⁵ On the other hand, excessive mixing can have bad effects on microalgal culture that can even lead to cell damage ⁶. Some experimental studies using hydrodynamic manipulation for proper mixing of microalgal culture have known great success ⁷. Further, the liquid velocity affecting, among others, the residence time and the rate of oxygen removal in most photobioreactors can easily be controlled using the hydrodynamic properties⁸. Adding to these, the harvesting and dewatering of microalgal biomass is known to be an energy intensive process. Some studies have focused on characterizing the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal slurries for an efficient design of harvesting units and for the minimization of the energy requirement ⁹. The need for hydrodynamic optimization in microalgal cultivation systems is becoming more and more crucial as higher biomass concentrations are becoming more and more achievable and practical in the microalgal biorefining industry.

The nature of microalgal slurries makes the study of the hydrodynamic properties of such systems very tedious. Although water is the main constituent, the presence of micronutrients, dissolved salts, polymeric substances and microalgal cells makes microalgal broths complex fluids ¹⁰. The characterization of the hydrodynamic properties of microalgal broths is even more difficult because the metabolism of microalgal cells has real time impacts on the nature of the fluids not only in terms of increased biomass concentrations due to proliferation of microalgal cells but also through motion of the microorganisms and potential bio-secretions in the medium ¹¹. Moreover, the large heterogeneity of microalgal species and strains used in microalgal biomass production and the largely reported morphological and physiological differences make it impractical to define broad hydrodynamic characteristics of microalgal broths. For instance, the work by Zhang *et. al.* reported the influence of different cell properties on the rheological characterization of microalgal suspensions ¹².

In this work, we focus on the characterization of suspensions and culture of microalga *C*. *reinhardtii*. *C. reinhardtii* has been largely investigated for microalgal biomass production, among other reasons, because of its large potential for genetic engineering manipulations¹³. *C. reinhardtii* is a unicellular microorganism mainly spherical with diameter around ten micrometers. As microswimmers, they are classified among the pullers. As opposed to the micropushers such as *E. coli* that use a rotating flagellar bundle to push the fluid behind them, micropullers propel themselves through breaststroke-like motion with a pair of flagella attached at the front of their body. While it has been very challenging to characterize the macroscopic behaviors of micropushers, a few rheological studies on the collective properties of micropullers have been very promising ¹⁴. Some of these studies have reported certain similarities between the behavior of micropullers in water to that of passive suspensions comprising of rigid spheres at

low concentration while others have reported shear thinning behavior over larger concentrations

We aimed at studying the collective rheological behavior of broths and slurries of the microalga *C. reinhardtii*. A clear understanding of such behavior may serve to different applications including effective mass transfer and optimal mixing and light/darkness cycle. Herein, a summary of the major findings on the rheological behavior of microalga *C. reinhardtii* suspensions under steady shear flow are characterized along with the viscoelastic properties under small amplitude oscillatory shear experiments is presented.

Materials and methods

Microalgal culture and sample preparation

The wild type microalga *C. reinhardtii* CC-124, the motility impaired mutant CC-1036 and the cell wall deficient mutant CC-503 obtained from the Chlamydomonas Resource Center (University of Minnesota, St. Paul, Minnesota) were used in this study. Prior to the rheological characterization experiments, these strains were inoculated with a Tris-Acetate-Phosphate (TAP) medium in conical flasks placed on a rotary shaker (150 rpm). The microalgal culture duration was varied between 7 to 22 days in order to monitor any influence of culture time on the rheological properties. The culture room was continuously illuminated by full spectrum compact fluorescent lamps (CFL 60W, Fancierstudio, San Francisco, California) with the photosynthetic active radiation at the top surface of the culture at $75 \pm 5 \ \mu E \ m^2 s^{-1}$ and the temperature at $22 \pm 1^{\circ}C$. The growth of microalgae was monitored through optical density (OD₆₇₅) measurements. Calibration curves were built to correlate the optical density (OD₆₇₅) measurements with dry biomass concentration in unit of gram per liter.

After the cultivation period, the microalgal biomass concentration was assessed through optical density measurements. Following this, the microalgal broth was split between several conical flasks and was either diluted with water or centrifuged (4,800g, 5 min, 20°C) to remove excess water in order to obtain 2 milliliter microalgal suspension samples of 10 g/l, 20 g/l, 30 g/l, 40 g/l, 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l. Final optical density measurements were then taken on each of these samples in order to ensure the accuracy of the concentrations of the sample. The volume fraction of microalgal biomass in the medium (φ) was determined from the dry biomass concentration using the formulae ¹⁰:
$$\varphi = \frac{C}{\rho_w w_D}$$
$$\rho_w = x_w \rho_0 + (1 - x_w) \rho_D$$

Where ρ_w and ρ_D represent respectively the wet and dry density of microalgae expressed in unit of mass per volume and x_w represents the volumetric water content per unit volume of microalgal biomass. w_D representing the mass of dry solid per unit mass of dry microalgae is computed as follows:

$$w_D = \frac{(1-x_w)\rho_D}{\rho_w}$$

5.5.1. Rheometry and data analysis

The rheological characterization experiments were performed using a Combined Motor and Transducer (CMT) AR-G2 rheometer from TA instruments (New Castle, Delaware). The cone-and-plate geometry with a diameter of 40 mm and cone angle 0° 59' 49" was used for all the measurements. The temperature control was achieved by a Peltier plate using thermoelectric effects that can accurately control the temperature and water circulation for rapid heating and cooling over a temperature range of 0 to 100°C. For these experiments, the temperature was controlled at 20°C. After each run, the Peltier plate was flushed with water to remove the sample and then dried and cleaned using acetone before loading a new sample. Steady shear flow experiments were performed by varying the shear rate from 10 to 800 s⁻¹ using logarithmic ramping with 10 intervals per decade of the shear rate. Peak hold experiments were performed by maintaining the shear rate constant at the desired value and the rheological data were collected over a time interval of 1500 seconds. The viscoelastic properties were assessed under small amplitude oscillatory shear experiments.

Results and discussion

Rheological characterization of microalgal slurries under steady shear flow experiments

The effective viscosity values of microalgal suspensions of 10 g/l, 20 g/l, 30 g/l, 40 g/l, 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l dry biomass concentrations were plotted against shear rates ranging from 10 to 800 s⁻¹ in figure I and were compared to a TAP buffer sample with no microalgal cells used as control. Lower shear rates could not be tested because of inaccuracy in the measurements that are most likely the results of surface tension and/or inertia effects. At microalgal concentrations below or equal to 40 g/l, the viscosity did not exhibit any dependence on shear rate which is a strong characteristic of Newtonian fluid. Over this range of concentrations, the viscosity was observed as increasing with increasing microalgal concentrations. It is well documented in literature that the viscosity of most suspensions increases with increasing solute concentrations. Let μ_s be the solvent viscosity and φ the volume fraction of solute, the viscosity of most suspensions can often be modeled as:

$\mu = \mu_s(1 + \alpha \varphi)$

While for passive suspensions of rigid spherical particles α is usually reported as being equal to 2.5, for suspensions of active particles α is often reported with higher values potentially due to the effects of swimming.^{18,19} After correlating the biomass concentrations from 0 to 40 g/l to match the volume fractions as described previously, linear regression analyses performed with the viscosity results obtained, led to an α value of 6.4 with R²=0.99 for these *C. reinhardtii* suspensions.



Figure I: Rheological characterization of microalgal broths. Viscosity profiles of microalgal suspensions as a function of shear rate at low biomass concentrations (A) and at high biomass concentrations (B).

Three higher microalgal biomass concentrations, namely, 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l were also analyzed. For these three concentrations, the effective viscosity exhibited strong dependence on the shear rate value with a shear thinning behavior.

The power law model is among many models used to characterize the shear rate dependence of the effective viscosity. With this model, for a given shear rate $\dot{\gamma}$, the effective viscosity is obtained by ¹⁷:

$$\mu_{eff} = K(\dot{\gamma})^{n-1}$$

Where, K is the consistency index and n is the power law index. For shear thinning non-Newtonian fluids, the power law index is less than one and the viscosity decreases with increasing shear rate and for shear thickening non-Newtonian fluids the power law index is greater than one and the viscosity increases with increasing shear rate.

Table I summarizes the results obtained by fitting the effective viscosity results with the power law fluid model. The consistency index K, the power law index n along with R^2 values are reported for all the microalgal concentrations considered. For the samples with concentrations equal or less than 40 g/l, the power law index was very close to 1, which corroborates their Newtonian behavior. For the samples with higher concentrations, the power law indices were significantly smaller with values of 0.96, 0.81 and 0.73 respectively for the 50 g/l, 100 g/l and 150 g/l. This shear thinning behavior exhibited by the wild type microalga *C. reinhardtii* at high concentrations has also been reported for other microalgal species although with considerable differences in the values probably due to the large variation in the intrinsic characteristic of the microalgal species ²⁰.

 Table I. Rheological characterization of microalgal broths.
 Power law fitting parameters for

 microalgal broths at different biomass concentrations.

	Consistency	Behavior	
Concentration g/l	index K	index n	R ²
10	0.001211	1	0.999
20	0.001474	1	0.999
30	0.001803	1	0.998
40	0.002121	1	0.999
50	0.002847	0.96	0.997
100	0.010832	0.81	0.998
150	0.026056	0.73	0.993

To characterize the response of a fluid to steady shear flow, the viscosity, the first normal stress coefficient and the second normal stress coefficient are the material functions often evaluated. While the viscosity characterizes the resistance to shear and the tangential friction component of the stress tensor, the normal stress differences, arising mainly from particle interactions in most suspensions, characterize the non-isotropic nature of the diagonal elements of the stress tensor ²¹. In the previous section, we characterized the viscosity profile of the microalga C. reinhardtii suspensions subjected to steady shear flow experiments. While it was not possible to evaluate the second normal stress difference with the cone and plane geometry on the AR-G2 rheometer, the first normal stress differences were measured at the different steady shear rates. In figure IIA, the first normal stress difference (N1) data are plotted for different steady shear rates and the first normal stress coefficient data are plotted in figure IIB for the 100 g/l and the 150 g/l microalgal suspensions. The suspensions at lower concentrations led to either zero or low and unrepetitive normal stress responses most likely due to the quasi-Newtonian behavior and/or the very low and random interactions between the microalgal cells. The first normal stress values were positive and decreased slightly with increasing shear rates whereas the first normal stress coefficient decreased almost proportionally to the square of the steady shear rate.



Figure II: Normal stress and normal stress coefficient profiles under steady shear flow experiments. (A) Normal stress as a function of shear rate and (B) Normal stress coefficient as a function of the shear rate.

Rheological characterization of microalgal slurries under small amplitude oscillatory shear experiments.

Following the steady shear flow analyses, the viscoelastic properties of microalga C. reinhardtii suspensions were assessed using the same stress-controlled AR-G2 rheometer. Suspensions with microalgal concentrations of 100 g/l and 150 g/l were prepared for such experiment. The few measurements from lower concentrations of microalgal suspensions resulted in weak viscoelastic responses and easily led to inaccurate results. First, dynamic strain sweep measurements were performed at a constant frequency of 1Hertz to determine the linear viscoelastic region (LVR) in which the loss modulus and the storage modulus are independent of the shear strain to which they are subjected. The storage modulus (G') and the loss modulus (G") are material functions characterizing the response from a small amplitude oscillatory shear flow. The storage modulus relating the elastic property of the material represents the portion of the stress wave that is in phase with the strain wave whereas the loss modulus relating the viscous property of the material represents the portion of the stress wave that is out of phase with the strain wave. The dynamic strain sweep results for the microalgal concentrations considered are presented in figure II. The loss modulus and storage modulus were found to be constant for shear strain of up to 10% irrespective of the concentration of the microalgal suspension. Above the 10% strain, the moduli were observed as decreasing with increasing strain with a steeper slope for the storage modulus as compared to the loss modulus.



Figure III: Dynamic strain sweep measurements of microalgal broths of *C. reinhardtii* at 100 g/l and 150 g/l microalgal concentrations. Loss modulus and storage modulus as a function of % strain at a constant frequency of 1Hz.

To further characterize the rheological behavior of the microalgal broths, the 100 g/l and 150 g/l microalgal suspension samples were subjected to oscillatory frequency sweep analyses in the linear viscoelastic region. Frequency sweep measurement has been an effective strategy to assess materials performance that is also often used to identify the structuring mechanisms within a suspension or a polymer dispersion. Usually, small amplitude oscillatory shear deformations are applied at a constant % strain and over a range of frequencies and the structural responses are evaluated using the material functions such as the loss modulus, the storage modulus and the complex viscosity. The suspensions of microalga C. reinhardtii were evaluated over frequencies ranging from 1Hz to 100 Hz and the resulting storage and loss moduli are presented in figure III. Both the loss modulus and the storage modulus were found to increase with increasing frequencies. For the 150 g/l and the 100 g/l microalgal suspensions considered, the loss modulus values were always higher than the corresponding storage modulus over the range of frequencies considered which means that the viscous fluid effect was dominant in the mild viscoelastic behavior of the microalgal suspensions. The frequency sweep results also deviated from the common Maxwellian behavior of fluids where the slope of the loss and the storage moduli over the frequency axis have values of 1 and 2 respectively ²². This deviation from the Maxwellian response has also been reported for other similar active suspensions ²⁰. The complex viscosity was also measured as a function of frequency through the frequency sweep experiments and the data are plotted in figure IV. The viscosity profile exhibited a trend of decreasing viscosities for increasing frequencies. On another note, at very high concentration of microalgal biomass (350 g/l), the storage modulus was observed to be higher than the loss modulus and crossover was observed under frequency sweep experiments. However, such high

microalgal concentrations are not realistic for microalgal cultivation although they may be reachable during certain downstream biomass processing.



Figure IV: Frequency sweep measurements of microalgal broths of *C. reinhardtii* **at 100 g/l and 150 g/l microalgal concentrations.** Loss modulus and storage modulus as a function of the frequency.



Figure V: Complex viscosity profile of microalgal broths of *C. reinhardtii* **at 100 g/l and 150 g/l microalgal concentrations under frequency sweep experiment.** Complex viscosity at different frequency values.

Conclusions

In summary, the rheological properties of microalgal suspensions were studied using the wild type microalga C. reinhardtii. At biomass concentrations below 50 g/l, the microalgal suspensions exhibited Newtonian behavior and the relative viscosity increased with increasing biomass concentration. The relative viscosity could be related to the volume fraction of spherical microalgal cells using Einstein's equation with α =6.4. At biomass concentrations above 50 g/l, the microalgal suspensions exhibited shear thinning behavior and was modeled as power law fluids. The first normal stress difference and the first normal stress coefficient was also evaluated at different steady shear rates. Further, the viscoelastic properties of the microalgal suspensions were characterized through small amplitude oscillatory shear experiment. These rheological findings are important and can serve to several purposes related to microalgal biomass production and biorefining. The hydrodynamic parameters can be used to estimate the time an average microalgal cell would travel from the dark region to a high illumination region of a photobioreactor, often referred to as the light/darkness cycle. They can also be used for individual particle tracking using mathematical modeling and computer simulations²³. Further studies can also be performed using the rheological properties of microalgal slurries to optimize pumping and dewatering of microalgal biomass and to assess mass transfer and nutrients distribution in microalgal culture.

178

References

- Brown, M. R., Jeffrey, S. W., Volkman, J. K., & Dunstan, G. A. Nutritional properties of microalgae for mariculture. *Aquaculture*, 1997.151(1-4), 315-331.
- Volkman, J. K., Barrett, S. M., Blackburn, S. I., Mansour, M. P., Sikes, E. L., & Gelin, F. Microalgal biomarkers: a review of recent research developments. *Organic Geochemistry*, 1998. 29(5), 1163-1179.
- Olivieri, G., Salatino, P., & Marzocchella, A. Advances in photobioreactors for intensive microalgal production: configurations, operating strategies and applications. *Journal of Chemical Technology and Biotechnology*, 2014. 89(2), 178-195.
- Bitog, J. P., *et. al.* Application of computational fluid dynamics for modeling and designing photobioreactors for microalgae production: a review. *Computers and Electronics in Agriculture*, 2011.76(2), 131-147.
- Javanmardian, M., & Palsson, B. O. High-density photoautotrophic algal cultures: Design, construction, and operation of a novel photobioreactor system. *Biotechnology* and bioengineering, 1991. 38(10), 1182-1189.
- Barbosa, M. J., Janssen, M., Ham, N., Tramper, J., & Wijffels, R. H. Microalgae cultivation in air-lift reactors: modeling biomass yield and growth rate as a function of mixing frequency. *Biotechnology and bioengineering*, 2003. 82(2), 170-179.
- Gupta, P. L., Lee, S. M., & Choi, H. J. A mini review: photobioreactors for large scale algal cultivation. World Journal of Microbiology and Biotechnology, 2015. 31(9), 1409-1417.
- Ugwu, C. U., Aoyagi, H., & Uchiyama, H. Photobioreactors for mass cultivation of algae. *Bioresource technology*, 2008. 99(10), 4021-4028.

- Wileman, A., Ozkan, A., & Berberoglu, H. Rheological properties of algae slurries for minimizing harvesting energy requirements in biofuel production. *Bioresource technology*, 2012. 104, 432-439.
- Soulies, A., Pruvost, J., Legrand, J., Castelain, C., & Burghelea, T. I. Rheological properties of suspensions of the green microalga Chlorella vulgaris at various volume fractions. *Rheologica Acta*, 2013. 52(6), 589-605.
- Fernandes, H. L., Lupi, F., Tomé, M. M., Sá-Correia, I., & Novais, J. M. Rheological behaviour of the culture medium during growth of the microalga Botryococcus braunii. *Bioresource technology*, 1991. 38(2-3), 133-136.
- Zhang, X., *et. al.* Influence of cell properties on rheological characterization of microalgae suspensions. *Bioresource technology*, 2013. 139, 209-213.
- 13. Siaut, M., *et. al.* Oil accumulation in the model green alga Chlamydomonas reinhardtii: characterization, variability between common laboratory strains and relationship with starch reserves. *BMC biotechnology*, 2011. 11(1), 7.
- Gluzman, S., Karpeev, D. A., & Berlyand, L. V. Effective viscosity of puller-like microswimmers: a renormalization approach. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2013. 10(89), 20130720.
- 15. Xu, L., Weathers, P. J., Xiong, X. R., & Liu, C. Z. Microalgal bioreactors: challenges and opportunities. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, 2009. 9(3), 178-189.
- 16. Grobbelaar, J. U. Turbulence in mass algal cultures and the role of light/dark fluctuations. *Journal of Applied Phycology*, (1994). 6(3), 331-335.
- 17. Lyklema, J. Fundamentals of Interface and Colloid Science. Vol. IV: Particulate Colloids. 2005.

- Roscoe, R. The viscosity of suspensions of rigid spheres. British Journal of Applied Physics, 1952. 3(8), 267.
- Gluzman, S., Karpeev, D. A., & Berlyand, L. V. Effective viscosity of puller-like microswimmers: a renormalization approach. *Journal of The Royal Society Interface*, 2013. 10(89), 20130720.
- Adesanya, V. O., Vadillo, D. C., & Mackley, M. R. The rheological characterization of algae suspensions for the production of biofuels. *Journal of Rheology*, 2012. 56(4), 925-939.
- 21. Hinch, E. J. The measurement of suspension rheology. *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, 2011. 686, 1-4.
- 22. Han, Chang Dae. Rheology in polymer processing. Academic Press, 1976.
- 23. Li, M., Hu, D., & Liu, H. Photobioreactor with ideal light–dark cycle designed and built from mathematical modeling and CFD simulation. *Ecological Engineering*, 2014. 73, 162-167.

CURRICULUM VITAE

Bendy Estime

EDUCATION

PhD, Chemical Engineering (Anticipated MAY 2017)

Syracuse University, College of Engineering and Computer Science, Syracuse, NY

Thesis title: Improving distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors through plasmon enhancement, entrapped cultivation and controlled motion.

Master of Science, Chemical Engineering (May 2013)

Syracuse University, L.C. Smith College of Engineering and Computer Science, Syracuse, NY

Certificate of Advanced Study, Sustainable Enterprise (May 2013)

Syracuse University, Whitman J. Martin School of Management, Syracuse, NY

Bachelor of Science, Chemistry (December 2010)

State University of Haiti, School of Sciences, Port-au-Prince, Haiti

PATENT, PEER-REVIEWED PUBLICATIONS AND CONFERENCE PROCEEDINGS

- U.S. Patent No. 62/347,282: Cultivation and energy efficient harvesting of microalgae using thermoreversible sol-gel transition. By Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar (Provisional patent)
- Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Cultivation and energy efficient harvesting of microalgae using thermoreversible sol-gel transition." Sci. Rep. 7, 40725; doi: 10.1038/srep40725 (2017). <u>http://rdcu.be/oEw9</u>
- Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Effects of plasmonic film filters on microalgal growth and biomass composition." *Algal Research* 11 (2015): 85-89.

- Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Development of plasmonics-based technology for microalgal biorefinery." *Sustainable Engineering Forum AICHE 2015*.
- Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Rheological characterization of a novel thermoreversible microalgal cultivation system." *Institute of Biological Engineering 2016*.
- Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Novel approaches to improve distribution and absorption of light in microalgal photobioreactors" BMCE seminar series, Syracuse University, Fall 2016.
- Estime, Bendy, Dacheng Ren, and Radhakrishna Sureshkumar. "Development of a Thermoreversible Medium to Culture and Efficiently Harvest Microalgae." *Sustainable Engineering Forum AICHE 2016*.

AWARDS AND RECOGNITIONS

- Ronald E. McNair Graduate Fellowship (2016);
- Nunan Travel Grant (2015 & 2016);
- Algae Biomass Summit Young Researcher Poster Competition "Finalist" (2015);
- Certificate in University Teaching Syracuse University Graduate School (April 2015);
- Graduate Student Fellowship Syracuse University (2011-2013);

ACTIVITIES AND INTERESTS

- Member of the Algal Biomass Organization (ABO);
- Member of the American Institute of Chemical Engineers (AICHE);
- Member of the Institute of Biological Engineering (IBE);
- Cofounder of the Group for Research and Development of Chemistry in Haiti (GRDCH);
- 2011 International Year of Chemistry (IYC), Member of the Haitian celebration committee;